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THE FINAL REPORT OF THE PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL
MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE U.S. AIR FORCE
ACADEMY
House of Representatives,
Committee on Armed Services,
Total Force Subcommittee,
Washington, DC, Wednesday, September 24, 2003.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 2:10 p.m., in Room
2118, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John M. McHugh
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN M. MCHUGH, A REPRESENTATIVE FROM NEW YORK, CHAIRMAN, TOTAL FORCE
SUBCOMMITTEE
Mr. McHuGH. We will call the subcommittee hearing to order. As

—

a point of information, we expect votes to be called two votes here,
very shortly. But we thought because of the rather long day that
our distinguished panel has already spent, we should at least try
to get some of the formalities out of the way.
So let us begin with some opening statements. And hopefully, we
can facilitate to the substance of today's hearing. And I certainly
want to welcome everyone here today, particularly our distinguished panelists.
And we deeply, deeply appreciate their being here. As I mentioned, they had a rather long session with our good colleagues in,
as we say, the other body this morning. And to do two at once truly
is above and beyond the call of duty.
So if there was a medal we could give you, we would. But in lieu
of that, we just deeply appreciate your presence here today.
Today's hearing is an opportunity to review and assess the final
report that is issued by today's panel, the Panel to Review Sexual
Misconduct Allegations at the United States Air Force Academy.
This congressionally-chartered panel, chaired by the distinguished
former representative from Florida, the Honorable Tillie Fowler, is
here today to help the subcommittee better understand their findings related to issues of sexual misconduct, particularly as they relate to the recent events at the Air Force Academy. And we are especially concerned about the panel's recommendations and suggested strategies for prevention and intervention with respect to future abuses.
Let me state that it is obviously a grave tragedy when any
human being is subjected and becomes a victim to acts of sexual
harassment, sexual assault or rape. It becomes even more disturbing when female cadets at an institution like the Air Force Academy, an institution considered a center of excellence with stand(1)

—

—

ards of performance exceeding we hope other American institutions of higher education and a model for developing leaders for our
Nation and individuals of outstanding character, failed to provide
a safe and healthy environment for our young people.
have learned this year from Air Force testimony and reports
that there were countless failures at the academy that promoted an
atmosphere of mistrust of the academy leadership by many female
cadets. Many times, this mistrust left abuses unreported by female
cadets for fear of inaction or even worse reprisal from the academy leadership.
also learned there were a number of red flags raised regarding abuses that went unnoticed or ignored by academy officials
over a ten-year period. In March these findings, along with numerous others, prompted the Air Force to issue its Agenda for Change,
a series of preliminary efforts to improve the safety and security
of every cadet and regain the trust and confidence of the American
people in the academy itself.
In addition to the review of sexual misconduct and the polices
that affect it and those issues I have mentioned, the Air Force Inspector General (IG) and the Inspector General for the Department
of Defense (DOD) are conducting their own investigations of individual allegations of sexual crimes at the academy. The IG for the
Department of Defense is also investigating allegations that female
cadets suffered reprisal for reporting abuses.
To broaden the focus, the
IG is also completing systemic reviews of sexual assault issues at all of the service academies. These
efforts continue to have this subcommittee's attention, our support
and we anticipate receiving their reports later this year. Today, we
will look forward to hearing the panel's findings regarding the adeefforts to review these initiatives,
quacy of the Air Force and
to date.
However, the subcommittee is especially interested in the findings and recommendations that this esteemed group of experts
brings from their review. And I say this in light of the panel's extensive expertise in social science, academics, leadership, substance

We

—

We

DOD

DOD

abuse, victim advocacy and military matters.
More importantly, this subcommittee expects that the leadership
of the Air Force will use the panel's recommendations to develop,
institute and sustain effective solutions for improving the Air Force
Academy environment. The continuing confidence of the American
people that the academy is developing leaders of character de-

mands no less.
And finally, I

earnestly believe that leadership should and must
be held accountable for the failures that occurred at the academy.
The Air Force has taken several actions to do this. But I am particularly interested in hearing from the panel what improvements
are needed to ensure that there is no future lapse in accountability.
And before I turn the microphones over to my colleagues, let me
thank this panel. I have read this report. And I would highly recommend it to anyone who has even a passing interest. And I think
it is a remarkable piece of work, given the very short time and limited resources

And

as

I

you had available

to you.

understand, the pay was not particularly good either.

This is a very, very serious subject. I hope the American people
believe that those of us on this subcommittee and those of us in
this Congress believe it. But if the American public reads this report, they will certainly come to the conclusion that you believe it.

And we deeply appreciate that.
And let me say to my former colleague and my current continuing friend, Tillie Fowler, how happy I am to see her again. Tillie
and I came to this town in the same class. We served on this committee together.
She, as she always did, kept her promise to her constituents, one
I am sure her constituents wished she had never made, about limiting herself. And she kept her word. And she voluntarily left this
Congress.
It was a loss for the American people. It was a loss for the men
and women in uniform. It was a loss to this committee. It was a
personal loss because I do not get to see her as much as I used to.
But it was a real testament to the honor and the credibility of the
gentlelady from Florida.
So Tillie, it is good to see you again. And thank you for your
leadership on this issue.
So before we get to the panel, let me defer and yield to my colleague and leader on this subcommittee, the gentleman from Arkansas, Dr. Snyder.
[The prepared statement of Mr. McHugh can be found in the Appendix on page 55.]

STATEMENT OF HON. VIC SNYDER, A REPRESENTATIVE FROM
ARKANSAS, RANKING MEMBER, TOTAL FORCE SUBCOMMITTEE
Dr. Snyder. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I agree with what
Chairman McHugh has already discussed. I have also read the report. And I think it is obviously a good piece of work and look forward to the discussion.
I also want to thank all of you for being here. It means all of you
had to rush your lunch between the end of the 1:20 Senate hearing
and getting I ran into them in the hallway at Longworth. And it
was like a boot camp thing eat a big lunch and then go do run-

—

—

ning exercises.

But we appreciate

all of you being here and appreciate your comtalk about beginnings and ends. And I think, somewhere in the writings, there is a reference to this report being the
beginning of doing something.
Well, in my view, this is all part of many beginnings and probably many ends. But part of the transition that has gone on for a
lot of years in this country of expanding opportunity for women and
also, the expanding opportunity for our military to use the most

mitment.

We

—

valuable resource we have, which is Americans all Americans, including women.
And I think this report is a good step forward. And I look forward to the discussion.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Snyder can be found in the Appendix on page 60.]
Mr. McHugh. I thank the gentleman. And to repeat, I particularly appreciate his leadership and concern on this issue.

As we can hear, the
enough,

we can

bells are ringing. But we are still young
get there in ten minutes. So maybe I could defer

—

my colleagues and they will tell me the gentleman from Massachusetts, home of the Boston Red Sox, Mr. Meehan.
Mr. Meehan. As Ms. Fowler will attest to, also the home of the
New England Patriots. We have had some good times in Jacksonville together, watching football.
I think the points have been made. I am delighted the panel is
here. Thank you for your work.
I am, like I am sure you are, outraged by much of the contents
included, including the systematic mistreatment of cadet officers. I
am concerned about the culture.
And changing a culture in any institution is really difficult to do.
And I think it is going to be important for members of this committee and the Congress to recognize the fact that you do not change
a culture unless you are very tough and persevere.
Because they can change every rule and regulation they want.
But a culture is a very difficult thing to change.
Also, the report indicates that the Air Force general counsel and
the way they handled their responsibility, I think this is an important area for this subcommittee and for this Congress. And again,
you do not change a culture unless we all decide as members of
this committee and members of the Congress we are going to be
to

—

—

damn sure that we change it.
And I look forward to hearing your testimony.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank the gentleman.
Next member of the subcommittee who was here at the
the gentlelady from California, Ms. Sanchez, who has been a
and very concerned member on this issue.

gavel,

leader

Ms. Sanchez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In the interest of time,
say a couple of brief remarks.
Welcome back to Tillie Fowler, who was a great member of this
committee. And we appreciate the work that you and all of the
panel members did because I believe it is important work. And I
think every member here believes so.
I have been following this, as you know. And I will be very interested in getting firsthand knowledge from you.
I have read the report. And I guess the biggest question I have
in my mind
and since I received this report yesterday and I have
been reading and I have been trying to think about it is this
whole issue of the culture change and how we get to that.
And I guess it is a little bit difficult to fathom when you read
things like these cadets saying things like: "Even with women in
the armed forces, they should not be at the military academies," or
"Women are worthless and should be taken away from this academy."
You know, I wonder how you change the minds of these young
people when you already have 17 percent of them being women.
And yet one in five of the males at these academies are saying, "We
do not even want women here."
So I would be very interested in your insight as you go through
it, really to the whole basic issue of: how do we change this so that
we can make it better? And we can also extend that to, I hope, all
of our military, if that is a necessity.
I

will just

—

—

1

So thank you

for

being here.

I

am

looking forward to your com-

ments.
Mr. McHuGH.

I thank the gentlelady. I do not want to shortchange anyone their opportunity to make an opening statement. I
know Ms. Tauscher, who also has been a great leader on this issue
and deeply concerned, wants to make a statement. If she feels she
can do it comfortably here, then I would be happy to yield to her.
Ms. Tauscher. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want to
commend you on your leadership. It is wonderful to see Tillie
Fowler back.
I want to thank the panel. I just want to pick up on something
that my colleague from California was saying.
You know, I think that we have been, for the last couple of years,
in a world where we understand that, in order to connect the dots,
you need a lot of dots. In this case, it looked like we had a lot of
red flags, but no one was looking at the red flags and really taking
notice of them.
I do find it appalling that surveys from 1998 to 2001 clearly
showed that a disproportional number of the cadets the male ca-

—

—

dets at the Air Force Academy did not want women to be there.
And they were pretty comfortable in saying so to their leadership
and that it did not phase anybody to the point where people understood what a red flag that was and what the unintended consequences of not dealing with that would be.
So I thank you very, very much for your leadership, for all of
your hard work, for your individual work in different ways. And I
look forward to having our conversation and understanding more
what we are going to do together.
I thought the report was very, very compelling. And I thank you

your hard work.
you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. McHUGH. Thank you. I thank the gentlelady.

for

Thank

The same expression, extension of courtesy to the gentlelady, the
delegate from Guam, Ms. Bordallo. If you wish to make the statement now, but we do have to make a vote.
Ms. Bordallo. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. And I appreciate the opportunity to say a few words.
I too am very interested and concerned about this situation. And
I look forward to hearing the testimonies from our panelists.
Thank you.
Mr. McHuGH. Because the other two members and we are very,
very happy they are here, Ms. Davis and also the gentlelady from
the great State of New Mexico, Ms. Wilson, who is a former graduate of the military academy, at the Air Force Academy, who is not
a member of this subcommittee, but has been deeply involved and
deeply concerned have graciously deferred their opportunity to
make a statement, we can come immediately back to the panel and
to Ms. Fowler's opening statement.
So we have two votes, a 15 and a 5. And if we could place the
hearing into recess. I beg your indulgence. And we will be back as
soon as we possibly can.

—

—

[Recess.

Mr.

McHuGH.

Let us reconvene the hearing and thank the panel-

ists for their patience. I

would note, we have been joined by some

new members.
I do not know

if anyone wants to make a statement. And they
are not going to tell me, one way or another. So I am going to assume that they do not.
But we appreciate their presence. We have Mr. Schrock from the
great State of Virginia to my right, who is of course an esteemed
member of the subcommittee.
We also have Mr. Hayes, the great State of North Carolina, Fort
Bragg area, who is also a member of this subcommittee, and Mr.
Hefley, a very senior member of the Armed Services Committee. He
does not serve on this subcommittee, but has had a great interest
in this, not the least of which derives from the fact that he represents the home State of Colorado very, very well.
So we appreciate their being here.
With that, Ms. Fowler. Thank you, Tillie, for being here. And you
know the protocol. I will defer to you if you wish to make any introductions or not. But we look forward to your comments.

STATEMENT OF HON. TILLIE K. FOWLER, CHAIRWOMAN,
PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT
THE U.S. AIR FORCE ACADEMY; MAJOR GENERAL MICHAEL
NARDOTTI, JR. (U.S. ARMY RETIRED) AND MS. ANITA CARPENTER, CEO, INDIANA COALITION AGAINST SEXUAL ASSAULT, INC.
Ms. Fowler. Thank

you, Mr. Chairman. It is really an honor to
time on this side of the table. But I have a lot
of great memories of hearings in this great room and on this great
committee.
And I really appreciate your having this hearing today. I appreciate the interest that all the members have in this very important
topic. And, as I say, it is a great honor to be here.
I would like to start out. I will be the only member of the panel
to give written testimony. And then we will all be available for
questions. So I would like to introduce the panel officially before I

be here today,

start

my

first

statement.

Ms. Fowler. And I will start over to my left: Dr. Laura Miller;
General Josiah Bunting; Ms. Anita Carpenter; General Mike
Nardotti; Colonel John Ripley; and Dr. Sally Satel. They have all
worked very hard, very diligently.
We had a 90-day timeframe that the statute required. And so a
lot of these people have taken leaves of absence from jobs and
spent time on this very important subject.
I would also like to recognize, as a group, our dedicated staff,
who are behind me. If they could just stand and be recognized? The
reason you have this report on time and in such a good manner is
because of their hard work.
They worked day and night, through the hurricane, you name it,
to get this out on time and in the thorough, great manner that it
was done. So again, they took leaves from some other jobs.
And we have a couple of law students even that I need to write
some letters to some law faculties to explain why they have been
absent. But we really appreciate all of their hard work.

I would also like to thank a couple of members of the committee's
press office, Harald Stavenas and Angie Sowa. When we had our
press conference here on Monday, we had it in this room.
And they were invaluable in helping us set that up and making
sure that went off in the right manner. So I appreciate their assistance.
I am always comfortable doing an5^hing in this great room, so
I appreciated their help.
Now I would like to, if I could, present some written remarks and
then go into answering questions. I do want to again thank you for
holding this important hearing and giving us the opportunity to report to you, in person, on the findings of our panel, as required by
section 501 of PubHc Law 108-11.
Mr. Chairman, there was a quote I came upon when I was working on this. And it was from Socrates. And he likened one's reputation to fire when he said, "When once you have kindled it, you may
easily preserve it, but if you once extinguish it, you will find it an
arduous task to rekindle it again."
Since the first cadets arrived at the U.S. Air Force Academy in
1955, the majority of them have lived by the core values of the
United States Air Force: Integrity First; Service Before Self; Excellence in All We Do.
By doing so, they kindled the kind of reputation for the academy
that we would expect of such an institution.
While not extinguishing it, the sexual assault scandal that has
plagued the United States Air Force Academy over the last ten
years has certainly tarnished the reputation of this great institution. And we appear before you today to continue the arduous task
of restoring both confidence in the academy and safety for its ca-

dets.

Mr. Chairman, women have served our Nation admirably in
times of war and in times of peace. They have graduated from the
Air Force Academy since 1980 and served their country with distinction, even paying the ultimate price.
And I would like to call your attention to section 6, row F, number 13. And no, it is not a reference to a particular section of our
panel's report. Nor is it a seat in Falcon Stadium in Colorado
Springs.
Section

6, row F, number 13 is
Academy Cemetery. And it is the

located at the U.S. Air Force
final resting place of

academy

graduate First Lieutenant Laura Piper.
Lieutenant Piper was killed in the line of duty when her
Blackhawk helicopter was shot down over Northern Iraq on April
14, 1994, just 2 years after graduating from the Air Force Academy.
What our panel has learned about the treatment of some women
at the Air Force Academy is an injustice to all who have gone
there women and men. It is not befitting of the sterling reputation kindled for so long by more than 35,000 cadets from 44 classes
who have graduated from this institution.
And, quite frankly Mr. Chairman, it is simply an insult to the
career and the memory of First Lieutenant Laura Piper.
When a new round of sexual assault allegations at the academy
surfaced earlier this year, this committee wisely decided to take a

—

8

new approach

to a problem that has plagued the academy for at
least a decade and quite possibly for as long as women have attended the institution.
You, along with your colleagues in the other body, insisted on the
creation of an independent panel of seven private citizens to, according to the public law, "carry out a study of the policies, management and organizational practices and cultural elements of the
United States Air Force Academy that were conducive to allowing
sexual misconduct, including sexual assaults and rape, at the U.S.

Air Force Academy."
On May 27, 2003, using the criteria established in the law. Secretary Rumsfeld appointed the seven members of our panel. And I
am pleased that they were all able to be with us here today.
And I think it is important for the members of this committee
to know that this is an all-volunteer force here. And they could not
have been more serious, more dedicated and more determined to
solve this problem.
And I think the best way to describe their dedication is to say
that each approached this effort as if it were their own daughter
who were a cadet at the academy today.
As a result, the panel's final report offers substantive and constructive recommendations to rebuild the academy's commitment to
its cadets and to the American people. Our priority was to help ensure a safe and secure learning environment for all the academy's
cadets.

Unfortunately, the environment at the academy has been anything but over the past years. The statistics are appalling.
During the 10-year period from January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2002, there were 142 allegations of sexual assault at the
academy, for an average of more than 14 allegations a year. According to the academy's surveys, this only represents 20 percent
of the actual assaults, with female cadets who were responding
that 80 percent of assaults are going unreported over that 10-year
period.

That

is

unacceptable for an institution training our Nation's fuAnd let me be clear, one incident is unaccept-

ture military leaders.
able.

The roots of this crisis go as deep as the institution's culture. We
found the most striking indicator of the existence of a hostile environment for female cadets in the academy's own survey data, data
that was simply dismissed by leadership because it was "unscientific."

Just last year, more than one-fourth of the responding male cadets stated they did not believe that women belong at the academy.
One cadet fourth-class wrote, "Even with women in the armed
forces, they should not be at the military academies."
And another, "Women are worthless and should be taken away
from the U.S. Air Force Academy."
These comments are even more unsettling when you consider
that women have been at the U.S. Air Force Academy since before
these young men were even born. Representative Heather Wilson,
who is here with us today, had already graduated from the academy and earned a Rhodes Scholarship before they celebrated their
first birthday.

.

Eight years before they would arrive at the academy, graduate
Laura Piper was returning for the last time. These young men
have no memory of an Air Force Academy without women. Yet
somehow, they believe it should be that way.
When such beliefs cannot be attributed to experience, they must
then be attributed to character and values. These are learned traits
and when an institution of higher learning finds warning signs like
these in

its

surveys

—scientific or not—that institution has

lem and an obligation

to correct

a prob-

it.

This report outlines steps the academy must take to strengthen
character development programs.
Panel members experienced the gravity of this crisis first-hand
during our visit to Colorado Springs. We were stunned to hear stories from victims, many still too afraid to go public with their stories and, more disturbing, too afraid to make an official report of
the crime.
They shared with us how their lives have been torn apart by a
violent assault and an aftermath that most of them suffered alone
and in silence because of an atmosphere of fear and retribution by
peers aided by either indifference, incompetence or a combination
of both by an academy leadership that they believe failed them.
Our closed-door experience with these victims is what drives our
concern with the policy that was outlined in the Agenda for Change
that eliminates any form of confidential reporting of sexual assaults. The panel is very concerned that stripping away all confidentiality takes this academy backwards to 1995, when the lack
of confidentiality resulted in underground support groups and unreported crimes.
The panel believes a balance must be maintained between the
support and treatment of victims and the prosecution of assailants.
Confidentiality is the fulcrum on which that balance can exist. And
it must remain an option for all victims of sexual assault at the
its

academy.

The Agenda for Change overlooks an established form of privileged communication that is currently available throughout the
armed forces and could benefit cadet victims. And that is the
psychotherapist-patient privilege
This method of confidentiality has been available to the academy
since the psychotherapist-patient relationship was recognized in
1999 by Presidential Executive Order and implemented in Military
Rule of Evidence 513. It is in use by both West Point and Annapolis.

Accordingly, we
bines the existing

recommend the

CASIE program

creation of a program that com-

— and

CASIE stands for Cadets
Advocating Sexual Integrity and Education with a trained victim
advocate psychotherapist managing the program. This would ensure the academy has available to all sexual assault victims an established form of privileged communication within which to report

—

their assault.

Giving victims choices helps them regain a sense of control over
and promotes the healing process. Having a trained
psychotherapist explain the consequences of their choices also increases the opportunities for making the right choices, thereby further helping to encourage the official reporting of these crimes. The
their lives

10

academy should not be the only service academy not to offer this
form of confidential reporting.
The sexual assault problems at the academy are real and continue to this day. But the panel is encouraged by a renewed emphasis in Washington to immediately address and solve this problem.

We are impressed with the leadership of Secretary Roche and
General Jumper after a decade of inaction and failures.
Secretary Roche made a step towards serious reform this year by
rolling out his Agenda for Change and replacing the academy's
leadership team with one that has been quick to take action. However, the members of this panel want to be clear. The Agenda for
Change should be seen as a blueprint, an initial step in reversing
years of institutional ineffectiveness.
Each of panel members agrees that change will not happen overnight, nor will it be truly effective without a sustained, dedicated
focus by academy officials and Air Force leadership. The very culture of the academy must be altered before real change can be
maintained for future generations.
We found that a consistent flaw in previous attempts to address
and a flaw that allowed it to happen in the first
this problem
place was the lack of external oversight.
The panel recommends the Board of Visitors operate more like
a corporate board of directors. We recommend the formation of
committees with specific oversight responsibilities, such as academic affairs, student life and athletics.
We recommend a minimum of four meetings a year, two of those
to occur at the academy. And we recommend that all board members have unfettered access to the academy grounds and to the ca-

—

dets.

—

—

—

This committee the Armed Services Committee should also
more aggressively exercise its oversight authority by reviewing reports on the academy called for in our recommendations and the
reports that you are calling for in your 2004 Defense Authorization
bill.
I would like to draw the committee's attention to Panel Recommendation #4, in which we recommend revising the law to expand the available pool of potential candidates for the position of
dean of faculty beyond the academy's 21 permanent professors.

There

is a time sensitivity issue here.
In order to benefit from this reform in the selection of the next
dean of faculty, which will occur as early as next spring, we would
urge the committee, should you concur with our recommendation,
to revise this law using the 2004 Authorization bill that is presently in conference.
Otherwise, under normal rotation schedules, this reform could
not be effective until sometime around 2007.
This panel has chronicled this crisis. And I believe there is a
board up over here. But since you probably cannot read that from
where you are sitting, the very last appendix in your book is a foldout of that timeline.
And it took a long time for some of our staff to develop that because our questions were: who knew what and when? And what did
they try to do?
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And
crisis

that timeline does address that. So we have chronicled the
failures of leaders to effectively and aggressively re-

and the

spond.

The warning signs were there. But they went unnoticed or they
were ignored.
We are here to report that this panel found a deep chasm in
leadership during the most critical time in the academy's history,
a chasm that extended far beyond its campus in Colorado Springs.
And sadly, we believe this helped create an environment in which
sexual assault became a part of life.
Any credible assessment of sexual misconduct problems over the
last ten years must include an examination of the responsibility of
both academy and Air Force headquarters leadership. Unfortunately, the Air Force general counsel's Working Group Report
failed to do that.
That is why this panel recommends that the Inspector General
of the Department of Defense conduct a thorough review of the accountability of the previous leaders at the academy and Air Force
headquarters. This should include an assessment of General Gilbert, General Wagie and Colonel Slavec, as well as former leaders
of the Air Force itself.
recommend that the results of this review should be provided
in a timely manner to both the members of the House and Senate
Armed Services Committees and to the Secretary of Defense.
And we want to point out that the panel is recommending that

We

the Inspector General investigate the previous leadership. While
we offer what we believe is some constructive criticism of the
changes instituted by the present academy and Air Force leadership, we have found neither team lacking in their understanding
of the seriousness of the crisis or in their commitment to finding
a lasting solution.
It would not serve the interests of the academy or its cadets to
distract the present leadership with a backward-looking investigation. They need to be focused on the future of this great institution.
We recognize the difficulty in holding accountable those who
have left their positions of leadership and particularly those who
have left military service altogether. However, given the magnitude
of this situation and to set a clear example of the level of performance expected of future leaders, this panel has concluded that every
effort should be made to formally document the failures of former
leaders and to ensure this documentation becomes a part of their
official military record.
In total, this report contains 21 specific recommendations that
this panel believes can put the academy back on track and allow
it to live up to its potential as a unique institution of higher education that also trains future leaders of our Air Force. Some are already in various stages of implementation. Others can be implemented administratively at the academy or at Air Force headquarters, while some will require legislative action.
While Congress will not necessarily have an implementation role
in all 21, we would urge you to take an oversight and evaluation
role in our recommendations, as well as those found in the Agenda
for Change and the Working Group Report.
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As this panel concludes its work, it is our sincere hope that while
our leaders make every effort to solve this difficult problem, the
vast majority of cadets will continue to strive to live by the core
values of integrity, service and excellence.
It is and should always be an honor to call oneself a cadet at the
United States Air Force Academy.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Fowler can be found in the Appendix on page 64.1
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank you, Madam Chair.
And again, let me reiterate the appreciation that we all possess,
with respect to the panel's fine work, and also to state I was not
aware your staff was with you. Had I known at the time, I certainly would have acknowledged their presence as well.
All of us have staffs. Some of us have been staff. And we understand the importance of their devotion, dedication and expertise.
And appreciate their sacrifice and contribution to this work.
Thank you all very much.
Obviously, we are here today to try to best understand, as we
can, the direction of your findings and where we need to go next.
I think an important part of that is to understand clearly what you
did not find or what you have not focused upon.
Some of us have received phone calls from interested parties
from various media and others who are finding words in this report
that I cannot find and are questioning the involvement, the participation, the alleged shortcomings of individuals that I do not see in

—

this report.

So let me just ask, for the record, when I read this report, I see
a deep concern with respect to accountability of past members of
the administration at the Air Force Academy and Air Force leadership in general. I read a fairly consistent positive finding and attitude toward current leadership, particularly the secretary. Secretary Roche, and the Chief of Staff, General Jumper.
Is that fair? Or are there nuances that I have missed?
Ms. Fowler. That is fair. As far as our knowledge goes, once
Secretary Roche and General Jumper were made aware of the situation and as far as we know, that was early this year in January
or February they began to take immediate action. And in fact, the
Agenda for Change was issued before the final report of the work-

—

—

ing group.
They received our interim report. And they moved forward to
make changes because they knew they had cadets arriving in June.
And they could not let this situation continue to exist as it was.
So they started right away with the Agenda for Change. And
while, as we have said, it is not a perfect document, it is a work
in progress. It is a positive beginning. It was a great step forward.
We met with Secretary Roche in June. We met with General
Jumper in July. They have both been very forthcoming with this
panel.
Any information that we have asked for, we have received. They
have worked very willingly and closely with us. So as far as this
panel is concerned and during the work of this panel, we have not
had any problems with the current leadership or seen any prob-

lems there.
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But that is not to say there was not something earlier. But as
far as our panel goes, we did not have any problems with the current leadership.

Mr. McHUGH. Your findings note the chasm, if you will, between
the chief of staff and the secretary and the administration at the
Air Force and recommends some kind of interim body to kind of
bring that together.
Recognizing, as you just said. Madam Chair, that obviously the
things that the secretary and the chief have done may not be peralthough you point out some disfect, they were honest attempts
agreements with some and recognizing there is the need to try to
interject some nexus between the Air Force Academy and the higher leadership the chief and the secretary you have not seen anything from your involvement, not suggesting there is nothing outside of that domain, but in your involvement, that would suggest
that the secretary and/or the chief were derelict in responding to
this, is there?

—

—

—

—

Ms. Fowler. No, we have not, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank you very much. Now going to what I think
I have read that you have found and you are concerned about.
And you mentioned General Wagie. You mentioned Colonel
Slavec and others very specifically and very candidly in your report.

Am

I fair in assuming, however, that your recommendation is
that their involvement their non-involvement, as the case may
be is something you are concerned about? You have not reached
conclusions or culpability, necessarily, but strongly suggest DOD
IG pursue that?
Ms. Fowler. That is correct, Mr. Chairman. As we reviewed the
and this comfacts as we learned them, it became very obvious
mittee has seen this in the past that so often, there is a failure
of leadership when problems occur, whether it is on a military base
or in a military service academy, and that there was definitely a
failure of leadership here at the academy.
These officers had the safety and security of the cadets. It was
their responsibility. Some of them maybe all we think had
knowledge of incidents that were occurring.
For example. General Wagie received the surveys each year. He
has been the dean for five years.
He received the information from the Cadet Counseling Center.
He had this information and never acted on it.
The commandant should have had it. Some say he had; some say
he did not.
Colonel Slavec is the training group commander. We had enough
questions raised that we felt that it was important that someone
with more time than we had and more authority to conduct a thorough investigation, such as the DOD IG, needed to look further

—

—

—

—

—

—

into this.

Because we want

to send a message that leadership is accountthere is a failure of leadership, you do not just reassign
them. You hold them accountable.
And it was not necessarily just the superintendent who was at
fault. The superintendent did lose a star when he retired. And we
agreed with that decision.
able.

When
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But we think there needs to be further looking at the other immediate past leadership there. And that should be done by the

DOD

IG.

McHUGH. Let me just, for what it is worth, state I could not
agree more. We have heard a lot about the culture, about the system, the process.
And all of that is important. We need to look at that very seriMr.

ously.

But at the end of the day, individuals are the ones that populate
the system. And their failures are, in my view, contrary to the
opinion of some apparently, very relevant. And accountability is
key here.
So I think

it is an important finding and one that I wanted to
clear was in that. And I want to commend my ranking member colleague. Dr. Snyder. He and I have agreed to sign a letter to
IG, encouraging him, in our strongest possible terms, to
the
accept your recommendation that this be pursued further.
Because this starts with people. This is a people organization.
Speaking of people, I want to focus just for a moment, before I
defer to my colleagues, on the most important people in this equation, as far as I am concerned, and that is the victims. I would
hope, at the end of the day, our key objective here, as important
as restoring the confidence, the reputation, the integrity of the inand it is incredibly important but still, that we have
stitution is
a system that recognizes these acts for what they are; that is, a
horrendous, disgusting crime that will be tolerated nowhere, but
particularly at a United States military academy and the service
academy for the Air Force, and that does the best possible process

make

DOD

—

—

for the victims themselves.
And I do not want to set the

members. But

I

precedent of calling upon individual
extensive experience

know Ms. Carpenter has had

in victims' advocacy

and such.

Could you just give us a thumbnail sketch in response to where
you think the academy has gone thus far, where you disagree and
where we need to do even better and go further to represent these
terribly abused victims more effectively?
Ms. Carpenter. Thank you.
I think that the biggest concern that we have at this point is the
issue of confidentiality under the Agenda for Change. And we address it very carefully. And it caused us great deliberation, the confidentiality issue.
for Change, there is not an opportunity
there are mechanisms available, within the
current structure through the psychotherapist-patient confidenthat are available and
tiality issue, through the chaplain privilege
need to be utilized.
And the greatest concern, I think, that I have from a victim advocacy standpoint is that, unless we provide victims of sexual violence an avenue of secure, confidential reporting, where they feel
the ability to come forward, report the crime, know that there is
a safety mechanism in place and that the leadership is there and
behind them 100 percent and that there are these wheels that have
been put in motion and that they are aware of all the services from
the get-go, that they know that if they make a report, that these

That under the Agenda

for confidentiality.

And

—

—
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are the chain of events that are going to happen and that these are
the steps that are going to be taken. And if they fail to report or
if they fail to have the evidence collected, that these are the chain
of events that will happen from there.
We have failed in the past to do that. And so I think that we
have to give great care and concern now to make sure that those
mechanisms are in place, confidentiality is there and that then we
will create a system where we have improved victim reporting and
response to the issue.
And if we do not, my biggest concern is that a year from now,
we will have the Air Force Academy coming forward to say, "We
have solved the problem. We have a decrease in reporting sexual
violence;" when, in fact, they have just driven it underground.
Mr. McHuGH. No reporting, so no problem.
The report recommends or cites the process that is substantially
different actually at both West Point and the Naval Academy, with
respect to the issue of confidentiality. I do not even know if you
have had an opportunity to look at those other two academies' systems.
But do you feel that those are adequate for implementation at
the Air Force Academy? Or do they even need to be amended and
updated or changed to some extent?
Ms. Carpenter. You know, on those issues, I will defer to General Nardotti and others, members of the panel, who have more
knowledge on West Point and Annapolis and that could probably
speak better to that.
Mr. McHuGH. Well, I am somewhat concerned because I have
been on the board at West Point for ten years. So please, general?
General Nardotti. The system at West Point well, actually, we
were somewhat surprised that there had not been more discussion
between the Air Force Academy and the other service academies
over the period of time that they were struggling with this issue.
And even when the issue exploded earlier this year, there apparently was not the kind of discussion that would have enlightened
them as to what the military academy was doing.
Now we were not charged with looking at the other academies.
And we did not undertake a detailed examination.
But we did take the opportunity to see what was going on there.
And in discussing this with academy personnel, it appears that
they basically have taken the fundamentally correct approach to

—

accomplish what Ms. Carpenter has just outlined.
They basically have a non-confidential reporting channel and a
confidential reporting channel. And basically, the confidential reporting channel is, basically, you have in that channel qualified
therapists who can deal with somebody that is under the extraordinary trauma of this kind of event.
But they make it clear to the victims, under those circumstances,
that in the process of taking care of them, they make sure that
they are informed of the consequences of going one way or the
other; that if they choose to keep it confidential, it does hamper the
command's ability to deal effectively with the perpetrators because
if you do not do certain investigative things very quickly, you lose
that opportunity.
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On

the other hand, if they are going to go into the non-confidenchannels, you are still bringing them in under the counseling
of somebody who is qualified to take care of them. In the Air Force,
under the Air Force Academy's past procedure now General
Hosmer, whose name appears in our report, he is the one that really made the first concerted effort to deal with the confidentiality
tial

—

issue.

We believe he had the right idea in that he understood, after
talking to the women at the Air Force Academy, women cadets,
that if he did not have some confidentiality in reporting, that they
were never going to get the reports in the first place. So whatever
intent you have to prosecute and deal with perpetrators, you were
not going to have that opportunity.
And his intent was: take care of the victims. And by properly
taking care of them with the right counseling, you can encourage
them to go into the right reporting channels, to enable the command to deal with the problem.
Unfortunately, General Hosmer left after about a year-and-ahalf. And his intent was not carried through in subsequent years.
And you had a confidential reporting system which left victims
vdth the impression that they could come in at a later date and it
would not necessarily have the kinds of consequences on later prosecutions.

Let me just make one other point. In the Air Force General
Counsel's Working Group Report, they addressed the issue of the
513, the Military Rule of Evidence 513. But in our opinion, they
dismiss it.
And in fact, if there were any concern for confidentiality in any
respect, you would see that in the Agenda for Change. You do not.
You do not, when you read the Agenda for Change and you listen
to what the Air Force Academy leadership has said on the issue of
confidentiality, certainly the population at the Air Force Academy
believes that there is not a confidential channel. And the impediments that have been noted by the Air Force general counsel, in
their Working Group Report, we believe can be overcome.
They are basically impediments created by Air Force instructions. The secretary can handle that. He can make the appropriate
changes to deal with that.
And of course, as we pointed out, the military academy, in its recently published Sexual Assault Review Program, basically identifies that confidential channel. And the Naval Academy has a confidential channel as well.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank you very much, general. Thank you, Ms.
Carpenter.
The gentleman from Arkansas, Dr. Snyder.
Dr. Snyder. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Representative Fowler, you are the perfect person to ask this
question to. And I read your report last night and this morning.
And I think it is very good.
But I think, in my view, you went pretty light on Congress and
oversight. You know, it is not like we have been adjourned for the
last decade. I mean, we have been here.
And I am going to use this, a little bit, as an opportunity to say
I think, in my view, that the Armed Services Committee is doing
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a very poor job right now of providing oversight in a whole broad
range of areas. But to me, this is just an example of one.
in 1993, in
I mean, there is no reason that we could not have

—

1994, in 1995, in 1996, in 1997, in 1998, in 1999, in 2000, 2001,
2002 and 2003 been having a series of hearings on this until we
were all satisfied that the problem has been solved. But for whatever reason, it did not get done.
So my question is, rather than looking back, but looking forward,
what specifically, having been on this side, would you consider appropriate oversight, in terms of the types of activities, the frequency of activities? If you would share that with us, please.
Ms. Fowler. Well, I agree, Congressman Snyder. But the fact,
though, is this committee was not brought this information.
I mean, I think if this committee had been made aware of some
of this information that we are now aware of, then the committee
would certainly have been exercising some oversight. But it had
not been brought to this committee, or to other places either.
As we document in the report, there was a lot of lack of communication over the past ten years. And that is something that needs

—

remedied now.
have not seen the final language. But I understand that in the
conference report of your Defense Authorization bill, there has been
a compromise worked out.
And I think it is more your language than the Senate's. But I
am not quite sure how it eventually evolved that you are requiring
reports each year, from each of the service academies, on this issue
and others that will be surveyed and then reported to you.
And I commend you for that. I think that is a good way to do
it because I do think both this committee and the one in the Senate
should be exercising annual oversight over the academies.
And by having that reporting process in place, so that you get
those reports I know, I used to be on the Naval Academy Board.
We sent our reports to the President. We did not send them to the
to be
I

—

Congress.

And so, by now, and what we put in here is that those annual
reports from the Board of Visitors should go to you too. They
should not just go to the President. The Congress should get them.
So I think if you, the Congress, receive the reports you have
asked for, the reports that others get too, you know, if you get
these each year, then you have the information from which to exercise oversight. Because without information, it is hard to do oversight.

—

and I know it is this subcommittee's juevery year, you have an oversight hearing, you
know, taking the information that you received and then have a
hearing as to what is really going on. Look at it; review it; make
But

I

would recommend

risdiction

—that

recommendations.
While our recommendations, we think are good, until they are
implemented, who knows whether they are going to work or not?
So I think this is a perfect body to, each year, look at what is working and what is not, you know, as these things get put in place and
determine that.
Dr. Snyder. I think that is a good idea.
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Ms. Fowler. Congressman, could General Bunting make a comment on that?
Dr. Snyder. Yes.

General BUNTING. I think everybody in the room who is an alumnus of a college and who loves the college and who feels close to
it responds fervently to an invitation to be on the Board of Trustees
of a college, and that that civic obligation is probably his most cherished obligation of all the things he does outside his family or his
job.

faithfully attends all meetings. He is very much involved in
of the college.
He knows what is going on. He talks to the president, the dean,
the students and so on.
The oversight body that we looked at, the Board of Visitors,

He

the

life

which includes a number of representatives from the House and
from the Senate, as well as presidential appointments, in my opinion, has been virtually negligent in its responsibilities for the last
ten years. The average attendance at board meetings hovers
around 50 percent.
I can think of a couple of senators who attended no meetings at
all or, in one case, only one during their entire term. This is an institution whose board is scheduled to meet once a year on campus.
The board meeting is close to farcical. It consists of a Power
Point presentation, cocktails and dinner at the president's house
and then they are flown back to Washington.
That should have been a first line of reconnaissance and of information. And frankly, I have never heard of an institution whose
board operates like that.
To use the most egregious example that comes to mind, in the
year 2001, I could not find the minutes. And the reason I could not
find the minutes was because the board did not meet in that year.
Dr. Snyder. I wanted to ask, nowhere in the report. Representative Fowler, is there any mention of admissions policy. Did you all
entertain the possibility that perhaps the admissions is such that
some bad apples that should not have been let in, that turned out
to be perpetrators?
That we should have been put on notice somewhere in the admissions process? That they should not have been
Ms. Fowler. Well, we did not think we should get into micromanaging their admissions policy. However, we have had some discussions with some of the people there.
And I would like to get Dr. Laura Miller, who has some interesting comments on that, because we do think they need to ask some
questions in their admissions policy. And I would like to recommend to my colleagues I think most of us have review committees that help us with our nominating process.
And what I did, back in the mid-1990s was added some questions
you know,
for that committee to ask about belief in an honor code
character, ethics because unfortunately, a lot of today's young
people are coming from different households from the ones we came
from. And these are questions that need to be asked in those interviews, before we ever nominate them, as to some of those of types
of backgrounds and beliefs.
.

.

.

—

—

—
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And I would
ments on that.

like to

ask Dr. Miller because she had some com-

Dr. Miller. We were unable to get specific detailed information
about the accused in these cases because they are still being investigated, privacy act. So what we are hoping is that, once the DOD
IG investigation is done, you will have a better sense of the type
of person.
If there is any particular pattern among what type of people end
up taking advantage of their fellow female cadets, whether that is

previous honor or conduct violations when they are at the academy,
so maybe you could screen them out sooner in the process, or
whether there were indications before they were admitted.
We have also raised the question of whether the increase in admitting students with waivers with academic waivers is related
at all to some of the conduct problems that they have been having.
We do not have that information yet.
But we do know that increasingly, cadets not meeting the miniacademic standards are admitted, in part to be able to meet
the needs of the athletic department.
Ms. Fowler. And could Colonel Ripley make a comment on that,

—

—

mum

Congressman?
Colonel Ripley. Congressman, your question illustrates all the
it is critical that we have a very detailed and
thorough stepped selection process for any candidate to any of the
academies. I served for three years on the Naval Academy admissions board.
And as thorough and as detailed as that was, you still cannot filter out a fraud, someone who is already predetermined to not respond to the questions correctly and so forth. And we have other
checks and balances, such as the so-called blue and gold officers,
who interview each candidate separately.
We have, of course, the requirement for recommendations from
two of his teachers, ministers, et cetera, et cetera. And yet, some
still get in.
How you can identify the sexual predator or the potential midshipman or cadet who has a lack of values or a system of hostility
toward women, we are not sure how you do that. But it certainly
does illustrate the tremendous importance of trying to develop
whatever system and take however long is necessary to highlight
that sort of thing.
And still, you are going to find these people within your brigade
and your corps. And just recently, there was another example at
the Air Force Academy of that very thing: someone who had all the
right credentials, all the perfect recommendations and one still ap-

more reason why

pears.
I do not mean to sound negative on the system. It is as good
can possibly be.
And it is especially good when individual members of Congress
and presidential appointees, secretarial appointees from the services, have those committees that look at the individual candidates
and do a filtration system. And yet, they still come.
Dr. Snyder. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will hold my other
questions for now because I know other members have questions.

And

as

it

Thank

you.
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Mr.

McHUGH. Thank

the gentleman.

Gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr. Meehan.
Mr. Meehan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. So on this admissions
process, it seems to me though, if you have one in five people admitted to the academy that think either women are worthless or
not worthy to be at the academy or should not be admitted to begin
with, there is certainly evidence that there is an issue there.
Is there some way? I do not know, when I worked in the District
Attorney's (DA's) office and we looked at the defendants or those
who had been convicted of rape or sexual assault, there are certain
characteristics that are a stream that run through those.
And viewing women as worthless or not worthy to serve, it would
seem like there would be a way to come up with some kind of a
psychological testing that would give some clue, would it not?
Ms. Fowler. First, could I qualify something? Because I want to
make sure and if you look at your appendix I, the second chart

—
—

on there because we made it clear in my testimony, but I think
it is sometimes repeated differently in the press, that it is one in
five of the males that responded to the survey.
So if you look at the figures there, like in 2002, 1,580 males responded and yet, there are 3,000-something males there. So it was
one in five of those who responded.
So I do not want people to think it is still too many, but I do
not think that one in five of the total male population there think
that. Because it does make a difference of several hundred.
Mr. Meehan. And the other factor would be one in five was actually willing to write it down on a survey and put it on a piece of

—

paper.

Ms. Fowler. It is appalling. It is appalling.
Mr. Meehan. It is just incredible. I mean, it really is incredible.
Ms. Fowler. But I just want to make clear, to get it right.
Currently, the academy does not do criminal background screening for applicants, let alone any psychological screening. So this is
one area that is still open for investigation.
Mr. Meehan. I spoke to Secretary Roche, who I admire, during
February's hearing, about how he has tried to handle this crisis.
And my view was that he was taking the right steps, in terms of
acting promptly.

But it is important to recognize the fact that generally, institutions respond when, in every newspaper in America, it is laid out
there, the dirty, disgusting truth of what is happening in an institution. You do get responses.
Did Secretary Roche and General Jumper have access to the information that resulted in, from 1993 when General Hosmer got
the process of reporting, did they have access to that information?
Ms. Fowler. We are not sure that they did. In fact, I think we
are one of the first who have really compiled all of this.
The working group pulled some of it together. But they left a
good bit out, as we have detailed in our report.
And so we are not sure that they did have all of that information. And so what we have said is once this did come to their attention earlier this year, then we were pleased that they did move on
it

and moved on it fairly rapidly.
Mr. Meehan. Sure.

—
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Ms. Fowler. They both were put in office in 2001, as we all disremember what happened in September of 2001. So their attention was elsewhere other than the academy for a good part of
the beginning of each of their tenures.
Mr. Meehan. Sure. I am just curious whether they had the information. It is interesting that the only reason that, in 1993, this reporting process began was because, in fact, there was a sexual assault alleged sexual assault in February of that year.
And if you look at the number of assaults over a period of time,
it certainly has not been getting any better. I notice that the 2
years of 2001 and 2002, if you take them together, it is the highest
number that actually were reported at 35 18 and, I think, 17
which does not mean an3d:hing other than they were reported that
tinctly

—

—

—

year.
in a DA's office, I recognize the fact that there are
people report. There are all kinds of circumstances.
Ms. Fowler. Well, and the startling thing, congressman, is that
according to the surveys, is 80 percent of the assaults have not
been reported. So you add that to these numbers, really.
These are just the ones reported. And there are a lot more that
have allegedly occurred that have not been reported over those

Having been

reasons

why

years.

Mr. Meehan.
is

really

When

looking at

what we are looking

how

for

to

— and

gressman Snyder talking about our

change the culture, which
I was interested in Con-

responsibility. This is every-

one's responsibility.

And when you want

to

change a culture, you really have

to

shake

am wondering if there are any other ideas.
It seems to me admissions is an area we look at, we should look
at. It seems to me that every year this report comes out, members

things up.

I

of this committee ought to have it.
And we ought to talk about it. And
publicly.

we ought

to lay

it

out there

Are there any other things that we can do, as a committee, that
would be a recommendation on the part of the panel?
Ms. Fowler. As far as legislatively, we have some recommendations in here. One is on the dean of the faculty, which I mentioned
in my testimony. And that really is of immediate concern because
of that appointment coming up this spring.
Others deal with the Board of Visitors. And we have some recommendations that would take a change in the law to make some
of those changes in the composition of the Board of Visitors.
I know those need to be carefully reviewed because changing that
law would also change it, in some cases, for the other two service
academies too. So those need to be reviewed carefully.
But I think there are some that maybe could be easily made; others not. But there are some legislative changes in our report that
we would appreciate your review, so that if there are some that
would appropriately could go in the conference report in the next
week or two, then that would help them move along instead of
waiting another whole year before there is another Defense Authorization bill to have them move.
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Then we have recommendations that really need to be implemented by either the academy or Air Force leadership. And anything you could do to encourage those.
And one of the main things in here and I am not sure which
number it is but back in August, I think it was August 14th, the
secretary of the Air Force came out with an oversight memoran-

—

—

dum
ess.

stating

And he

how he thought
set

up what was

this needed to be overseen, this proccalled an executive steering group to

oversee the process at the academy.
We think that is a good idea. We think the steering group is a
good group. Its composition was good. But it was only set up to be
for a year.
We suggest it be made permanent because part of the problem
has been no continuity of oversight in the Pentagon of these situations at the Air Force Academy. And part of it is because leaders

come and go.
Wars happen. Other things

divert them from looking at the acadevery other week. So there needs to be some entity that is permanent, that is composed of the right people, that that is their responsibility, is to exercise that oversight.
So in addition to what the Congress would be doing, it needs to
also be done from the Pentagon. And we support that recommendation, but would like to see it made permanent.
Mr. Meehan. Last question, Mr. Chairman. You had indicated
Secretary Rumsfeld was briefed on your report.
Has he indicated to members, to any of you, what specific steps
he will take to ensure that everyone in the chain of command understands that sexual misconduct is a serious problem that will not
be tolerated? Has he indicated any specific steps that he will take?
Ms. Fowler. He was just presented with this report Monday
afternoon. At that meeting were the secretary, also Secretary
Wolfowitz, Dr. Chu and General Pace. They were all briefed at the

emy

same

time.

And then

we presented it to Secretary Roche.
received the report and are currently going

after that meeting,

So they have
through it.

all

We had a long meeting with Secretary Rumsfeld. He is deeply
concerned about this issue.
We went through every recommendation. And he was very receptive. And I have been assured there will be follow-through.
Mr. Meehan. Thank you. And again, outstanding report. Thanks
very much for your testimony.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank the gentleman. Let me ask before, if I may
exercise a tad of a prerogative here as the chair.
Were the reports, the survey findings with respect to the cadets'
attitudes, female cadets' attitudes, the concern about rape, et
cetera, et cetera, were those survey results included in the Board
of Visitors report to the President, do you know?
Ms. Fowler. Not that we know of.
Mr. McHuGH. So even if
Ms. Fowler. They were not.
Mr. McHuGH. So even if, for example and I still think we ought
to get those Board of Visitors reports. But even if those had been
.

.

.

—
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rendered to the Congress, that information still would not have
been included, would it?
Ms. Fowler. This was Dean Wagie, to whom those surveys went
every year, deemed them to be invalid and never did anything with
them.
Mr. McHUGH. Because of the lack of scientific validity?
Ms. Fowler. Exactly.
Mr. McHuGH. And was that the only response he had?
Ms. Fowler. And yet, the information in them was startling. Scientific or not, you were getting some very startling information
that needed to be acted on.
And General Bunting reviewed the Board of Visitors' reports for
the last ten years,

I

believe?

General BUNTING. The reports are platitudinous. They are recitals of all of the good things about America and American youth, basically.

Mr. McHUGH. Yeah, I have seen a couple. And I think that is
a fair observation.
So my point is, perhaps there has to be more than just a requirement that we receive those reports, as deemed to the President, but
also the results of any internal surveys that may or may not be
done.
Ms. Fowler. We include that in these recommendations. I mean,
we had a whole page of recommendations dealing with the Board
of Visitors and restructuring and how that would rework.

Mr.

McHUGH. Thank

you.

Yes, General?

General Bunting. I just want to make a brief point on the Board
of Visitors. And I am sure you will find this of interest.
In discussing the issue with academy leadership, the military
academy leadership, they published their sexual assault review policy in April of this year. They did not do that after the Air Force
Academy problems became obvious.
The superintendent had directed efforts to deal with that problem for some time before. And again, according to academy personnel, that was a result of some issues that were raised by the Board
of Visitors in that case.
So that is an example of how effective oversight by a Board of
Visitors got out ahead of a problem, at least to the point of getting
a timely program on the street and something that, at least in the
opinion of this panel, is pretty close to the mark, in terms of what
needs to be done.
Mr. McHUGH. Yeah, we acted correctly on that one, that is for
sure. I am sure there are a lot of other areas we need to do better.
The gentlelady from California, Ms. Sanchez.
Ms. Sanchez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And once again, thank
you for having this hearing and for your leadership on this issue.
And to everybody in front of us, thank you so much.
I have one question that I am going to ask. And maybe all of you
can think about it for a little bit before some of you decide to an-

swer

it.

And then

I

have a very technical series of questions that I would
you do have a law background,

like to ask the general, because
right, with respect to this?
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—

So for the rest of you, you only had 90 days to do this to review,
to get it all together, to report back, et cetera. You have done an
incredible job.
But I guess the question would be: if you had more time, what
further areas of inquiry would you pursue to gaining a better understanding of what is going on or what we could do? And what
would you further develop, as far as recommendations in that report?

And are there any other studies or follow-up that you think Congress needs to think about or this committee needs to think about,
in order to get a fuller and more fair evaluation, either of the cultural or the legal aspects of this? So I will sort of put that out. And
maybe you can think about it a minute and let me ask the technical question to the major general.
Article 37 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) prohibits commanders from attempting to influence the independent
discretion of subordinate commanders in disposing of criminal
cases under the code. The prohibition, Unlawful Command Influence, UCI, is essential to protect the integrity of the military justice process.
Considering the recommendation that you have for more intensive oversight of the academy from Air Force headquarters, is it
possible or practical to ask for this kind of oversight, given the
UCMJ's provisions on UCI? Can you explain how Air Force leaders
can effectively supervise the academy in this area without interfering with individual cases?
Or in other words, would it still be possible for a cadet accused
of sexual misconduct to get a fair trial under the kind of oversight
regime that you envision? And I guess that leads to the other question of, having looked at the issue of sexual assault at the academy
from a variety of angles, does your deliberation jdeld any conclusions on needed changes to rape or sexual assault statutes under
the UCMJ?
General Nardotti. In my judgment, the Unlawful Command Influence issue is not a problem in this context. That becomes a problem when the superior commanders or the headquarters is attempting to influence the disposition of a case.
Now some may argue that, well, if you are beating the drum very
loudly about how serious sexual assault cases are, that somehow
this is, by implication to subordinate commanders, that you really
need to deal with this seriously. I have more confidence in the military justice system and the judgment of commanders than to assume that they would simply take guidance from a superior headquarters to deal with a very serious problem.
The guidance from the headquarters is not simply, "deal with
these cases seriously," it is "deal with the problem comprehensively;" number one, doing the things that are necessary to prevent
it and number two, dealing with victims in a way that allows you
to first take care of the victims and collect evidence that makes it
even possible for you to deal with the cases.
And then once they go into the system, let the chips fall where
they may. Follow all the rules. Do not exercise any undue influence, any unlawful influence.
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All command influence is not prohibited by Article 37. It is unlawful command influence. And in my judgment, it is perfectly reasonable and responsible by the Air Force headquarters and the
leadership of the Air Force to identify this problem and say that
we need to deal with it with corrective measures and not run the
risk of losing a case because of the unlawful command influence
issue.

As to the other question that you had about changes in the rape
and sexual assault laws, again, in my judgment, I do not believe
the problem is there. It is not with the definitions of the crimes.
I think the UCMJ satisfactorily covers the range of issues and
the range of crimes that would be encompassed in this particular
family of offenses. It is not a difficulty, it is not a problem with
what is required under the statute to prove those cases.
It is a matter of: have you done the basic investigative steps that
you need to prove the case ultimately? So I certainly would not recommend any changes to those statutes. I think they are satisfactory.

And

I

think the fixes

lie

in other areas.

Ms. Sanchez. Thank you, major general.
And then to the rest of the members, starting with Ms. Fowler.
Ms. Fowler. You want us to address the timeframe?
Ms. Sanchez. The timeframe and what you did not get to that
you think might be important for us to get to.
Ms. Fowler. Well, the 90 days worked out. Because we all
worked very hard, we covered the main things we thought should
be covered because of a lot of hard work here.
I think the only thing we would have maybe done with a little
extra time is interviewed a few more people that we would like to
have interviewed from prior leadership. We just could not get to all
of them.
Some of them were not available at the times we were or whatever. So that would maybe be the only thing.
What some of our recommendations are and as you go through
those recommendations, you will see are for, like the DOD IG review or for the Air Force to conduct certain reviews. So we are calling for reviews that would not have been appropriate for us to do

—

anjrway.
I mean, we do not have the authority or the capability of a Department of Defense Inspector General. So the review that we have
called for there was not one we should have been doing to begin

with.

Or the review that we have called for, say, about the non-commissioned officers and their training and responsibilities; again,
that is the Air Force. So I am speaking for myself and I think most
of the panel and any of them can speak up I mean, while we
could have taken a little slower pace, we were able to cover all of
what we thought were the key, important points.
And what I think this committee should do is, as I said earlier,
first help us get these implemented and then look at them a year
from now, both these and the Agenda for Change and the other
things that are coming forward to be implemented, and see how
they are working.

—

—
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Because we are not sajring any of this
need to make sure what is put in place
what needs to be changed.

But you
and

is

set in stone.

is

actually working

This is a work in progress. And it is going to take some fine tuning along the way.
And I think the key now is to get some of these recommendations
moving and then review them next year and see, hopefully, if they
are working.
Ms. Sanchez. Any of the rest of you have an area in particular
that you thought, "Gosh, darn, if we just had more time, this is

worth investigating?"
General BUNTING. There is a writer called Tom Ricks who, about
three or four years ago wrote a book called, "The Making of the
Corps," which is about Parris Island. And he went down there and
really

lived for four or five months and just watched everything.
And we throw this word "culture" around quite frequently. And
to get a real sense of the culture, the nuts and bolts, I suppose if
all of us had much more time, that would have been very valuable,
to go there and hang around for a while.
I am particularly interested, for example, in faculty. You have a
faculty of 560 people, which is a big university faculty.
What is their role in all of this? How can they be useful in changing the culture? In many respects, they are more important than
all of the generals and colonels in the chain of command.
I also think we could have profitably spent more time getting to
know some of the younger officers the company tactical officers,
the Air Officer Commanders (AOCs). Those are the people that
have direct contact with the cadets.
Those are the young role models, if you will, that the young cadets look to for examples as to how they should conduct themselves. So I think if you had more time, that would have been certainly a valuable exercise.
Ms. Sanchez. Anybody else?
Ms. Carpenter. I was thinking, it is funny, I was thinking of the
book just came out called, "Absolutely American," where someone
spent four years at West Point. Now that is a little excessive.
But since the buzz word these days is "imbedded," it might be
interesting to have a person, like Laura Miller or someone not
me, I would never make it through boot camp but, I mean, who
could actually be on the ground and well integrated and really observe at the ground level.

—

—

—

Ms. Sanchez. Yes?
General Nardotti. This repeats what some of the other panel
members have said. But the culture issue is one that I think, really, if I had more time, I would like to look at. Because, as everyone
else has been on the panel, we were really troubled by this attitude
that up to one quarter of the cadets had, based on recent studies,
and in prior years one in five.
You do not necessarily prevent that coming in. What people learn
on the outside, the military has to change a lot of attitudes when
they bring people in.
And at the academies, they have an honor code that most of the
new cadets do not have to live under prior to coming there. And
they need to learn how to live under it.
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With respect to the attitude toward women, if we have a situawhere an5rwhere near one in five of the males leaving have

tion

that kind of attitude, aside from being grossly wrong, they are
going to be pretty sorry leaders if they have that kind of attitude
toward such a substantial portion of the force.
Having said that, I think that this is a long-term training and
education and leader development issue that the academy has to
tackle head on. For those of us who had worn the uniform for some
amount of time and we grew up in an armed force and, from my
perspective in the Army, seeing what the post-Vietnam or actually earlier than that ^Army was, the pre- volunteer Army and then
the pains that the Army and the armed forces went through to develop and successfully achieve an all- volunteer force.
And a critical chapter there is the role of women in making that
a success. Obviously, the cadets who have the attitude that they do
not value women at the academy, they have missed the boat. If 20
percent of your force out there are women, how can you suggest
that you should not have at least a proportionate number out of a
principal source, commissioning source that is going to provide
leaders to the Air Force?
But the people coming in, the young men coming in who may
have that attitude, they are obviously not getting the message. And
educating them to the contribution of women over the long term is
something that you cannot just do it one time.
You cannot do it with a single lecture. It has to be drilled into
them on a continuing basis, and not overdone in a way that makes

—

—

almost seem artificial.
think the cadets have to be disabused of the notion that the
reason we have 20 percent of the Air Force are women, it is not
because of some arbitrary notion of diversity, achieving diversity.
It was because of a well-thought through process by which the Congress and the leadership of the armed services determined that we
can bring women in and we can have them do many more things
in the military. And they can add great value if we allow them to
do that.
So they grew into a wider role because of demonstrated capabildecided on a number and
ity, not because somebody pushed
pushed women into those positions. And I strongly suspect and believe that the cadets who have the wrong attitude do not have any
it

I

—

appreciation for that.
And that is something that you cannot forget that you are dealing with 17-and 18-year olds that you are brining in. And you are
starting over every time you bring a class in and you have to train
them and develop them as leaders.
And understanding that history is part of the process. And unfortunately, with the kind of public debate that you have that goes to
the extremes on both ends of the issue of women in the military,
it probably has the effect of diverting them from a more reasoned
understanding of the true issue.
But that, I think, is an issue that, if we had more time, I certainly would like to look at that. Because that does not account for
the criminal behavior here, but it certainly it is a critical cultural
issue that is in the long-term interest of the services to cure.
Ms. Sanchez. Thank you. General.

—
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Anybody

else

Dr. Miller.

I

on the panel?
just

want

to say that

I

agree with Ms. Fowler that

we accomplished a lot in 90 days. And I think the recommendations that we have can contribute to a significant change
I

think

at the academy.

That having been said, if we did have a longer term, I would like
more thorough evaluation of the admissions process.
I wonder what the student body would look like if we only admitted
the top qualified candidates who were committed to making the Air
to conduct a

Force a career.

What would the gender composition look like? What would the
student body look like? What would the discipline problems be then
if we were only taking the top qualified people into the academy?
And also, once the IG report is conducted, I think it would be
worthwhile to look more specifically at the characteristics of the
perpetrators and maybe try to conduct some sort of informal factfinding, facts about the perpetrators that actually women were too
afraid to report.

So perhaps through letters that come in through Congress, there
might be a way to try and trace and find out what happened to
those people, their service and their career. Did they have other
problems, other abuse they committed later in the service?
Colonel Ripley. I have one comment.
Ms. Sanchez. I am sorry, yes?
Colonel Ripley. The committee had, of course, 90 days, which

was a

short period. Nevertheless,

I

believe the findings, the rec-

ommendations, conclusions and whatnot are certainly substantiated by what we heard and what we saw.
Had we had more time, I believe it would have been helpful and
interesting if we had made a second trip, toward the end of our
proceedings, at a time when all hands at the academy the leader-

—

ship, the faculty, certainly the cadets knew
ered and how our investigation had rolled out

—

what we had discovand the fact that the
things that they were

attitude and the climate had revealed certain
not willing to either face or to admit to and, with that knowledge,
to re-ask some of the same questions we had asked earlier on, on
our trip there, at a later date.
Ms. Sanchez. Thank you.
And I guess, Mr. Chairman, I would just say that this whole
issue of culture, the cultural change, is a very difficult one. And we
might try to go back and take a look at other occasions in the
armed services where maybe a different type of culture change
might have taken place and what would be a successful model to
try to get this portion of it done, because it seems to be the real
root of the problem.

Thank

you.

McHuGH.

I could not agree with the gentlelady more. It is
a huge problem that obviously, when you have the kind of survey
numbers we have seen with respect to a general attitude amongst
the male cadets toward the female cadets, there is something terribly amiss that has to be addressed.
Gentlelady yield back?
Ms. Sanchez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. McHuGH. I thank you, gentlelady.

Mr.

—
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Esteemed member of the subcommittee, gentleman from Georgia,
Dr. Gingrey?
Dr. Gingrey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, let me say,
as a new member of not only this committee but of the Congress
this 108th Congress is my first opportunity
and realizing that
some of this apparently has this problem at the Air Force Academy has been going on for up to ten years.
And I think it was suggested earlier that maybe the Armed Services Committee in general and the Subcommittee on Total Force in
specific was not doing all that they should be doing in the way of
oversight and responsiveness to a problem like this. I cannot speak
for those prior Congresses because I was not here and I was not
aware of the problem.
But I certainly can speak for Chairman Hunter and Subcommittee Chairman John McHugh, to my left. And the responsiveness
that I have seen from them has been thorough, almost immediate.
And I really commend them for that. And, in fact, this whole
committee, this subcommittee, the ranking members, both sides of
the aisle, I think the response has been good. In fact, it is been ex-

—

—

—

cellent.

And

very appropriate. I think that, General Bunting, you
in your remarks
and it is not surprising to me, as
superintendent of Virginia Military Institute (VMI), that you are a
no-nonsense kind of guy. And talking about those boards of visitors
at the Air Force Academy and the kinds of board meetings that occurred, I guess, maybe once a year and that it was kind of or
sounded like a social cocktail party and that sort of thing.
But I would imagine that those members, whoever they were,
whoever they are, took a lot for granted maybe. You know, the policy of the school
Integrity First; Service Above Self; Excellence In
All We Do. They probably, you know, had a false sense of security
that that is exactly what was going on.
And they did not need to delve into or ask questions. And maybe
they were spoon-fed, not unlike the board of trustees for the Enron
Corporation and some of these outside the military get led into a
that

is

—

had mentioned

—

trap.

think that this committee, your committee, in this report has
job. And of course, I commend Ms. Fowler, Congresswoman Fowler. And she is originally from my State of Georgia. And her dad. State Senator Culver Kidd, was one of the most
outstanding public servants in the State of Georgia.
And I know that when she was picked to head this panel, I knew
that we would get a good report. I have not thoroughly looked at
the report. But I certainly plan to do so.
I guess in the way of questions, though, I would like to maybe
address it to Dr. Miller and maybe, to some extent, Colonel Ripley.
It seemed to me that in your comments a little earlier, that you
were suggesting that maybe some of the students, some of the
young men and women men particularly that were admitted to
the Air Force Academy were not done so with the proper oversight.
That maybe I think you used the term "waivers" too many
waivers were granted. And you, just a second ago, said you wonder
what the force would look like if more attention was given to those
I

done an excellent

—

—

—

—
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who

really

wanted a career

in the Air Force, rather

than maybe

who come for another reason.
When we first started hearings on this issue,
and we heard primarily from the hierarchy

those

several months ago,
of the Air Force, I
asked this question about kind of a disaggregation, if you will, of
the perpetrators and where they came from and what their back-

ground was. And were they the students who were recommended
by members of Congress and they met all the academic requirements?
Or were some of them a disproportionate number of them possibly students who had waivers and were admitted not only with
a lower academic standard, but possibly maybe a lower moral
standard as well. And that bothered me.
And the answer I heard at that time was no, that that had been
looked at very carefully and that was not the case. And it was kind
of a broad spectrum. And I did not need to concern myself with

—

—

that.

But again,

I have not read all the details of the report. But I still
concerned about that.
And you talk about it a little bit. And maybe you would like to
elaborate just a little bit more. Is there a problem with that?
And finally, before you answer, I am really surprised I guess I
should have known this that there is no criminal background
check done on these students that are recommended by us for admission to the service academies.
Dr. Miller. We do not know fully the importance of those factors. The General Counsel Working Group had two short para-

am

—

—

graphs.

They did some very general analysis: all athletes versus non-athBut I think you need to distinguish among those: those who
were recruited in, who members of the athletic team tried to recruit them to come to the Air Force Academy and they were grantletes.

ed waivers for having below standard academic scores, from those
excellent students and excellent athletes.
So I think we need a more sophisticated analysis of those than
we have been privy to or that we have heard reported anjrwhere.
Ms. Fowler. General Nardotti has a point to make on that.
General Nardottl Just in response to your point about the lack

who might be

of criminal record checks.

Keep

in

mind that when you are dealing

—

with 17-and 18-year olds, the records anything that they may
have done would have been sealed and would not come up in a formal records check. So that would probably not be a useful exercise
to go through.
And then I think it is understandable at the academy and anyone involved in the screening process would say it is so competitive
to get the recommendations that you need to get into the academy,
it is very unlikely that somebody who has been in any kind of serious trouble would get the kind of recommendations and support
that they would need from all quarters to get into the institution
in the first place.

think that may account for the lack of the
Dr. GiNGREY. Well, help me out with this. And again, forgive me
if my naivety as a new member does not allow me to know the answer to this question.
I

.

.

.
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But are there students that are admitted that come through a
process other than the recommendation of a member of Congress?
Dr. Miller. Yes. And in fact, the majority of those who are
granted academic waivers are nominated by the academy superintendent. They are not the first nominations of members of Congress.

The President can also nominate.
Dr. GiNGREY. Thank you, Dr. Miller. And

I

suspected that was

the case.

And

my

take
responsibility in regard to making recfor students to the service academies to be one of
the highest callings, the highest duties that I have. And I
sure
again,

I

ommendations

am

that there are 534 other

members

of this Congress that feel the

same way.
If somebody that I recommended to the Air Force Academy was
one of these that had this type of an attitude toward women or that
ended up being a sexual predator and ever did anything like that,
I would certainly feel that it was a reflection on my lack of proper
oversight.

And I know all my colleagues feel the same way. So if there are
students that are actually guilty of this attitude and/or acts that
are getting to the service academies, not through recommendation
from members of Congress but possibly granted waivers, whether
it is for their athletic ability or whatever, I think that that is something that we really need hopefully to take, if we have not already,
a real close look at.
General Bunting. May I respond quickly? I think no effort on behalf of ascertaining the moral fitness of these candidates should be
spared. On the other hand, there is no profession in which early
estimates of fitness for that profession are less reliable than the
military.
If you look at most of the people whose names we revere in
American history who are graduates of Annapolis and West Point,
almost invariably, they entered with relatively modest academic
credentials and graduated halfway down their class or lower.
I mention that because one of my colleagues earlier talked about
what if we could take only the best qualified and that sort of thing.
To have done that would have been to have lost Eisenhower and
Marshall and Patton and Grant and practically everybody else
whose name resonates here.
Dr. GiNGREY. But I think though, general, we should never misjudge or rarely misjudge character. That is my point.
General Bunting. Absolutely. And of course, that would be my
point. No effort on behalf of ascertaining moral fitness should be

spared.

But for the rest, academic acuity, SAT scores and things like
that, those are very defective indices in this profession.
Colonel Ripley.
comment, congressman, with reference to the
same issue, is I can rarely recall, during
time on the admissions board, any waiver other than athletic, an athletic waiver. I
cannot even categorize the rest of them.
And certainly, even without the consideration of a waiver, if any

My

my

indication of moral turpitude or a criminal record

came

up,

it

was
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an automatic drop. These issues were clearly surfaced by any of the
processes

we

looked

at.

Sometimes we found, of all things, indications in the essay,
which is a required part and a very important part; sometimes in
recommendations from teachers or community leaders, clergy,
things like that. But it is wrong to focus on the athletic waiver.
And I think anyone would agree that that is a critically important
aspect of any admissions selectivity.
It is wrong to use them as a whipping boy. And I know that is
not anyone's intent. But it gravitates to that because that is the
largest and almost the exclusive waiver we grant.
At the same time, the ability of that potential cadet and midshipman to carry on with the academic program is the critical limitation. And if I am aware of this, it is because I was the so-called
"athletic National Academy Athletic Association (NAAA) reader" on
the board.

And we would make that determination. If it was impossible for
a particular candidate to get through our program, which was very
much engineering oriented, then no amount of waivers would get
him into the program, period.
Dr. GiNGREY. And I thank the panel members. And I thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I know my time has expired.
Mr. McHUGH. I thank the gentleman.
Let me also express my appreciation for his gracious comments
about this chairman and also the chairman of the full committee.
But I want to state: the road to hell is paved with good intentions.
And we have always had good

intentions.

think there are lessons for this subcommittee, whomever
may chair it now and into the future, and this Congress to do our
job more effectively as well. And I know the gentleman would agree
with that.
And I am not questioning that portion of it. But I just want to
make sure that we all include ourselves in the learning process as
we go forward here.
So I thank him for his valuable expertise and his medical background that I think is very, very helpful in these issues, as always.
The gentleman from Colorado, an esteemed member, as I mentioned, of the full committee, subcommittee chairman and someone
who has been very involved in this issue, my good friend, Mr.

But

I

Hefley.
Joel.

Mr. Hefley. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much for letting me
in on this. And I am cognizant of the fact I am a guest. And

sit

will try not to take very much time.
But I would like to say, first of all, thank you, Mr. Chairman,
for the seriousness with which you have taken this and which your
committee has taken this subject. And then to say to this panel,
Tillie and I served together and sat up here together for a long
time. And I had enormous respect for Tillie; did not know most of
the rest of you when you were appointed.
with this particular panel
But I cannot tell you how pleased I
and with the workmanship that you did. I hope, the rest of your
life, you will feel this is 90 days well spent, because I think it is.
I

am
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I think the plan of action that General Jumper and Secretary
Roche came out with was a good foundation. I think that is what
you said in the committee, in the report.
But you have taken it a step further. And I think you have given
us exactly what we need at this time. And I really do appreciate

that.

Just to emphasize what the chairman asked at the outset about
Secretary Roche. It is my feeling that there are two or three m.embers of the Senate that are trying to hang the chicken around Secretary Roche's neck for this scandal, for whatever reason.
I do not know what the reason is, maybe because they do not
want him to be Secretary of the Army. I am not sure what it is.
My sense was that, first of all, prior to this happening, when he
was appointed Secretary of the Air Force, he came to me and
talked about his specific concerns about the academic situation at
the academy and the curriculum at the academy and the relationship of the athletic program to the academic program. In other
words, he took a hands-on interest in the academy on these things,
even before this came up.
And when this came up in January, when it broke, I could not
find two people who were more engaged than Secretary Roche and
General Jumper. They were fighting a war in Iraq. They were getting ready to fight a war in Iraq and later were.
And yet, they devoted an enormous amount of time to this and
were very cooperative with me and were in my office. Heather and
I met with them, I cannot tell you how many times over those

months.

And

so

I

tion,

to hear you say that—
interpret what
—that these two gentlemen were part of the solu-

was pleased

you said correctly

not part of the problem.

if I

And

is

that correct, Ms. Fowler?

Would you say that is a correct statement?
Ms. Fowler. Yes, Congi-essman Hefley. And

first,

I

want

to

thank you for your leadership because you have been a member of
the Board of Visitors at the academy, have been a staunch advocate of making sure things were done right there.
I know you are currently the acting chairman of the board. So
you are going to be overseeing some of these changes. And I think
they are very fortunate to have you on that board because you
truly care about the academy and about making it the kind of institution it always has been and should be.
So I think they are fortunate to have you there and have you in
that role at this point in time. And yes, you are correct that the
information that we have had with dealing with Secretary Roche
and General Jumper has been very positive. I mean they, as soon
as they had the information, proceeded to act on it.
They promulgated the Agenda for Change, even before they had
the final report from the working gi'oup because they knew they
could not wait until cadets were there in June to start movement.

And
ning.

we said, it was a beginning,
And then we have been building on that.

so while, as

it

was a good begin-

Mr. Hefley. Well, you have done good work. And we are proud
of the academy.
have always been proud of the academy, of all
of our academies.

We
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And we are proud of most of the young people at the United
States Air Force Academy.
Ms. Fowler. Right.
Mr. Hefley. But we are not proud of those who perpetrate these
kind of crimes against innocent victims. And we have to solve this
problem. And I think you have gone a long ways towards helping
us do that with this.
Speaking of the Board of Visitors, my sense has been for a long
time that the Board of Visitors and General, I would agree with
your statements the Board of Visitors has been mostly expected
to be a cheerleading squad. And if you look at the charter of the
Board of Visitors, which I am sure you did, as based on your recommendations here, the charter basically outlines the Board of
Visitors' makeup in order to facilitate the appropriations process.
You have to have one member from the House Appropriations,
one member from the Senate Appropriations. That is not what the
Board of Visitors should be.
And I raised the issue several times at the Board of Visitors
meetings about accountability. And it is obvious that is not really

—

—

what they wanted.

And

we need

to restructure, as you have indicated, the
do not think there needs to be as many members of Congress on the Board of Visitors.
Congressmen, I understand they are busy. On weekends, they
want to get back to their districts and do that kind of thing.
But this job needs to be taken not as an honor, although it is,
but it ought to be taken as a responsibility. And I am not sure that
is the way it is been taken.
There are members on that Board of Visitors list that I have
never seen at a Board of Visitors meeting in the years that I have
been there. But they are there. And they have been there for many,
I

Board of

think

Visitors.

I

many years.
And I am not

casting stones at anyone in particular, because my
attendance probably has not been what it ought to be either. But
I have tried to
tried to take it seriously.
But I do not think you take it seriously when all they want you
to do is to be a cheerleader. You have to feel you have some responsibility. You all took this seriously because it was a responsibility
that was given to you.
Mr. Chairman, there are some recommendations here, that Ms.
Fowler and the others have indicated us, that I do not think are
very controversial, part of which is the restructuring of the Board
of Visitors. I do not think that would be very controversial. I certainly do not think that broadening the dean search would be very

—

—

controversial.

And I would like to work with you and Ms. Wilson and whoever
else to try to come up with those recommendations that are not
very controversial, see if we cannot get them in the conference committee even before that closes this year, so that we move this report off. I do not want this to be a report we get hundreds of
these, Tillie. You remember it.
shelf and is
I do not want this to be a report that goes on
never looked at again. If we could kick this off with some of these
recommendations. And then, the ones that are more controversial,

—

my
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do not shy away from, but give them a Httle more thought and take
a Httle more time. And make sure that the work these people have
done is not in vain.
And with that, Mr. Chairman, I did not do a very good job of asking questions here, I think. But I did feel very strongly about what
you have done. And you have done a great job and a great service
to your country.
And thank you very much.
Ms. Fowler. Thank you, Congressman. You are going to be in
a key position, as far as implementation goes. So we appreciate
what you are going to be doing. And I am pleased to hear of your
support for these recommendations because hopefully they will be
implemented and we can move forward with them.

Thank

you.

Mr. McHuGH. Thank the gentleman and again praise him for his
concern and focus. And let me just respond to his closing comments.

—

I agree there are some portions of this that we could
and I
think we should try to pursue in the conference committee report:
the applicant pool or the candidate pool for certain dean positions,
et cetera. There are, in my opinion
and it is only my opinion
some very positive recommendations with respect to the Board of
Visitors, particularly the reference to requirements of attendance
and the failure to attend two in a row and some others.
And maybe I am a bit prejudiced here, as I said a ten-year member of the Board of Visitors at West Point. And General Nardotti
did notice that board, of which I was a member at the time, responded proactively prior to the Air Force Academy's issues on the
question of sexual abuse.
I am not sure why it is, if you are a member of Congress, all of
a sudden you are suspect. But, having said that, I think we can
clearly look at some things with respect to the membership and the
expectation that you show up.
And I know the kinds of references the gentleman is making
with respect to the Air Force Academy, because I have seen them
at West Point as well. So we are going to look at those. And I
would certainly welcome the opportunity to work with the gentleman and gentlelady all the members to see which, if any, we
could do.
There are some problems with out-of-scope provisions, however,
that the gentleman knows become somewhat problematic in terms
of negotiations. But we do need to make sure, as the gentleman
said, that this is not a report that sits on the shelves.
There are very positive recommendations here that we need to
act on. And if the conference provides this conference that we are
now engaged in provides that opportunity, we need to do that.
Mr. Hefley. I agree.
Mr. McHuGH. And I thank the gentleman.

—

—

—

—

—

—

Ms. Bordallo.
Ms. Bordallo. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And
interest

and work

I

commend your

in calling together this public hearing,
ranking member as well.
I have been in and out of this meeting. But believe me, I
interested in the situation at the academy.

and the

am

very
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I had a very interesting chat with the general earher. And it is
really sad to think that we are all here today, coming before Congress, on something like this.
You know, you think of military academies where you send your
young sons and daughters for the greatest of discipline and character building. And then we come up with something like this.
And in looking at the statistics of the allegations over the last
ten-year period, you find they have not gone an3Avhere. They are
at the same level.
And I think the Chairman mentioned she mentioned that so
many are unreported cases. So it is truly sad.
And I want to say that I am going to look very carefully at the
report. And I have looked at the recommendations. And I certainly

—

—

support them.
Hopefully, we will all take another good look at this. And my
question, one simple question, is I am sure that and maybe this
has been brought up before but the other academies. West Point
and Annapolis, are the statistics or anj^hing similar. Could you an-

—

—

swer that, Ms. Tillie?
Ms. Fowler. Yes, our charge was not to review the other two
academies. But I do understand that the Department of Defense
Inspector General is compiling a survey that will be issued to all
three of the academies in December, covering these issues.
So there will be some uniform way of comparing those statistics
after those results come back in December. So right now, there has
not been a uniform way to do that.
Ms. BORDALLO. And I thank you very much for your many, many
countless hours of working and looking at the school and putting
this report together. And hopefully. Congress will be able to assist
you in getting things in order and returning the academy to where
it was when it was first founded many, many years ago.
So I thank you very, very much.
Ms. Fowler. Thank you.
Ms. BORDALLO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. McHuGH. The gentlelady from New Mexico, has her name
has been ofttimes cited here, a leader on military issues in general
and very knowledgeable about the academy, as one of its more esteemed graduates.
Ms. Wilson.
Mrs. Wilson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I wanted to join others
in commending all of you on your work, particularly having done
it in such a short period of time.
I read your report over the last two nights and found it to be
more insightful and more comprehensive than we have received
heretofore, including from the Air Force's own review. And so you
have done a very good job on a very difficult issue and I think with
tremendous credibility.
And I wanted to thank you for what you have done. And it kind
of validates, I think, the decision to have an external review.
While you had limited resources, you also did not labor under
some of the constraints or the fears that an internal review has to
cope with. And so I very much appreciate it. And you have done
very good work.
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It is hard to decide whether I am more sad or angry at some of
the things that you have revealed, some of them that have been revealed for the first time, particularly the extent of Air Force headquarters' knowledge of what was going on and their failure to act,
which, to my knowledge, has not been previously revealed.
That the surgeon general, the Inspector General, the judge advocate general, successive chiefs of staff and previous secretaries of
the Air Force knew they had a serious problem. And they did not
do an)^hing.
And we deserve better. I think we all deserve better.
I had a couple of questions that occurred to me in areas that I
think I wanted your thoughts on. You talk about, in your report,
the structures and there are multiple ideas that come forward to
how to fix a problem, but the structures to ensure that change oc-

—

curs.
I mean, we have a very short attention span in this town, a short
attention span in the Congress. And when leadership changes,
focus goes on to something else, to the next crisis.
Well, you mentioned particularly this executive steering group.
But are there other ideas for structures or things that need to be
put in place to ensure that the results are there for the changes
that you have recommended and the Agenda for Change rec-

ommends?

—

Ms. Fowler. Well, we stress that there has been one of the
problems has been a lack of continuity of oversight, for the very
reason you mention. I mean, people come and go, and particularly
in the military.

We recommend now that the superintendent should stay there
four years and the commandant three years. That is been part of
the problem, the leadership at the academy has turned over fairly
rapidly.

The commandant sometimes is only there 18 months. They have
barely gotten there before they are gone.
So there is definitely a need of continuity of oversight. But external oversight is very important, as well as internal.
And we have really come up, I think, with three key recommendations in that arena. One is the Board of Visitors. As you
restructure it and you empower that board, then it is there continuously to exercise oversight of these issues and others.
Another is the Congress, that this committee and the Senate
Armed Services Committee should make it a point that on their
calendar every year is a hearing to review these sort of issues at
each of the academies, really. And as you receive these reports
back that you have mandated in the defense bill, then you need to
have hearings and have meetings to discuss those.
And then the third is the executive steering group, that within
the Pentagon there be made permanent this executive steering
group that Secretary Roche recommended in his oversight memo,
that has been established. But it only has been given a one-year
life term.
We think that needs to be permanent. So then you would have
an entity at the academy; that is the Board of Visitors. You would
have the Congress. And you would have an entity in the Pentagon.
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And among those three, somebody should be picking up on these
problems. If you have three entities that are supposed to be doing
continuous oversight, then this stuff should not be falling through
the cracks anymore, like it has over the past ten years.
Mrs. Wilson. One of the questions that I think has come up is
the academy reports directly to the chief of staff. Most of the other
organizations that report directly to the chief of staff are substantial

organizations.

And sometimes,

I worry that the academy is always the last
thing in the in box. You know, it is the organization that is out
there at the edge of the Rampart Range in Colorado. And it must
be going fine. But I have other things to do.
Did you consider whether it should be put under another four-

star?

Ms. Fowler. We mention that in our report because, if you remember, Secretary Roche recommended that it report to the education and training command. And he lost that battle because General Jumper really wants it reporting to him.
I think the chiefs really, most of them feel strongly about that
relationship there. And so the Air Force dropped that. They are no
longer pushing that.

And we felt we would leave that to the Air Force. As long as you
can set up this executive steering group that is doing this oversight, then while it can still report officially to the chief, there is
still going to be an oversight group in the Pentagon that is going
to be really overseeing it.
And that is what is needed. Because, as we said earlier, chiefs
fight wars. And they have other things that they are doing too besides overseeing. I hate to think how many hours General Jumper
has spent on this issue over the past six months while he was also
fighting a war in Iraq and doing some other key things too.
So I think it would be helpful to the chief, as well as to this
whole issue of oversight, to have an entity like that.
Mrs. Wilson. I am very interested in working with the chairman
on some of the things in conference that we can get done. I wanted
to concur with General Bunting. I think the Board of Visitors has
been largely ineffective and structured to not really be an effective
oversight or even an active involved Board of Regents, as we have
at many of the universities in our hometowns.
And I also did want to say that there have been times when Secretary Roche and I have crossed swords on some things. And we
are not afraid to do that.
But I have to say, on this issue, he and General Jumper have
been very actively engaged in a way that I wish their predecessors
were, or we would not be here today. And I think they have addressed this seriously, perhaps for the first time.
You did mention in your report though some accountability
things that and with respect to changing the selection pool for the
dean. And I think I wanted to ask you directly. And perhaps this

—

is

not a fair question.

But you are

critical of

tion to this failure. Is
retire at this point?

it

the dean and his failure or his contribu-

your view that the dean should resign or

39

Ms. Fowler. It is our view that the DOD IG needs to review his
performance. That, based on the information that we had, we were
very concerned with the failure of leadership, really, about General
Wagie.
He had the Cadet Counseling Center under him. He had all of
the sexual assault survey information. He never did anything with
them. He said they were not scientific and never had them corrected.

mean, he had the information that some others say they did or
But he had it; never acted on it.
That is a failure of leadership. And we are very concerned with
I

did not have.
that.

But we included him in our request of the DOD IG to review his
performance in more depth than we could. It is my understanding
that he is retiring next spring. And we are concerned that the new
dean be able to be picked from a larger pool.
Right now, the only people who could be considered for that new
dean would be the 21 permanent professors at the academy. And
there is always a need for new thinking, creativity, ideas in an academic institution.
And to limit that pool to only those 21 people, we think is too
limiting for the Air Force Academy, or for any of the academies,
really. And so it is requested that that go ahead and be changed
so that you will not put someone in place next spring that then you
have for the next three to five years. Again, you were not able to
go outside to look for someone else.
You still might end up picking someone from those 21. But at
least it can be a more competitive process. And it can be right now.
Mrs. Wilson. Mr. Chairman, if there is a way to do that, I think
we also would all agree that the dean at the academy is an unusual position that is not just a kind of a normal, general officer
position, in which you are a dean of a large, accredited academic
institution. But I suspect that the pool of qualified potential deans
is broader than just those 21 permanent professors.
I would ask one final question. And that has to do with the issue
of leadership and role models. And perhaps the generals, those of
you who have worked at some of the others or who have been associated with some of the other service academies can address this
a little bit more detailed than in your report.
One of my concerns has to do with the assignment of air officers
commanding, the young officers most directly in contact with cadets. And I suspect, in the late 1980s and early 1990s, when we
had a pilot shortage, a rated shortage, I suspect that they changed
who was being assigned and how they were being prepared to be
those first-line ofiicer, supervisor role models for young cadets.
And all of us, I mean, any of you who have ever worn the uniform probably remember the name and middle initial of your first
commander. And that has a tremendous impact.
I wonder if you would address the issue of leadership and role
models and the assignment policies for how you get the kinds of
role models you want in those positions.
Colonel Ripley. I would like to comment on that, congressman.
The cadets gave us a very unique viewpoint of that our very first
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day there, and that was that they rarely saw their company offisquadron officers, past any time in the afternoon.
And rarely would they show up before 10:00 in the morning. And
they were on hunting trips.
Now of course, this is a generalization. But uniformly, the cadets
rarely identified with the squadron officers, very rarely.
Mrs. Wilson. That is appalling to me.
cers,

Colonel Ripley. Well,
Dr. Miller.

I

where we found

we

identified that as well.

would just

like to clarify, that

was

in the cases

—that was particularly with victims or people who

are reporting problems in their units, that their AOCs were not
around.
Colonel Ripley. And instead of seeing this individual as a focal
point, someone that they could turn to for help or for advice or, indeed, to model after, they did not see them as accessible. The terribly

important accessibility

rule.

Aiid they certainly did not see them as someone that they wanted to model their career after. And frankly, as we got into it even
deeper and talked to some of the permanent personnel there, we
found out that it was not considered it was definitely not considered a distinguished assignment at that point in a young officer's

—

—

career.

That officer should be out in a squadron someplace flying, as opposed to being back babysitting cadets. It was looked upon in an
almost derogatory way.
Mrs. Wilson. I would say that that is a significant change from
the 1980s at the Air Force Academy and, I would venture to say,
at the other service academies. And that certainly was not my experience when I was there.
And that lack of role models and lack of direct adult supervision
from the time you brush your teeth in the morning until the time
you turn the lights out at night has to be a factor in the solution.
Colonel Ripley. I will speak for the Naval Academy and let my
distinguished colleague talk about West Point. But I can concur
that the Naval Academy, for both naval officers and marine officers, it is one of the most premier assignments you can receive and
highly sought after in the fleet.
And the company officers, they are called they are the company
go
officers and the battalion officers as well that they get there
through a very rigid selectivity process. And they represent all the
combat fields, all fields in the Navy and Marine Corps and, of
course, are both male and female.
General Nardotti. At the military academy and I would say
this is true not just for the tactical officers, but for the members
of the faculty, the military members of the faculty there is great
care in the selection. Because the expectation is going to be that
it is not just the tactical officer who is the example. But those officers who are in the classroom that have more time with the cadets
need to demonstrate the same example.
And actually, one of the things that we heard in the course of
our visit to the academy, the Air Force Academy, was that there
was, at least at one point and they seemed to have recognized
this, so that you understand. They understood the issue of a prob-

—

—

—

—

—

lem with AOCs.
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—

But we did hear some testimony that there was kind of a well,
was a difference in standards and attitude between the faculty, on some issues, and the AOCs, with respect to how seriously
there

they took the standards. And General Bunting, I am sure, will address this.
But he has pointed out many times and made the point that the
faculty, there are many opportunities for mentorship and examples
among faculty. And that really needs to be part of the process as
well.

General Bunting.

would just add

I

am

to that, the great text in edu-

"The Idea of a University," by
Cardinal Newman. And he talks at great length about the importance of teachers or anybody who makes his or her living in a unication, as far as

I

concerned,

is,

versity setting.

Being themselves the product of that which they believe

—that

is

young major, who is a company officer
must demonstrate in his or her character and commitment and intelligence and in every other thing
what it means to be a product of the kind of education that the Air
to say a young captain, a
at the Air Force Academy

Force

Academy

—

offers.

also think that if that problem is as acute as we sense it is,
it is one that is fairly easily remedied. I mean, imagine if the chief
of staff called in 30 young captains and said, "You are the cream
of the Air Force. I am giving you this assignment. I trust you.
Think what you can do for these young people."
I

But we did hear that walking around the Air Force Academy
quite frequently, that, "I never saw my AOC. I never saw these
people." That was a
Dr. Miller. I am happy to report that part of the Agenda for
Change has been ensuring some adult supervision in the dorms,
24/7. Also, I visited in August and learned that they were much
more aggressive in seeking out quality AOCs. And now, they are
providing some training for them in how to fulfill their role.
And in fact, AOCs can receive a counseling degree. So that is one
thing that the Air Force has done on its own to try to improve.
Ms. Fowler. We address that on page 71 of our report. And we
do commend the Agenda for Change for recognizing that it has become a problem with the quality and the training of these AOCs.
And they are addressing that.
General Nardotti. If I could add just one final point to that?
This was an observation from General Hosmer when he was talking about the AOCs and some of the officers from other services
over there, filling essentially the same role.
And he said invariably, at least this was his experience. And he
was not speaking for all the superintendents. But basically, the officers that were held in the highest regard were, in many cases, the
Army and Marine officers who were there.
And if you think about it, if you consider where an Army or a
Marine officer is in experience at that point in their career. Army
and Marine officers have much more exposure in heavily peopled
environment, where they have to deal with counseling and just
leadership issues. And I am not sure, I do not know enough about
Air Force career patterns to say whether you can simply draw that
line at the same point in all the services, where even an officer who
.

.

.
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may

be outstanding in whatever he or she has done in the Air
Force at a certain point, they may not have the other skill set that
you need to deal with the population, from the leadership perspective that is required at the academy.
Mrs. Wilson. Thank you, Mr. Cihairman. And again, thank all of
you for your service. You have done a very good job. And I appreciate

it.

Ms. Fowler. Thank you, Congresswoman, for all that you have
done to help the Air Force Academy. Thank you.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank the gentlelady.
We have completed oh, I am sorry. I did not get to Ms. Davis
yet. She has been very patient and a very valued member of the
full committee, the gentlelady from California, Ms. Davis.
Ms. Davis of California. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I stayed
because I think that this report is so compelling. And I appreciate
your leadership, Mr. Chairman. I really enjoyed hearing also from
my colleague, Congresswoman Wilson, because she has been there
and has some insights as well.
I think that everybody has focused a lot on the culture. And I

—

think that

is

important.

The

failure of leadership, I think you all have addressed it. I
found this chart just to be so interesting that you put that together
in a way that really demonstrates that everybody has to be held
I mean, you do not just let things go.
There was one particular issue that was mentioned. And just

accountable.

very briefly. You are recommending that there is a clear policy for
reporting sexual assault.
And there has not been much discussion of that, but the whole
atmosphere, which we know obviously appears at colleges, at academies, wherever young people are, is the issue of drinking. And
perhaps some of the double standards connected with that, the fact
that women were afraid to report because there was fear of retribution, that they would be called out for infractions or whatever.
And I was just wondering, should this be getting more attention?
Or is this an issue that is, you know, it is part of it, but not so
compelling or important?
I think the other issue was about education and health care,
mental health care and the availability of people who are there,
who are counseling, more peer education.
Ms. Fowler. Well, on the alcohol, we do have a recommendation
in there about better training and supervision on alcohol use.
About 40 percent of the incidents of those 142 involved alcohol.
We did not go as deep into that because the Agenda for Change
and some more regulations that have come out since that are really
dealing with the alcohol policy. If they follow through with these,
they are setting in place some new policies on underage drinking
and on cracking down on this.
You know, if you are underage and drinking or provide it, you
are disenrolled. And they need to start doing that. They need to
start sending a message to these young people.
Because a lot of the problems were, they were sneaking in alcohol to the dorms, drinking it, getting drunk. And then problems

would occur.
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And this is a problem that goes on in colleges throughout the
country. But this is a unique institution, just like the other two
service academies.
I mean, the graduates of these academies go on to be officers in
the United States military. Their educations are paid for by the
taxpayers. They are held to a higher standard than students in
regular institutions.
You would like to hold them all to that standard. But at least
in these, we need to hold them to a much higher standard.
Secretary Roche, I know, is very concerned on this whole issue
of alcohol. And they are taking some steps to deal with that.
And so we mention it some in there. But we do not go into any
depth because they were already dealing with that.
And then I think on the mental health and the peers, Sally,
would you like to talk on that a little bit?
Dr. Satel. Sure. I am just going to say a word more about alcohol. You probably read that 40 percent of the incidents did involve
alcohol.

And we spoke at length with the new Commandant, General
Weida, who spoke very with great awareness of the fact that responsible drinking is not always going on and is certainly thinking
of implementing ways to make that more to make that happen.
Because, as you know, there is a sports bar actually on the premises that the cadets can go to.
As far as mental health, I know there is the Cadet Counseling
Center. We talked in the report about problems of oversight that
did come under Dean Wagie's purview, and unfortunately did not
seem to exert as much oversight as he should have.
So certainly, someone can seek out psychotherapy. What we were
most concerned about though, in the specific case of an allegation
of a woman who has been through this kind of a traumatic circumstance, is that she have the option of proceeding confidentially

—

—

or not.

And, if she does proceed confidentially, that she is strongly encouraged to report, that she is given as much information and as
much sense of the control over what can happen and a sense of
really the urgency and importance of proceeding. Because there is
nothing worse than feeling helpless and passive after a situation
like that.

And

it seems that there is no greater way to guarantee that that
the way you will feel and that in itself predisposes to greater
depression and anxiety than not seeing the situation through and
doing what you can to help get it resolved. So that is really the
acute approach.
Certainly, if somebody is in an extreme clinical state, there are
medications to be given and more acute psychiatric attention to be
paid. But one of the main things we were concerned about is that
action is taken to begin the journey to resolving this.

is

—
—

Ms. Davis of California. Can
a minute?

I

call

—

on Ms. Carpenter

for just

Ms. Carpenter. I want to answer we were talking about the
peer counseling situation. And we have the CASIE program there.
It is something that we did look at quite extensively.
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The concerns that we have are that there

is

this

CASIE program,

the peer counsehng relationship, which in talking
with the cadets, they were very much in favor of this. They liked
that opportunity to be available to them.
There were several cadets that we spoke to that said that they
would access that. With the same token, there were cadets though
that said they would not. And that is all part of the empowerment
and giving options.
So with our recommendations, what we wanted to point out was
that there is this process here, this CASIE program. The cadets are
placing value in it.
However, in certain instances, we felt there was concern that the
CASIE reps, these peer counselors, were stepping over their boundaries. They were going on beyond that active listening and support
process and jeopardizing the process for some of these victims.
So we wanted to be very clear, not taking away from the CASIE
program, but to give some direction that it needs better guidance.
It needs to be under that psychotherapist, giving that privilege opin

which there

is

tion.

They need better training, better instructions, monitoring, and
then looked at again down the road, to see if it is still an effective
process and needed.
Ms. Davis of California. Thank you. I appreciate that. And I
appreciate your interest in looking at the other academies and the
kind of policies that they have that encourage the reporting and
that it does not become a secondary problem for them, the fact that
they happen to have had the sexual assault, and that they get retribution because they were in a situation that was compromised.
Appreciate that. Thank you very much.
Mr. McHuGH. Thank the gentlelady.
Dr. Snyder had indicated that he had another line or two he
wished to pursue. I would be happy to 3rield to him.
Dr. Snyder. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We will have you done
by breakfast.
I just want to make one comment. I want to go back to this business about congressional oversight, Representative Fowler. And it
is really just a comment.
But I disagree with your assessment that we were put on notice
just at the beginning of the year and could not have done anything.
I mean, on your own chart there, you have two General Accounting
Office (GAO) reports, one in 1994 and then came back in March of
1995, that said things are, in fact, worse.
I think you quote them as saying 78 percent of women at the
three service academies report that they had been harassed. And
it is worse in 1990 and 1991, including physical groping.
Now that was a very volatile time in the Congress and in the
House. But if one of the bodies had said, "You know, three service
academies were reporting increasing problems with sexual harassment." Now this is two years after you begin your timeline in 1993.
at your suggesIf they had said, "Why do we not do a series,"
tion, "a very vigorous oversight hearing, in which we will hear from
the people?" I will bet at that hearing, you would have had an indication that, wait a minute, it is more than just harassment. We
have sexual assaults going on.

—
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Because you report that there were people that were aware of it
and trying to do something. And so I will go back and say what
I

said before.

If we had started sometime in 1995 and Congress had gone in
1996, in 1997, in 1998, in 1999, in 2000, in 2001 and 2002 and
2003 on a systematic way of providing oversight, based on the information that Congress was given in 1994 and 1995, we may have
solved this problem a whole lot sooner. We would have probably
discovered, well wait a minute, a couple of the academies seem to
be doing a better job than the third one.
What is the problem with that? I mean, that is the whole point
of oversight work.
So I think the Congress was put on notice. And in my view, we
dropped the ball.
Ms. Fowler. I cannot remember exactly who requested that
GAO report or who it went to. So our point in here was that we
know it went to leadership at the Air Force and the Pentagon and
that they did not follow through with it.
I am not sure whether it came to Congress or not. They normally
do, in some form or another. So I would think it would. But I do
not know.
But there was definitely some startling information in those two
reports that was not followed up on by anyone.
Dr. Snyder. This question of culture and climate. And to me, I
think like a fish, a fish in a lake. I do not know if fish sleep or

not.
it wakes up in the morning and is the first thing it says to
"Gee, I feel wet today?" You know, does a fish feel the wet?
I mean, that is to me what climate and culture is, that you do not
notice it. It is just there.
And so it is concerning that you have 1,000, 1,200 a year coming
out of the Air Force Academy that we think have been immersed
in a culture for the last decade that we do not think is very
healthy. And so what happens? They go on to other places.
Do they take that culture with them? And then we are now challenged with how do you change that culture?
I want to ask about this leadership issue because, to me, it seems
like that is the key, whether it is the school principal or anything
else. You talk about the turnover in leadership. But if somebody is
doing a bad job and they are a fish that does not feel the wet, what
the hell good is it to keep them there for four years?
I think the key to me would be that there is a culture and a climate throughout the Air Force and throughout the military that
when an officer gets a new command, that one of the first questions they ask is: where is the head? Where is the latrine?
What is our readiness level? Are we secure? And what is the culture or climate, so that my people male, female, black, white can
thrive and grow and feel secure in themselves?
I mean, I would think that that would be an important question
that you would want to ask, particularly coming into an area either
in a boot camp situation or in one of these academies where people
are so young. So I am not I do not have any problem with extending these tours. I am not convinced that that is the solution.

But

itself,

—

—

—
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I think the solution has to be that the people who are going in
there start saying to themselves, "This is one of the top priorities."
And apparently that has not been the situation.
Ms. Fowler. Well, it takes both: someone who cares and also
someone who can be there long enough to affect change.
Dr. Snyder. And then, where I think your report is going to be
helpful is knowing what to do. I mean, when you start talking
about issues of confidentiality, I mean, those are complex issues. I
do not expect somebody who is just coming back from overseas
someplace, a two-year deployment, to know about all the issues involving psychotherapy confidentiality issues.
Ms. Fowler. Right.
Dr. Snyder. I think that is all I wanted to ask, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you.
Mr. McHUGH. I thank the gentleman.
this
I think that, as I said earlier, this committee, I would hope
subcommittee and full committee this Congress hopefully can
learn from this and do a better job. I was not on this subcommittee
in 1993, 1994 or 1995.
The recollection, however, in looking at the panel's report and
the footnoting, is that the reports involved were focused solely on
sexual harassment. I am not denying the reports of the nexus between sexual assault.
In fact, that was the issue: does harassment lead to assault? But
I am not sure our predecessors can be directly blamed for ignoring
sexual assault. But that is something we have to look at.
And we do need to
Dr. Snyder. Mr. Chairman, if I could just cite specifically some
of these things, "unwelcome, deliberate physical contact of a physical nature." Now that is considered harassment. But when one
man starts grab-assing a young woman, I mean, in an unwanted,
hostile way, I think that is something that we all ought to be put
on notice that there may be something more going on.
Mr. McHuGH. The record will note, "grab-assing" is an Arkansas
term. [Laughter.]
I do not deny that. And we do have a responsibility. I want to
be a little cautious in how far we indict our predecessors on this.
But we need to look at it. We need to do better, no question about

—

—

.

.

.

it.

I do have one final question. The report discusses some specific
findings with respect to some specific officers in leadership at the
academy that we have discussed previously General Wagie, in his
capacity as dean of faculty, and others.
It, in its findings, recommends that those officers' roles be directly examined, with respect to their failures, possible failures,
and discharge of their duties in this relationship. You also have
some I think critical is a fair word critical comments about the
Air Force general counsel and the working group.
However, in the recommendation, as I read it, you do not include
the Air Force general counsel or the working group as recommended for further investigation. Do you think that would be an
appropriate place to also pursue?

—

—

—
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The issue being did they just punt the ball down the road? Or
did they take deliberate actions or evasive actions to shield the
leadership of the Air Force from culpability.
Ms. Fowler. Well, we are not sure. As far as the Air Force general counsel, he was involved in a separate study in 2000-2001 and
did not disclose that, as far as we could tell, at least to the working
group.
He was on this current working group, but it does not appear in
there anywhere. That caused us some concern there, but not as
major as the deputy general counsel's lack of disclosure.
As I understand it, Mr. Kip At Lee, who is the deputy general
counsel, he chaired a two-year long study. I mean, he was the
chairman of it in 2000 and 2001 within the Pentagon on these
issues.

a member of the general counsel's working group. And
our understanding that he did not reveal to the working group
or to the general counsel until probably around April, which is six
or eight weeks before they were to release their report, of his involvement in that, of his chairmanship of it, which he certainly had
a responsibility to have revealed that.
And that working gi'oup is not really dealt with in the general
counsel's report. This, again, is staff of that working group that we

He was

it is

felt

that

We

it

went

to

think what

some

of the credibility of that report.
in the report is well done. It was the omissions
on page five and six of our report, we put bullets

is

in the report. And
there of things that we discovered that were omitted from the general counsel's report.
Now their answer this week to me was, "Well, that was not our
charge. We were supposed to just look at this, not that." Our answer is, when you start a review and you uncover this information,
that is been part of the problem in the past. It is partial reviews.
You have to look at the whole picture.
And obviously, they knew some of this information that went to
command, to leadership and to headquarters leadership. And they
chose, for one reason or another, not to put it in.
But again, whether this was staff problems, whether different
are not blaming Ms.
members of that staff did not disclose it.
Walker particularly because I understand some of this she did not
know until late in the process. But it should have been disclosed
in the report.
Mr. McHUGH. And I thank you very much for that. Do you think
it would be appropriate and efficacious for the ranking member and
that that particular aspect of
I to include in our letter to the

We

DOD

examined? Or not?
Ms. Fowler. Well, we did not ask for that.
Mr. McHUGH. That is why I am asking.
Ms. Fowler. We just wanted to point out, I mean, that report
has been completed. We have gone ahead and revealed what they
did not put in there. But we did want to point out that that was
a deficiency in the report and raise the question as to why.
Mr. McHuGH. And I appreciate what you are saying. But there
are those who might suggest and I have had it suggested to me

it

also be

already

—
—that this was a deliberate cover-up.

—
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And I am not suggesting it was. I do not know. And I know you
are not either.
But I am just wondering, is the potential for the charge serious
enough to request and direct the DOD IG to look at that as well?
I just do not know what you saw.
I am not asking you to make a judgment, do not misunderstand
me, as to: was there a cover-up? But should we ask the DOD IG
to look at that as well?
General Nardotti. Perhaps I could add to Congressman Fowler's
comments. We focused on the previous leadership because of what
we perceived as a problem in this respect, that too many people
had presumed that nothing could be done to the past leadership.
And we thought it is and we say this in the report that it is
important to deal with the past leadership, even if they cannot be
reached for any really meaningful discipline or action, to make it
a matter of record: number one, to make clear what the expectation
is of those who serve in positions of great responsibility, in terms
of the level of performance they are expected to me, so that future
leaders understand that; and number two, to put in proper context
the failings of the past immediate leadership, who were removed

—

—

from their positions.
The problem, one of the problems we have with the general counsel report, in terms of its approach, is that when you read it, you
come away with the impression that the problem was at the academy and almost exclusively at the academy. And you get no appreciation from the report that headquarters was looking at this, at
various times.

And we felt that that was a very serious omission. And it also
avoids the point that you know, you are simply saying, well, it is
the past and we are not going to deal with it. We found that unac-

—

ceptable.

say you need to make a matter of record
a matter of record that some people, the past
leadership met or did not meet their responsibilities. We did not
focus on the current leadership because well, first of all, with respect to the general counsel's issue and the issuing of that report,
the critical piece to us was that information that we believed was
important to paint the entire picture was omitted.
The reasons for it were secondary to the fact that that was omitted and the complete story was not told. And we did not want to
get diverted from our principal mission of dealing with the other
very important issues in this within the timeframe that we had.
So we did not go off on a detailed examination of the general
counsel issue. But the other point to remember is, of course, the
current leadership are still subject to the prerogatives of the secretary of defense.
And we have pointed that out. We did not make a more comprehensive examination than to point out the factual inadequacies
in the record that was presented by the general counsel's report.
And basically, the prerogatives with respect to what to do with
people in leadership, including the general counsel, are there for
the DOD leadership to deal with. There is no issue there that they
are beyond the reach of DOD, which is a problem with the past

And

that

at least

is

make

why we
it

—

—

leadership.
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Mr. McHuGH. Well, I thank you.
And amazing stamina from you good

folks, not just today, ala pretty good example, but through the entire process. And let me reiterate what I tried to indicate in my opening
comments, that you have really done an incredible amount of work
here, given the time and resources available to you and work that
is going to be very, very helpful to us as we, as I have said repeatedly here today, try to do a better job from our perspective.
And we deeply appreciate that. Appreciate your service. Again,
our compliments and thanks to your very capable and able staff,
who has sat there as well, very attentively. And I appreciate that
as well.
So with our deepest thanks and with a request that, if we do
have some other comments, perhaps you could fmd it in your
hearts to respond to those in writing, should we forward those.
I would adjourn the hearing. And God bless you.
Ms. Fowler. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[Whereupon, at 5:13 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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September

Today's hearing
final report

is

24,

Academy

2003

an opportunity to review and assess the

issued by the Panel to Review Sexual Misconduct

Allegations the U.S. Air Force Academy. This congressionally-

chartered panel, chaired by the former representative from
Florida, the

Honorable

Tillie

Fowler,

subcommittee better understand
of sexual

misconduct

at the Air

is

here today to help the

their findings related to issues

Force Academy. The

subcommittee

is

recommended

strategies for prevention

particularly interested in the panel's

and intervention

for

future abuses.
It

is

a grave tragedy that any

human being should

fall

victim to acts of sexual harassment, sexual assault, or rape.

What

is

even more disturbing

is that

female cadets

at the Air

Force Academy - an institution considered a center of
excellence with standards of performance exceeding other

American

institutions

and a model

(55)

for developing leaders of

any
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character

-

failed to provide a safe

and healthy environment for

our young people.

We have learned this year from Air Force testimony and
reports that there were countless failures at the

Academy that

promoted an atmosphere of mistrust of Academy leadership by

many female

cadets.

Many times

this mistrust left

abuses

unreported by female cadets for fear of inaction or reprisal from
the

Academy

leadership.

We also learned there were a number

of red flags raised regarding

ignored by

abuses that went unnoticed or

Academy officials over a

10-year period.

In

March

these findings, along with numerous others, prompted the Air

Force to issue
efforts to

its

Agenda

for

Change - a

series of preliminary

improve the safety and security of every cadet and

regain the trust and confidence of the American people in the

Academy.
In

addition to the review of sexual misconduct policy

issues that

I

have mentioned, the Air Force Inspector General

and the Inspector General

for the

Department of Defense are

conducting their own investigations of individual allegations of
sexual crimes at the Air Force Academy. The Inspector General
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for the

Department of Defense

is

also investigating allegations

that female cadet suffered reprisal for reporting abuses.

broaden the focus, the

DOD

IG

is

also completing systemic

reviews of sexual assault issues at

These

efforts continue to

have

and we anticipate receiving

To

this

all

the service academies.

subcommittee's attention

their reports later this year.

Today

the subcommittee looks forward to hearing the panel's findings

regarding the adequacy of Air Force and

DOD efforts

review

efforts, to date.

However, the subcommittee

is

especially interested in the

findings and recommendations that this esteemed group of

experts brings from their review.

extensive expertise

in social

I

say

this in light of the panel's

science, academics, leadership,

substance abuse, victim advocacy, and military matters.

Most importantly,

this

leadership of the Air Force

recommendations

subcommittee expects that the
will

use the Panel's

to develop, institute

solutions for improving the Air Force

The continuing confidence

Academy

is

of the

and sustain effective

Academy environment.

American people that the

developing leaders of character demands no less.
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Finally,

I

earnestly believe that leadership

accountable for the failures that occurred
Air Force has taken several actions to
particularly interested in hearing

do

must be held

at the

this,

Academy. The

but

I

am

from the panel what

improvements are needed to ensure there

is

no future lapse

in

accountability.

Before

I

introduce our witness,

let

me offer Representative

Snyder an opportunity to make an opening statement.

INTRODUCE WITNESSES
I

want to welcome and introduce:

Honorable Tillie Fowler
Chairwoman, Panel to Review Sexual Misconduct Allegations
the United States Air Force

Chairwoman Fowler

is

accompanied today

at table

by two of the

panel members:

Major General Michael Nardotti,
Partner, Patton Boggs

Jr. (U.S.

Army

Retired)

Ms. Anita Carpenter

CEO, Indiana

at

Academy

Coalition Against Sexual Assault, Inc.
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Chairwoman Fowler
statement today, which

will

will

present the panel's written

be entered into the record, without

objection.

Chairwoman Fowler, you may

begin.
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STATEMENT OF
HONORABLE VIC SNYDER
SEPTEMBER 24, 2003
HEARING ON THE REPORT OF THE PANEL TO REVIEW
SEXUAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE
UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ACADEMY
Mr. Chairman,

I

would

also like to

welcome

Tillie

Fowler, a

former colleague and member of the House Armed Services Committee.
I

am

pleased that Mrs. Fowler and other

members

of the panel are here

today to share with us their findings and recommendations to reduce
sexual misconduct at the Air Force
to this effort will help build strong

protect

and support

all

service

Academy. The Panel's contribution
programs and

policies that will

academy women from sexual harassment

or assault.

The

recent focus on sexual harassment and assault at the Air

Force Academy rose to public attention when a courageous Air Force
cadet step forward to share her tragic experience with others.
cadet sent an message to other

women

cadets, the Secretary of the Air

Force, the Air Force Chief of Staff, several

members

the press concerning sexual misconduct at the
inability of the

Since then,

of Congress and

Academy and

the

to properly address the

problem.

more than 60 current and former Air Force cadets have

come forward

members

Academy's leadership

The

to share their experiences with investigators

and

of Congress. While the focus has been primarily on the Air

Force Academy, cadets and midshipmen from the Military and Naval
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also expressed concerns regarding sexual

Academies have

misconduct

on their campuses.

To address

the concerns raised, the Secretary

and Chief of Staff of

the Air Force directed the Air Force General Counsel to conduct an
investigation into the allegations of sexual misconduct, not only at the

Air Force Academy, but at

all

the Air Force accession sources.

Upon

receiving the preliminary findings of the General Counsel, the Air Force

leadership developed the '^Agenda for Change,'^ which are
to address sexual

policies

misconduct at the Air Force Academy.

However, Congress began
the Air Force Academy.

Misconduct Allegations

It

at other

its

own

review of sexual misconduct at

established the Panel to

at the U.S. Air

just one of many investigations

Academy and

new

Review Sexual

Force Academy, which will be

and reviews conducted

academies

to address sexual

at the Air

Force

harassment and

assault.
It is

repeats

often said that

Itself.

we should study

Tragically, this

is

history, because history often

true with sexual misconduct at the

nation's military academies. Nearly a decade ago, the General

Accounting Office (GAO)

were a problem

at

testified that sexual

harassment and assault

our nation's military academies.

number of deficiencies with

GAO found a

the academies' sexual harassment

prevention and education programs, including the failure to conduct
routine systematic

and

policies that

program evaluations

were put

in place to

to ensure that the

programs

reduce sexual misconduct were

effective.

This year,

GAO recently conducted a survey of student and

faculty perceptions of student

life

at the military academies. It is
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interesting to note that nearly 10 years later, a

academies

still feel

that there

is

number of women

not enough emphasis placed on

prevention of sexual harassment. Nearly 37 percent of the

survey at the Air Force

harassment
to

is

at the

Academy

women

believes that the prevention of sexual

"greatly or generally underemphasized." This compares

25 percent at the U.S. Military Academy (West Point) and 21 percent

at the U.S.

Naval Academy.

More

telling is the

number of women

believe that the overall atmosphere for

cadets and midshipmen

women

at the academies are

"poor or below average." Thirty-six percent of the
Force Academy

feel that

the atmosphere for

who

women

women

is

at the

Air

poor or below

average, 39 percent at West Point and 43 percent at the Naval Academy.

These numbers are disturbing. And,
nation's military academies

and

it

should be a

wake up

call for

our

their service leaders to review the

current programs and policies on gender and race discrimination to

ensure that they are

still

effective.

However, while Congress, the Services, and the Academy
leadership can

make changes

to

programs and

and prevent sexual misconduct. The burden

policies to discourage

will ultimately fall

on the

cadets and midshipmen themselves.

They must

treat each other with

and respect an individual's

differences.

More importantly,

respect,

must have the moral courage

to discourage or stop

they

another cadet or

midshipman when they see or hear discrimination or harassment
occurring.

them
well.

all

As today's cadets have learned, the actions of a few

affect

honor and reputation on the

line as

and, ultimately,

it is

their
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I

look forward to hearing from Mrs. Fowler and

Panel as

we continue our

members

of the

oversight of sexual misconduct at our nation's

military academies.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman
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I want to thank you for holding this important hearing and giving me this opportunity to
report to you in person on the findings of our Panel as required by Section 501 of Public Law

108-11.

Mr. Chairman, Socrates likened one's reputation to fire when he said, "when once you
have kindled it you may easily preserve it, but if you once extinguish it, you will find it an
arduous task to rekindle it again."
Since the first cadets arrived at the U.S. Air Force Academy in 1955, the majority have
by the core values of the United States Air Force: "Integrity First - Service Before Self Excellence in All We Do." By doing so, they kindled the kind of reputation for the Academy
tliat we would expect of such an institution.

lived

While not extinguishing

it,

the sexual assault scandal that has plagued the United States

Academy over the last ten years has certainly tarnished the reputation of this great
institution, and we appear before you today to continue the arduous task of restoring both
confidence in the Academy and safety for the cadets.

Air Force

Mr. Chairman, women have served our nation admirably in times of war and in times of
They have graduated from the Air Force Academy since 1980 and served their country
distinction - even paying the ultimate price.

peace.
writh

I

would

like to call

your attention to Section

6,

Row F, Number

reference to a particular section of our Panel's final report.
in

Nor is

it

13.

No,

it's

not a

a seat in Falcon

Stadium

Colorado Springs.

Section 6, Row F, Number 13 is located at the U.S. Air Force Academy Cemetery and it is
the final resting place of Academy graduate i^' Lt. Laura Piper. Lt. Piper was killed in the line
of duty when her Blackhawk helicopter was shot down over Northern Iraq on April 14, 1994 just two years after graduating from the Air Force Academy.

What our Panel has learned about the treatment of some women at the Air Force
Academy is an injustice to all who have gone there - women AND men. It is not befitting of
the sterling reputation kindled for so long by more than 35,000 cadets from 44 classes who
have graduated from the institution. And, quite frankly Mr. Chairman,
to the career and the memory of 1^ Lt. Laura Piper.

it is

simply an insult
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When a new round of sexual assault allegations at the Academy surfaced earlier this
committee wisely decided to take a new approach to a problem that has plagued the
Academy for at least a decade and quite possibly for as long as women have attended the

year, this

institution.

You, along with your colleagues in the other body, insisted on the creation of an
independent panel of seven private citizens to, accorcUng to the pubhc law, "carry out a study
of the policies, management and organizational practices, and cultural elements of the United
States Air Force Academy that were conducive to allowing sexual misconduct (including
sexual assaults and rape) at the United States Air Force Academy."

On May 27, 2003, using the criteria established in the law. Secretary Rumsfeld
appointed the seven members of our panel. I am pleased that they are all here today. I think
it is important for the members of this committee to know that this all-volunteer "force"
could not have been more serious, more dedicated and more determined to solve this
problem. I think the best way to describe their dedication is to say that each approached this
effort as if their own daughter was a cadet at the Academy today.
the Panel's final report offers substantive and constructive recommendations
commitment to its cadets and to the American people. Our priority
was to help ensure a safe and secure learning environment for all the Academy's cadets.

As a

result,

to rebuild the Academy's

Unfortunately, the environment at the Academy has been anything but. The statistics
are appalling - during the ten-year period firom January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2002,
there were 142 allegations of sexual assault at the Academy, for an average of more than 14
allegations a year. According to the Academy's surveys, this only represents 20% of the actual
assaults (with female cadets responding that 8o96 of assaults go unreported). That is

unacceptable for an institution training our nation's future military leaders. Let
is unacceptable.

me be clear,

one incident

The roots of this crisis go as deep

as the institution's culture.

We found the most striking indicator of the existence of a hostile environment for
female cadets in the Academy's own survey data - data that was simply dismissed by
leadership because it was "unscientific.'' Just last year more than one-fourth of the
responding male cadets stated they did not believe that women belong at the Academy. One
cadet fourth-class wrote, "Even viWh women in the Armed Forces, they should not be at the
military academies." Another: "Women are worthless and should be taken away fi-om
,

USAFA."
These comments are even more unsettling when you consider that women have been at
the U.S. Air Force Academy since before these young men were even born. Representative
Heather Wilson had already graduated from the Academy and earned a Rhodes Scholarship
before they celebrated their first birthday. Eight years before they would arrive at the
Academy, graduate Laura Piper was returning for the last time. These young men have no
memory of an Air Force Academy without women, yet somehow they believe it should be that
way.

When such beliefs cannot be attributed to experience, they must then be attributed to
character and values. These are learned traits and when an institution of higher learning
finds warning signs like these in its surveys - scientific or not - that institution has a problem
and an obligation
strengthen

its

to correct it. This report outlines steps the
character development programs.

Academy must

take to

Panel members experienced the gravity of this crisis first-hand during our visit to
Colorado Springs. We were stunned to hear stories from victims, many still too afraid to go
public with their stories and, more disturbing, too afraid to make an official report of the
crime. They shared with us how their lives have been torn apart by a violent assault and an
aftermath that most of them suffered alone and in silence because of an atmosphere of fear
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and retribution by peers aided by either indifference, incompetence or a combination of both
by an Academy leadership they believe failed them.

Our closed-door experience with these victims is what drives our concern with the policy
Agenda for Change that eliminates any form of confidential reporting of
sexual assaults. The Panel is very concerned that stripping away all confidentiality takes the
Academy backwards to 1995 when the lack of confidentiality resulted in underground support
groups and unreported crimes. The Panel believes a balance must be maintained between the
support and treatment of victims and the prosecution of assailants. Confidentiality is the
fulcrum on which that balance can exist and it must remain an option for all victims of sexual
outlined in the

assault at the

Academy.

The Agenda for Change overlooks an
is

established form of privileged communication that

Armed

currently available throughout the

Forces and could benefit cadet victims: the

psychotherapist-patient privilege.

This method of confidentiality has been available to the Academy since the
psychotherapist-patient relationship was recognized in 1999 by Presidential Executive Order,
and implemented in Military Rule of Evidence 513. It is in use by both West Point and
Annapolis.
Accordingly, we recommend the creation of a program that combines the existing CASIE
(Cadets Advocating Sexual Integrity and Education) program with a trained victim advocate
psychotherapist managing the program. This would ensure the Academy has available to all
sexual assault victims an established form of privileged communication within which to
report their assault.

Giving victims choices helps them regain a sense of control over their lives and promotes
the healing process. Having a trained psychotherapist explain the consequences of their
choices also increases opportunities for making the right choices, thereby further helping to
encourage the reporting of these crimes. The Academy should not be the only service

academy not

to offer this

form of confidential reporting.

Academy are real and continue to this day. But the
Panel is encouraged by a renewed emphasis in Washington to immediately address and solve
this problem. We are impressed with the leadership of Secretary Roche and General Jumper
after a decade of inacrion and failures.
The sexual

assault problems at the

Secretary Roche made a step towards serious reform this year by rolling out his Agenda
Change and replacing the Academy's leadership team with one that has been quick to take
action. However, the members of this Panel want to be clear - the Agenda for Change should
be seen as a blueprint - an initial step in reversing years of institutional ineffectiveness.
for

Each panel member agrees

happen overnight, nor will it be truly
by Academy officials and senior Air Force
leadership. The very culture of the Academy must be altered before real change can be
that

change

will not

effective without a sustained, dedicated focus

maintained for future generations.

The Panel found
and

that a consistent flaw in previous attempts to address this

a flaw that allowed

it

to

happen

in the first place

-

was the

problem -

lack of external oversight.

The Panel recommends the Board of Visitors operate more like a corporate board of
We recommend the formation of committees with specific oversight
responsibilities such as academic affairs, student life and athletics. We recommend a

directors.

minimum of four meetings a year - two of those to occur at the Academy. We also
recommend that
cadets.

all

board members have unfettered access to the Academy grounds and the
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This committee should also more aggressively exercise its oversight authority by
reviewing reports on the Academy called for in our recommendations and the reports called
for in the 2004 Defense Authorization Act.

draw the committee's attention to Panel Recommendation #4 in which
expand the available pool of potential candidates for the
position of Dean of Faculty beyond Academy's permanent professors. There is a time
sensitivity issue here. In order to benefit from this reform in the selection of the next Dean of
Faculty - which will occur as early as next spring - I would urge this committee - should you
concur with our recommendation - to revise the law using the 2004 Authori2ation bill,
1

would

like to

we reconmiend

revising the law to

Otherwise, under normal rotation schedules,
sometime around 2007.

presently in conference.

be effective

until

This Panel has chronicled this
aggressively respond.

The warning

crisis

and the

this

reform could not

and
went unnoticed or were ignored.

failures of leaders to effectively

signs were there, but

We are here to report that this Panel found a deep chasm in leadership during the most
time in the Academy's history - a chasm that extended far beyond its campus in
Colorado Springs. Sadly, we believe this helped create an environment in which sexual
critical

assault

became a part of life.

Any credible assessment of sexual misconduct problems over the last ten years must
include an examination of the responsibility of both Academy and Air Force Headquarters
leadership. Unfortunately, the Air Force General Counsel's

do

"Working Group Report"

failed to

that.

That is why this Panel recommends the Inspector General of the Department of Defense
conduct a thorough review of the accountability of the previous leaders at the Academy and
Air Force headquarters. This should include an assessment of General Gilbert, General Wagie
and Colonel Slavec as well as former leaders of the Air Force itself. We recommend that the
results of this review should be provided in a timely manner to both the Members of the
House and Senate Armed Services Committees and to the Secretary of Defense.
I

want

recommending that the DOD Inspector General
we offer what we believe is some constructive
by the present Academy and Air Force Leadership, we have

to point out that the Panel

is

investigate the previous leadership. While
criticism of the changes instituted

found neither team lacking

commitment

in their understanding of the seriousness of the crisis or in their

to finding a lasting solution.

It would not serve the interests of the Academy or its cadets to distract the present
leadership with a backward-looking investigation. Rightly so, the Secretary, the Chief of

Superintendent and his team are focused on the future of this great institution, and
the effective resolution of this matter requires that their focus remain right where it is.
Staff, the

We recognize the difficulty in holding accountable those who have left their positions of
leadership - and particularly those who have left military service altogether. However, given
the magnitude of this situation and to set a clear example of the level of performance
expected of future leaders, this Panel has concluded that every effort should be made to
formally document the failures of former leaders and to ensure that documentation becomes
a part of their official military records.
In total, this report contains 21 specific recommendations that this Panel believes can
put the Academy back on track and allow it to live up to its potential as a unique institution of
higher education that also trains future leaders of our Air Force. Some are already in various
stages of implementation. Others can be implemented administratively at the Academy or at
Air Force Headquarters, while some will require legislative action.

While Congress Vifill not necessarily have an implementation role in all 21 of our
recommendations, we would urge you to take an oversight and evaluation role in our
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recommendations as well as those found

in the

Agenda

for

Change and the Working Group

Report.

As this Panel concludes its work, it is our sincere hope that while their leaders make
every effort to solve this difficult problem, the vast majority of cadets will continue to strive to
live by the core values of integrity, service and excellence.
It is and should always be an honor
Academy.

to call oneself a cadet at the United States Air Force
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Congresswoman Candice

S. Miller
Opening Statement
Committee on Armed Services
Subcommittee on Total Force
September 23, 2003

OPENING STATEMENT

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
witnesses,

I

would Hke

to

thank the

Chairwoman TilHe K. Fowler, Major

General Michael Nardotti,Jr., and Ms. Anita
Carpenter, for testifying before this subcommittee on

what has become,

truly, a

scandal for our

Armed

Forces.

For nearly 200 years our military academies have

been based on the core values of honor and

Some of the

integrity.

greatest leaders in our nation's history,

including, John Pershing,

Dwight Eisenhower,
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Ulysses

S. Grant,

and Douglas

Mac Arthur

to

name

few, have lived by and believed in these core values.

Recent reports about rape and sexual assault have
cast a dark

shadow over

the integrity of our service

academies. If recent reports are accurate, more then

50 complaints of sexual misconduct have been
reported at the Air Force

Academy

alone since 1993,

with a majority of the perpetrators receiving

little

or

no punishment. Similar problems apparently have
also existed at Annapolis and

West Point

as well.

Indeed, there are apparently cases where a female
cadet has reported a sexual assault and instead of her
assailant receiving the appropriate condemnation, the
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female cadet herself has been subject to punishment
for

minor ancillary

This

is

disgraceful.

violations.

And

the simple fact that this

grave situation has been allowed to continue for so
long speaks to a lack of effective command, control,

and supervision and indeed, the seriousness of the
service academies' policy on rape and sexual assault.

Sexual assault

is

both a serious and incredibly

sensitive issue that needs to

immediately
the

be addressed

in order to preserve the

American people

in

our

confidence of

Armed Forces.
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On the positive

side,

I

am glad to

note that apparently

the Air Force has taken, in recent days,

important steps to

make

some

sure that these situations are

not repeated, including the removal of the Director in

charge of the Air Force

Academy and

the cadet code of behavior.

that only a

change

However

in the mentality at

a rewriting of

it

must be clear

our service

academies, backed up with effective action, not just
the written word, will ensure that this situation does

not reoccur.

I

look forward to working with Chairman

McHugh

and members of the Total Force subcommittee to
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ensure that this issue
properly.

Thank you.

is

addressed and resolved
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AN OPEN LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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22,
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by an independent body of a problem that has plagued
decade and quite possibly since the admission of women in 1976.
At the direction of Congress, the Secretary of Defense appointed seven private U.S. citizens with expertise
in the United States military academies, behavioral and psychological sciences and standards and practices
This report

is

the U.S. Air Force

the result of the

Academy

first investigatior*

for at least a

relating to proper treatment of sexual assault victims.

Based on the fact that these were the qualifications for the Panel members, we understood our charge
was to undertake an investigation and to make recommendations with a single priority in mind: the safety
and well-being of the women at the U.S. Air Force Academy. From our first meehng, 1 have been impressed
with the manner in which each member of the Panel has approached this difficult and complicated matter
with a single-minded determination to understand the plights of the victims in order to find a solution - a
solution that puts the victims

first,

either

by preventing sexual assaults or by providing victims recourse

to a

process and procedures that will support the victim and prosecute the assailant.

want

I

solemn

to thank

task.

my fellow Panel members who volunteered and

Each one of them contributed

in a

unique manner, emd

devoted

their

time and energies to this

this final report is a

testament to both

and their ability to work with the other members of the Panel toward a common set of
observations and recommendations. This has truly been a case of the whole being greater than the sum of
their talents

its

parts.

This report, however, represents

more than

We could not have completed this task

Panel.

talented

staff.

the hard

in the

work and dedication

of the seven

members

of the

time allotted without the incredible effort of our

who took time away from their regular professional
and energies to finding a solution to a problem that has plagued the
the Panel, I want to offer them my deepest gratitude and sincerest

Like the Panel members, these are people

responsibilities to devote their talents

Academy

for too long.

On behalf of

thanks for a job well done.

While

I

believe that the

recommendations contained

in this report

are the beginning of the solution to

the problem of sexual assault at the U.S. Air Force .Academy, they are just that: a beginning.

our review of nearly a decade of efforts to soh/e this problem that the

common

failure in

It is

clear

from

each of those

was the absence of sustained attention to the problem and follow-up on the effectiveness of the
Whatever steps are taken by the Academy, the Air Force, the Department of Defense or the
Congress as a result of this report, it is absolutely critical that those actions be reviewed sometime after their
implementation by those in a position to objectively evaluate their effectiveness. The women of the U.S. Air
efforts

solution.

Force

Academy desen-e no

less.

Sincerely,

\
Tillie

K. Fowler

Chairman
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1235 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 940
Arlington, Virginia

To
To
To

22202

Armed Services Committee
House Armed Services Committee

the Senate
the

the Secretary of Defense

We,

the appointed

members of the Panel

to

Review Sexual Misconduct Allegations

U.S. Air Force Academy, do hereby submit the results of our findings and
offer our best recommendations to improve the policies, procedures, and climate at
at the

the

Academy.

The Honorable

Tillie K. Fowler, Chair
Member of Congress. 1993-2001
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I.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The United

to

our nation.

will lead

women

States Air Force

The Academy

is

Academy

is

an

institution with a

responsible for the education

our military forces. The Academy's mission
to

become Air Force

officers

is

and

proud tradition of service

who

training of future officers

to "inspire

and develop young

with knowledge, character and

men and

motivated to

discipline;

lead the world's greatest aerospace-force in service to the nation". This national interest
requires the

The

Academy and
first

begin an era of
Today,

women

class of

its

governing leaders to be held to the highest of standards.

women

cadets arrived at the

men cmd women

comprise about one -fifth of our

and dedication allows our nation

to maintain

Sadly, this Panel found a

Academ)''s history

Academy 27

years ago and helped to

standing together to defend our nation and

chasm

an

Armed

all -volunteer

in leadership

— a chasm which extended

its

freedom.

admirable performance

their

force.

during the most

beyond

far

and

Forces,

its

campus

in

critical

time in the

Colorado Springs.

It is

became a

part

the Panel's belief that this helped create an envirorunent in which sexual assault

of life at the Academy.

The Air Force has known

for

many

the Academy. Despite that knowledge

and

years that sexual assault was a serious problem at
periodic attempts at intervention, the problem has

continued to plague the Academy to this day. The regular turnover of Air Force and

command

leadership, together with inconsistent
effective external oversight,

undermined

ten-year period from January

1,

efforts to alter the culture of the

Academy. During the

1993 through December 31, 2002, there were 142 allegations of

sexual assault at the Academy, for an average of

more than 14

and Air Force leaders knew or should have known
sign

Academy

supervision and a lack of meaningful and

and quite possibly signaled an even

that this data

allegations per year.

was

ai\

Academy

unmistakable warning

larger crisis.

For example, a February 14, 1997 presentation by the

Academy

to the Air Force

Inspector General ("Air Force IG"), Air Force Surgeon General and the Judge Advocate

General of the Air Force acknowledged that
to authorities. Recently, the

that a

May

stahstically, as

few as one

in ten rapes

2003 survey of Academy cadets showed that 80.8% of females

been victims of sexual

is

reported

Department of Defense Inspector General ("DoD IG") disclosed

assault at the

Academy did not report the

who

said they

have

incident.

Pagfl
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SEXl-'AL

MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE U.S.

Over the past decade, the Academy and

.AIR

FORCE ACADE-.fY

.Mr Force leadership

had

ir>creasing cause for

alarm, and should have aggressivelv changed the culture that allowed abuses to occur.
Unfortunately,
result,

Academy

leadership acted inconsistently and without a long-term plan. As a

female cadets entrusted to the Academy have suffered, sexual offenders

commissioned as Air Force

The sexual
According to the

officers

assault

May

and the reputation

problems

2003

DoD

at

of a line institution has

Academy

the

are real

may have

been

and continue

been

tarnished.

to this day.

IG survey of female cadets (Classes 2003-2006), 18.8%

reported they have been victims of at least one instcince of sexual assault or attempted sexual
assault in their time at the

said they

were victims

Academy. Included

of at least

Other recent indicators of problems

Academy's own survev

data,

which showed

believe that

women

changed

in the past ten years.

little

belong

in this

number

are 7.4°o of female cadets

one rape or attempted rape while

at the

found

in the inshtutional culture are

that

one

in five

who

Academy.

in the

responding male cadets do not

the Academy. Clearly, the Academ\-'s gender climate has

at

Recent widespread media attention caused the Air Force to address the problem of
sexual assault at the Academv. In

March

Force Chief of Staff General John

improvements

at the

P.

Academy known

2003, Air Force Secretary' James G.

Jumper announced a

Roche and

series of directives

as the Agenda for Change.

The new policy

and

corrects

Air

policy

many

of the conditions contributing to an environment that tolerates sexual misconduct. However,

the Agenda for Change

is

only a blueprint, and should be viewed as the

initial

step in reversing

years of institutional ineffectiveness.

In April 2003, Secretary

Roche made a step towards serious reform when he replaced

the Academy's leadership with a

W.

new

leadership team comprised of Lieutenant General John

Rosa, Superintendent; Brigadier General Johruiy A. VVeida,

Commandant

of Cadets; and

Colonel Debra D. Gray, Vice Conunandant of Cadets. Subsequently, General Rosa and his

have begun implementing changes
living

Page 2

in the

Academy's

staff

institutional culture, military training,

environment and sexual assault reporting processes.
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EXECUm'E SUMMARY

The Agenda
leadership,

is

Change

for

but in certain respects

does not go

it

important of these shortcomings

•

evidence that the Air Force, under Secretary Roche's

is

far

enough

to institutionalize

permanent change. The most

are;

Culture and Climate of the Academy. The Agenda for Change recognizes that

Academy

the sexual assault problems at the
institution, yet

culture
•

Academy,

serious about taking long-overdue steps to correct the problems at the

it

does not go

and gender climate

Command

at

enough

far

are related to the culture of the

to institute enduring changes in the

the Academy.

Supervision. The Agenda for Change does not address the need for

permement, consistent oversight by Air Force Headquarters leadership.
•

External Oversight. The Agenda for Change does not address the need to improve

•

Confidentiality Policy. The Agenda for

the external oversight provided

by the Academy's Board of Visitors.

Academy's confidential reporting policy
however,

it

removes

Change effectively eliminates the
so,

options for sexual assault victims to receive

critical

and treatment, and may

confidential counseling

doing

for sexual misconduct. In

unintended

result in the

consequence of reducing sexual assault reporting.

The Agenda for Change provides
culture, living environment,

establishing policies and procedures

Commanding

to

Academy's

new

mandates

for:

rules

improving the selection and training of Air Officers

and procedures

for cadets to

Code; requiring academic courses

to maintain dormitor}' safety

conduct themselves according to the

in leadership

security;

Honor

part of the core

fair

treatment and

respect.

The Panel understands

that recently

progress, but concluded that they
institutional culture

As

far as

implemented policy changes represent

do not go

and gender climate

at the

far

enough

to institute

significant

enduring changes in the

Academy.

the Academ)''s response today to sexual assaults, the Agenda for Change

established several progressive changes to ensure the

when

and

spirit of the

and character development as

academic curriculum; and improving Basic Cadet Training to reemphasize

mutual

institutional

ensure highly-qualified role models and leadership for male and female

cadets; promulgating
setting clearer

several positive changes to the

and education and training programs. These measures include

Academy

responding. The most noteworthy of these changes

is

is

proactive and meaningful

the establishment of an

Academy

Response Tecim ("ART") which provides a victim of sexual assault immediate assistance and
Pages
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ensures appropriate

and

is

command

impressed that

it

actions.

U.S.

AIR FORCE ACADEKff

The Panel conducted an extensive review of

the

ART

presents a significant step towcird achieving a consistent, appropriate

response to reports of sexual assault, and to restoring trust and confidence in the Academy's

handling of them. The Panel

is

confident that the

beyond the short-term implementation

ART has

the necessary foundations to endure

Change and

of the Agenda for

be available to future

will

generations of cadets.

The

Pcinel

is

also

encouraged

that,

while not required by the Agenda

for

Change, the Air

Force Office of Special Investigations ("AFOSI") has taken the initiative to develop advanced
trairiing in sexual assault investigations

The Panel

is

which

shall be

provided to

its

Academy agents.

concerned that the Agenda for Change essentially eliminates the Academy's

confidential reporting policy for sexual misconduct,

which removes

assault victims to receive confidential counseling

and treatment.

believes the

new

crihcal options for sexual

.Additionallv,

the Panel

policy overlooks an established form of privileged communication, the

psychotherapist-patient privilege, and

may

have the unintended consequence oi reducmg

sexual assault reporting.

The Panel also reviewed the Agenda for Change provision that

essentiall\-

provides for

blanket amnest)' to victims of sexual assault. This could have the unintended consequence of
creating the misperception that

some

amnesty has been used as a sword, rather than

cadets to avoid accountability for their

In

June 2003, after completing her investigation of sexual assault

Force General Counsel

Mary

L.

as a shield,

bv

own misconduct.

Walker released The Report of

the

Academv, Air

at the

Working Group Concerning

Deterrence of and Response to Incidents of Sexual Assauh at the U.S. Air Force Academ\j {"Working

Group

Report").

The Working Group

Report covers

and sexual assault reporting procedures
However,

many

Academv

life,

which occurred

at the

last

Any credible assessment of

The Working Group

for the faOure

sexual misconduct problems over the last ten vears must

Academy and

.Air

Force Headquarters

Report failed to do that even though the Air Force General

Counsel had access to considerably more information, resources and time

The Panel believes

that the Air Force General

Counsel attempted

tor

study than did

to shield Air Force

Headquarters from public criticism by focusing exclusively on events at the -•Xcademw

Page 4

policies

ten vears.

Academy.

include an examination of the responsibility of both

the Panel.

Academv

during the

avoids any reference to the responsibility of Air Force Headquarters

it

of leadership

leadership.

aspects of cadet

in place at the
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The matters

listed

below are among those known

to the

Working Group, but not included or only obliquely referenced in

•

its

members and

staff of the

report:

Since at least 1993, the highest levels of Air Force leadership have

known

of

serious sexual misconduct problems at the Academy;

•

Air Force Headquarters

knew

that over the objections of the

Academy maintained unique

AFOSI

the

confidential reporting procedures for sexual

assaults deviating from the procedures of the Air Force. Air Force Headquarters
failed to

how

monitor

the procedures affected the ability to investigate and

prosecute sexual assault offenders;

•

In 1996, the Air Force

Surgeon General

serious sexual misconduct at the

notified the Air Force Chief of Staff of

Academy, but there

is

no evidence

that the Air

Force fully invesrigated the matter. The Office of the Air Force Surgeon General
participated in the General Counsel's

Working Group, but the Working Croup

Report omits any reference to this apparently

•

In 1996-1997, a

changes

in the

team of lawyers

unheeded warning;

at Air Force

Headquarters recommended

Academy's sexual assault reporting procedures. The Academy

rejected the changes,

and Air Force Headquarters deferred, but

failed to

monitor

whether the procedures were working;

•

In 2000-2001, after

AFOSI again complained

that the

assault reporting procedures interfered witli
assaults, Air Force

After the

its

Academ/s unique

sexual

ability to investigate sexual

Headquarters formed another team to review the procedures.

Academy and AFOSI reached an agreement

competing concerns, Air Force Headquarters

failed to

to

resolve

monitor whether

their
it

was

ever implemented;

•

The 2000-2001 working group was chaired by the Air
Counsel (National Security
attorney led the 2003

makes only a

&

Force's Deput}' General

Military Affairs). Three years later, that

Working Group. Nevertheless, the Working Group

brief reference to the earlier review

attorney's substantial involvement;

and

fails to

same
Report

disclose the lead

and

Page 5

87
PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE U.S. AIR FORCE ACADEMY

In 2000, the Senate

•

allegations

by the former Air Force Surgeon General that sexual misconduct

Academy

the

Services Committee requested an investigation of

Armed

in

at

1996 had not been investigated or had been covered up. The

Air Force Inspector General conducted a limited 30-day review, but did not

problems

investigate serious institutional

after 1996.

The Working Group

Report

does not mention the 2000-2001 review, even though the Air Force IG was a

member of the Working Group.
The Working Croup Report
undermining

its

sexual assault

at

own
the

credibility

Academy

failed to chronicle these significant matters

and conclusion

that there

and

events,

was "no systemic acceptance

of

avoidance of resporisibility." The Panel cannot

(or] institutional

agree with that conclusion given the substantial cimount of information regarding the sexual

and the Academv's instituhonal culture available

assaults

to leaders at the

Academy, Air Force

Headquarters and the Office of the .Mi Force General Counsel.

The

Academy and

of the

failure

aggressively and in a timely

to eliminate causes of serious

problems was

a

Those responsible should be held accountable.

failure of leadership.

The Panel

Air Force Headquarters leadership to respond

and corrmvitted way

is

well aware of the difficult^' in holding accountable those

their positions of responsibilit\-

Department of Defense.

We

do

and now
believe,

beyond

are

who

long ago

left

the reach of meaningful action by the

however, that

to

make

clear the exceptional level of

leadership performance expected of future leaders in these posihons and to put the failures of

the recently removed
accounting.

To

Academy

leadership in perspective, there

the extent possible, the failures of the

leaders over the past ten vears should be

During the

on

last

made

a matter of

official

must be some

further

Air Force Headquarters

record.

decade, attention to the Academy's sexual assault problems depended

the interest of the leadership in place

resources. This shortcoming in consistent

an absence

Academy and

and on other competing demands

and

effective

command

for time

and

supervision co-existed with

of meaningful external oversight from entities such as the Academv-'s Board of

Visitors. This resulted in depriving the

Academy

of long-term solutions to the

complex problem

of sexual assault.

The Panel examined and reviewed the culture and environment

found an atmosphere
of sexual assaults and
Page 6

that
is

helped foster a breakdown

perhaps the most

difficult

in values

which led

element of the problem to

at

the Academy.

It

to the pervasiveness
solve.
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The American people expect the highest
Forces. This expectation

is

a strong

perpetrators of these crimes over the past decade.

Honor Code System and

in the

our

integrity of officers serving in

obligation at the Air

Force

Academy and was

The Panel has found

Armed

discarded by

deficiencies in the

Academy's character development programs

that helped

contribute to this intolerable environment.

The Panel recognizes
to live

more

by the core vedues of

that the

overwhelming majority of cadets are honorable and

integrity, service

and

excellence. Yet, these core values

need

strive

to

be

effectively interjected into real life situations for cadets.

Through

its

investigation

and examination of

reasons this trusted institution failed

many

of

its

this crisis, the

students.

Panel has determined the

The Panel

offers substantive

reconunendations to repair the Academy's foundation in hopes of restoring trust in
leadership and

its

mission.

The

situation

demands

changes. These changes are incremental and cannot be
collectively agree

it

is in

its

institutional changes, including cultural

made

our nation's interest to ensure the

overnight.

Members

vitality of this

of this Panel

Academy

for future

generations.

Page?
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II.

INTRODUCTION
On

April 16, 2003, the President signed H.R. 1559' which, in Title V, §§ 501

-

503,

established a Panel to review sexual misconduct allegatiorts at the United States Air Force

Academy. Section 502 of the

statute requires the Panel to study the pohcies,

organizational practices and cultural elements of the
sexual misconduct, including sexual assaults

The

and

Academy

rape, at the

that

management and

were conducive

Academy.

to allowing

(See Appendix A.)

be composed of seven members, serving without

statute requires that the Panel

pay, appointed by the Secretary of Defense from

among

expertise in behavioral and psychological sciences

and standards and

private U.S. citizens

who have

practices relating to

proper treatment of sexual assault victims, as well as the United States Military Academies.' The
statute further requires that the Secretary,

Committees on Armed Services
Chairman

of the Panel from

in consultation

of the Senate

select the

among its members.'

In performing this study, the legislation directs the Panel

1.

with the Chairmen of the

and House of Representatives,

to:

Review the actions taken by Academy personnel and other Air Force

officials in

response to allegations of sexual assault at the Academy;
2.

Review the

directives issued

by the Air Force pertaining

to sexual

misconduct

at

the Academy;
3.

Review the effectiveness of the process, procedures and

Academy to respond
4.

used

at the

women

at the

policies

to allegations of sexxial misconduct;

Review the relahonship between the command climate

Academy, including

factors that

reporting sexual misconduct,

may have produced

and the circumstances

for

a fear of retribution for

that resulted in the sexual

misconduct;

'

H.R. 1559, 108th Cong. (2003) (subsequently enacted as part of the Emergency Wartime AppropriaBons

Act of 2003, Pub.
'

L.

No. 108-11, 117

Stat.

559 (2003)).

Pub. L. No. 108-11, § 501(b), 117 Stat. 559 (2003).

'M.

at

§ 501(c).
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Review, evaluate and assess such other matters and materials as the Panel
considers appropriate; and

6.

Review and incorporate as appropriate the findings of the ongoing studies being
conducted by the Air Force General Counsel and Inspector General.*

The duties ot the Panel include carrying out the study outlined above and reporting not
later

than ninety davs after

recommendations

its

first

meeting as

to

its

findings,

conclusions and any

for legislahve or administrative action that the Panel considers appropriate in

light of the study.

The Panel did not investigate
That function

is

specific allegations of crinunal assault in particular cases.

being carried out by the

DoD

IG and the Air Force IG. (A

used in

The Panel began

its

this report is

B.)

work and held
In

its initial

acronyms

listing of

included as Appendix

May and June

organizational meeting

,

,,^

of

following

2003,

^

^

,

.

enactment of H.R. 1dd9, Secretary of Defense

on June 23, 2003.

Donald H. Rumsfeld appointed seven

private

citizens to serve as

members

of the Panel. After

consulting with the

Chairmen

of the Senate and

House Armed Services Committees, Secretary Rumsfeld appointed former Congresswoman
Tillie K.

Fowler as the Panel's Chairman. (Biographies of the Panel

Statf are included as

Appendix

The Panel began

its

C & Appendix D,

work and held

That same day, the Panel also conducted
Connmittee Hearing

Room in Washington,

its initial

its first

orgaruzational meeting

public hearing in the

(R-CO) described the sexual assault problems

interaction with former .-Academy cadets

Secretary of the Air Force

procedures mandated

b\-

a bst of Panel

on June

House Armed

23, 2003.

Services

D.C.

The Panel called several witnesses during the Jime
.•Ulard

Members and

respecbvely.)

who

23,

2003 hearing. Senator Wayne

at the

Academy and

outlined his

claimed to have been victims of sexual

James G. Roche explained the changes

the Agenda for Change, which he

to

Academy

and Air Force Chief of

assault.'

policies

and

Staff General

Investigations by the Department of Defense Inspector General ("DoD IG") and the Air Force Inspector
General ('Air Force IG") have not been completed as of the date of this report.
'
Statement of Senator Wa\-ne AUard (R-CO) to the Panel in Washington, DC. Gune 23. 2003).

'
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John

P.

Jumper issued on March

26, 2003."

General Jumper was out of the country and could

not attend the hearing. In his place, .Assistant Vice Chief of Staff of the Air Force Lieutenant

General Joseph H. Wehrle,

Jr.

responded

to questions

about the Agaida for Change. Mary

L.

Walker, General Counsel of the Air Force, attended the hearing and summarized the Report of
the

Working Group Concerning Deterrence of and Response

to Incidents

of Sexual Assault at the U.S.

Air Force Academy {"Working Group Report").

Ms. Walker also answered questions about
the Working Group Report, which had been

^^^'^^ '« Colorado Springs, the Panel

made public

met with a

a few days before the hearing.'

total

of ten former or current

female cadets who said they had been
In

Panel

the

July,

Colorado Springs, Colorado
fact-finding.

On

the

traveled

to

^^^'''"^ assaulted at the Academy.

to continue its

morning of

July 10, the

Pcmel met in closed session with; former
cadets

who

stated they

had been victims

from members of TESSA,' a rape
representatives of the

cadets from

all

crisis

of sexual assault at the

Academy. That afternoon, the Panel

four cadet classes.

It

Academy. The Panel

also heard

counseling center based in Colorado Springs, and from

also

met with

visited the

Academy and met with

representatives of the Academy's former

leadership, including Lieutenant General Bradley C.

Hosmer,

USAF

(Ret.),

and with the

Academy's new leadership team comprised of Lieutenant General John W. Rosa,
Superintendent; Brigadier General Johnny A. Weida,

Debra D. Gray, Vice Commandant
Panel

member

of Cadets.

While

Commandant
at the

of Cadets; and Colonel

Academy, Chairman Fowler and

Anita M. Carpenter met in private with three current female cadets

who

confided that they had been victims of sexual assault at the Academy, but had reported the

crimes too late for authorities to take legal action. While in Colorado Springs, the Panel met

with a

total of ten

former or current female cadets

who said

they had been sexually assaulted at

the Academy. Although this represents only a small sampling of cadets, the information

provided by the
issues at the

'

women was

important to the Panel's understanding of sexual misconduct

Academy.

Statement of James G. Roche, Secretary of the Air Force, to the Panel

in

Washington, D.C. June

23,

2003).
'

Statement of Marv

L.

Walker, Air Force General Counsel, to the Panel

in

Washington, D.C. (June 23,

2003).
"

TESSA

(Trust-Education-Safety-Support-Action)

is

an independent non-profit community

organization serving El Paso and Teller Counties, Colorado.

services

TESSA provides a 24-hour domestic

violence/sexual assault hotline, victim advocacy services, victim counseling

and community education.
Pagell
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On

July 11, 2003, the Panel held

its

second public hearing

Springs, Colorado. During the hearing, the Panel

Academy's immediate

Superintendent of the Academy; Brigadier General
Cadets; and Colonel Laurie

S.

Slavec,

S.

former

Taco Gilbert

34""

is

included as Appendix

E.)

The

former

III,

Training

organizational chart showing the leadership positions at the

Change

Colorado

to question the

Lieutenant General John R. Dallager, former

leadership,

past

at City Hall in

had an opportunity

Commandant

of

Wing Commander. (An

Academy

prior to the

Agenda

for

Panel also received public statements at the hearing

from the Academy's new leadership; General Rosa, General Weida and Colonel Gray.

Alma Guzman, USAF

Lieutenant Colonel

Lieutenant Colonel Robert
cind Janet Kerr

.\fter

and

completing

The Panel

(For reference, a

Jackson, head

the

of the

Academ/s

Victim Advocate Coordinator,

Academy's Behavioral Science Department,

Jennifer Bier of TESSA also testified at the July 11 hearing.

knowledge of Academy
of sources.

J.

(Ret.),

key

included as Appendix

On July 31,

its visit

policies

to the

and

Academy, the Panel contacted additional people with

practices

Staff also interviewed

to the

names and

and reviewed documents obtained from a

former cadets and Air Force and

General John Jumper; Kelly

Management and Personnel; Joseph
L. Jerry

and

Policy; Lieutenant General

member

Raymond

Schmitz, Department of

Huot, Air Force Inspector General;

P.

Academy.

of Faculty at the

Dr. Laura L. Miller

and Panel

Academy where they attended segments

with cadets and representatives of selected

August

E.

Hansen, Department of Defense Deputy Inspector General

and Brigadier General David H. Wagie, Dean

In early August, Panel

its office

Craven, Deputy Assistant Secretary

F.

Defense Inspector General;

On

in this report is

2003, the Panel met in closed session and conducted fact finding at

of the Air Force for Force

finding trip to the

named

positions of the individuals

variety

officers.

F.)

in Arlington, Virgirua, with

for Inspection

Academy

19, 2003, the Panel

Staff

made

a second fact-

of Basic Cadet Training,

and met

Academy offices.
met

in executive session at its office in Arlington,

Virginia.

On September

5,

2003, the Panel

met

in executive session

hearing in Arlington, Virginia to deliberate about the issues

Pace i;

it

deemed

to

and also held a public
be central to

its

report.

"
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AWARENESS AND ACCOUNTABILITY
"There's been signals at this institution for years that we've
institution

and as an Air

Force, loe liaven't

Lieutenant General John

Academy on

Parents'

W.

Rosa, Superintendent, addressing parents at the

Weekend, August

drum

"[Tjhere's been a consistent

had problems, and as an

embraced them.

29,

2003'

beat' since 1993."

Brigadier General Francis X. Taylor,

USAF (Ret.),

former Commander,

Headquarters AFOSI, addressing the confidentiality program and
efforts to

AFOSI

be informed of cases"

Since at least 1993, senior civilian and military leadership of the Air Force and the Air

Force

Academy were aware

harassment

at the

of serious

Academy. According

and

1,

Academy,

an average of more than 14

allegations of sexual assaults

known

problems of sexual assault and gender

Working Group Report, during the ten-year period

1993 to December 31, 2002, there were 142 allegations of sexual assault at the

from January
for

persistent

to the

allegations per year. (A chart

made by Academy

cadets

is

showing the number of

included as Appendix G.)

Little is

about the majority of these allegations, including whether or not they could have been

substantiated.

The Academy sought

and success through a

and Commandants
listed in

to address the

problems with varying degrees of attention

series of Air Force Secretaries, Chiefs of Staff,

of Cadets. (The individuals

who

Academy Superintendents

held these positions from 1993-2003 are

Appendix H.)

Throughout the past ten
investigations,

years, there

have been numerous incidents and indicators,

working group discussions and high-level meetings on sexual assault and

harassment issues

at the

Academy, which separately or

collectively

should have alerted Air

Force leadership to the existence of a significant problem. The efforts to address the problems,

while

certaii\ly well-intentioned,

critical

issues facing the

Pam Zubeck, Sex Scandal Real, Rosa
SPRINGS GAZETTE, Aug. 30, 2003.
'

'°

Interview by Working

D.C. Ouly

were ad hoc and competed

for attention

with myriad other

Department of the Air Force and the Academy. Frequent changes

Group with

Says:

Academy Superintendent Talks

Brigadier General Francis X. Tayior,

to

Parents of Cadets.

USAF (Ret.),

in

in

COLO.

Washington,

16, 2003).
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leadership inherent in militaiy service resulted in short-term fixes for a long-term problem. As

a result, a consistent, systemic approach to achieving enduring solutions eluded the Air Force.

The chronology of events

that follows details the salient facts

to the Air Force's inability to produce historical records and
fully

known

to the Panel.

documents required

understand events, and because of the limited time mandated for

investigation, the chronology

by the Panel

is

Oue

to trace cind

this

Panel's

incomplete. Nonetheless, the chronology of events assembled

reveals that there has

been an awareness

at the

highest levels of Air Force

leadership of a serious sexual assault problem at the Academy- (A graphic representation of the
timeline of events

is

included as Appendix J.)

A. Chronology of Events (1993-2003)

1993 (18 allegations of sexual assault)"
Prior to 1993,

few sexual assaults were reported

combined with the perceived high
to believe the institution

was

at

quality of entering cadets

the

Academv

may have

virtually free of sexual assaults."

''

This infrequenc\-

caused Academy leaders

That perception ended following

a sexual assault incident in February 1993. In response to that incident. Brigadier General
Bradley C. Hosmer, then-Superintendent, reached out to the cadet populabon, and to female
cadets specifically, to gain a better understanding of cadet experiences and perceptions about
sexual assault and sexual harassment. General Hosmer's meeting with female cadets
clear that the

problem was

significantly greater than

General Hosmer attempted to improve the
to the

made

Academy envirorunent by making changes

Academy's sexual assault response program, including establishing an informal policy of

confidential reporting."

Development ("CGD")

General Hosmer commissioned the Academy's Center
to

for Chciracter

improve the overall character of the cadet population through

educafional and training programs.

He

also created a sexual assault hotline operated outside

" Working Group Report, at 71.

" Connie

J.

Johnmeyer, The Road

to

"Zero Tolerance" and Beyond:

A

History of Sexual Assault Seroices at the

United States Air Force Academy, Paper presented at the lOS"" Annual Convention of the American
Psychological Association, Chicago, IL (Aug. 16, 1997), at

4.

"k
" Working Group Report, at 10-11.
" Prior to the changes made by Brigadier General Bradley C. Hosmer,
required any staff

member made aware

Special Investigations ("AFOSI")

Page 14

it

he previously had suspected."

and

USAF (Ret.),

Cadet Wing policy

of sexual assault to report the incident to the Air Force Office of

to their chain of

command
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the chain of

command

confidentiality.

that offered counseling to victims of sexual assault with the assurance of

Another change was the

Under

the reporting of sexual assaults.

punishment of victim misconduct

institution of a victim

the

amnesty

in order to

amnesty program

the chain of

polic)',

command

to

encourage

could forego

encourage the reporting of sexual assault."

General Hosmer made the changes to the Academy's sexual assault reporting policy on
his

own

initiative.

assault reporting

informed

Although he did not consult with or formally coordinate

and

confidentiality

Pcinel Staff that

Secretary Sheila

E.

AFOSl

Headquarters,

he had frequent conversations about the

Widnall.

He

his vision of a sexual

program with Air Force Headquarters, General Hosmer

also said that he never received

policy with then-Air Force

any indication from Air Force

or the Academj^s Security Police that there were problems or

disagreements with his program."

1994 (14 allegations of sexual assault)"
(GAO)

In January 1994, the General Accounting Office

released a report on sexual

harassment at each of the Service Academies which indicated that
harassment

at all of the Service

Academies

at a level that

women

were subject to

portended a serious threat

to the

mission of the Academies to educate and train future nubteuy officers." While the focus of the

GAO report was sexual harassment and not sexual assault,
the problems with the culture

and climate

at the Air Force

it

provided a significant indicator of

Academy,

particularly with regard to

women. However,

the

Working Group found no evidence

took any direct action in response to

this

GAO report.'"

its

treatment of

Another more

Academy was
sexual assault

that the

direct indicator in 1994 of the extent of sexual assault

Academy

problems

at the

the formation of a support group initially comprised of five cadet vicdms of

who did

not have confidence in the Academy's formal reporhng system."

In July 1994, General

Hosmer

retired,

and Lieutenant General Paul

E. Stein

became the

Superintendent at the Academy.

'*
Working Group Report, at 10-11.
" Interview by Panel Staff with General Hosmer,
" Working Croup Report, at 71.

' General Accounting Office

(GAO)

Report,

USAF (Ret.),

in

Washington, D.C. (Aug.

18, 2003).

DoD Service Academies: More Actions Needed

to Eliminate

Sexual Harassment Oan. 1994).

" Working Croup
" Connie

J.

Report, at 14.

Johnmeyer, The Road

to

"Zero Tolerance" and Beyond, at 11.
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1995 (17 allegations of sexual assault)"
In

March 1995, the

GAO

issued a follow-on report to

its

1994 investigation of sexual

harassment, and concluded that the issue had not improved at any of the Academies ° The

1995 report also found that

GAO's

78%

of the Air Force Academy's female cadets responding to the

surve\- indicated that they

had been harassed on

a reoccurring basis

— a significant

increase from a study conducted in 1990-91.'*

Beginning in 1995, the

Academy

("PAT"), comprised of cadets, faculty and

The PAT concluded

that

established a Social Climate Process Action
staff, to

"most cadet sexual

assaults are not reported," that "the ir\stitution

unaweire of the extent of the problem and cannot plan

how

major impediment to the reporting of assault was a lack of

proposed several guidelines
guidelines were

to:

for

Team

study sexual assault issues at the Academy.

best to respond, "**
trust in the

responding to sexual assault

in the

and "that

system."" The

is

a

PAT

Academy's system. The

"1) respect the victim's privacy, dignity, confidentiality

and

desires; 2)

provide strong and consistent support to the victims; 3) provide sensitive services; 4) adjudicate
cases to the

fullest

extent possible; and

5)

provide feedback to victims

and the Cadet Wing

to

ensure the knowledge and understanding of changes in the system."'" Several changes were

implemented throughout the

year, including establishment of the Sexual Assault Services

Branch within the Cadet Counseling and Leadership Development Center" and establishment
of the Sexual .Assault Services Committee ("SASC") in

November 1995."

The Commandant chaired the SASC and met monthly with

its

24 members." The

Committee's purpose was to integrate the various sexual assault services
facilitate the

assault cases

exchange of information among

its

participants

at the

and issues."

" Working Crouv Report, at 71.
" GAO Report. DoD Seroice Academies: Update on Extent of Sexual Harassment (Mar. 1995).
" Id. at 8.
" Memorandum from Lieutenant Colonel Molly Hall, USAF, to Lieutenant General Paul E.
(Ret.),

Superintendent, U.S. Air Force

" Connie J. Johruneyer, The Road
" Id. at 14.
"

Id.

at 16.

"W.
" Working Grouv Report, at 14.
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In 1995, General Stein took several actions to address the issues of sexual assault at the

Academy, including pressing

more senior and experienced
Agent with specialized

to

fill

the position of

and arranging

officer

AFOSI Detachment Commander with
for the

a

assignment of a female Special

training in investigating sexual assault.'^

After General

Stein learned

about the existence of the cadet sexual assault

"underground" support group, he arranged

more about the nature

to attend

some

of the sexual assault situation at the

of

its

meetings in order to learn

Academy and

the views of female

sexual assault victims." During the victim support group discussions. General Stein learned that

some female cadets who were

victims of sexual assault did not

want

to report the incidents to

law enforcement. Instead, they chose to obtain support from other victims and not make a
formal report that would involve the chain of command.'* By listening to victims' accounts of

General Stein learned that there were perpetrators of sexual assault in the

their experiences.

who

cadet ranks

ulHmately would be commissioned as

officers.

1996 (15 allegations of sexual assault^
By

1996, Air Force Headquarters recognized that the procedures to address sexual

assault, initially

put in place by General Hosmer, were not working as expected. The

confidential reporting system instituted by General

counselors

who encouraged

Hosmer depended

victims to report crimes to

appears that over time, counselors did not perform

AFOSI and

this function

for its success

the chain of

and the

on

command.

investigation

It

and

prosecution of sexual assaults became secondary to victim treatment and counseling. The result

was

that the confidential reporting

program provided counseling

also interfered with the timely investigation

The

conflict

between confidential reporting and the investigation and prosecution of

perpetrators resurfaced in early 1996
after the incident.

for sexual assault victims but

and prosecution of assaults.

On

when AFOSI

February' 17, 1996, a

allegedly sexually assaulted a female cadet in her

of confidentiality, there

was a delay

did not learn of a sexual assault unfil days

male member of the Academy football team

dorm room. By honoring

in reporting the sexual assault."

the

Academy

On March

8,

policy

1996,

"W.atl2.
" Interview bv Panel

Staff with Colonel Hall in Bethesda,

Md. (Aug.

26, 2003).

"Id.

" Working Group Report, at 71.
" Memorandum from Air Force Public
Staff (May 2, 1996).

Affairs to the Secretary of the Air Force

and the Air Force Chief of
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Headquarters,

AFOSI prepared an AFOSI ITEM

report

on the

According to the ITEM, the victim reported the assault

("AOC") on February

20,

but

AFOSI

incident for the Air Force IG.

to her Air Officer

explained the victim did not want to "officially" report the incident and the
it

Commanding
The

did not learn of the assault until February 23.

AOC

AOC did not report

because of the Academy policy of confidentiality."

In

March 1996, upon learning of

this incident. Brigadier

General Robert A. Hoffman,

then -Commander of AFOSI, sent his Staff Judge Advocate and a forensic expert to the

Academy

Academy

to review the

way

sexual assault cases were being addressed. The AFOSI's visit to the

identified several areas of

concern regarding the reporting requirements, victim

and the relationship between Academy

confidentiality,

summarv noted

the

Academy program was unbalanced,

officials

and AFOSI." The AFOSI

reinforced a "system vkdthin a system,"

jeopardized the safety of other cadets and the ability to bring the offender to
result in the

commissioning of an unsuitable

justice,

and could

officer."

Lieutenant General Richard T. Swope, the Air Force IG, directed am Air Force

Headquarters review of the Academy's policies and procedures
cases.

A

multidisciplinary

Office, Headquarters

plans to go

to the

for

handling sexual assault

team of representatives from the Air Force Judge Advocate General's

AFOSI, and the Air Force Surgeon General's

Academy and provide

assistance.

Office,

was

established with

However, General Stein advised that he

preferred that the team remain in Washington, D.C. to conduct

its

review of the

Academ/s

proposed operating instruction on Sexual Assault Victim Assistance and Notification
Procedures. As General Stein requested, the team did not travel to the Academy.
teeuTv received a draft of the

assault issues.

Among

Academy's proposed Operating

other matters, the team

was

to assist the

of the Academy's proposed draft as possible, while providing
better aligning

On

it

The review

Instruction for handling sexual

Academy by adopting

more balance

to the

as

much

program and

with the Air Force VictimAVitness Assistance Program."

April 22, 1996, the Chief of the Admirustrative

Air Force Judge Advocate General's Office, provided a

Law

Branch, General

Law

Division,

summary and assessment

of the

Academy's proposed Operating Instruction 36-10 on "Sexual Assault Victim Assistance and

" However, the victim had been examined at the

clinic

and Cadet Couixseling Center

photographs of the victim's bruises. See AFOSI ITEM, "CSC
in Dorm."
" Summarv of Headquarters AFOSI visit to USAFA.
"Id.

"Id.
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The memorarxdum concluded

Notification Procedures.""

Instruction gave the victim a disproportionate

amount

the proposed Operating

that

of control over the situation

and was

at

odds with the need for investigation and punishment of offenders. Additionally, the Operating
Instruction allowed for delayed investigations that could result in "lost or contaminated

evidence and that

commanders and other

generally divested of authority to report

officials are

crimes to law enforcement or OSI in complete abdication of their fundamental responsibility
for discipline. VVTiile the

Academy's motive may be good, commanders and other responsible

Air Force officials should never be permitted, expected, or encouraged to turn a blind eye to

criminal achvit\', nor should they have to straddle a fence

wondering which

'crimes' they

should report and which they should keep secret.""

The memorandum

further stated that the proposed instruction

attempting to create a dual-track process
disclosure

take a

and invesrigation

—

—

one

in a single chain of

On June

26, 1996,

in

allowing

people and opined that the "Air Force would

good drubbing from parents. Congress, the

particular policy." "

was flawed

totally confidential, the other

press,

you name

it,

if

we pursue

this

General Swope forwarded to General Stein the Air Force

Headquarters' revision of the proposed instruction.

On December
forth the

12, 1996,

General Stein sent General Swope a

memorandum

and Notification Procedures."'" The

draft instruction required all

gathered, excluding names, to the
Investigations ("SPOI").
to report the assault,

Academy personnel

which reported the assault and

sexual assaults to the Cadet Counseling Center,

Commandant

of Cadets

and the

depending on the Commandant's inherent

was viewed as

a

Memorandum from

victim's decision not

problem

was not

in that cadet victims

upon learning

J. Sanborn, USAF, Chief, Administrative Law Branch,
OASM), General Law Division (AF/IA) (Apr. 22, 1996).

Colonel Jarisse

to report

informafion

authority, but this

could be misled as to the parameters of the confidenhality program and,

the Military Justice Division

all

Securitv' Polic}' Office of

The Commandant of Cadets could override the

expressly stated in the instruction. This omission

"

setting

Academy's proposed Academy Instruction 51-201, "Cadet VictimAVitness Assistance

of a

to Chief of

"Id.

The Air Force Headquarters revision of the proposed 34 TRW Operating Instruction 36-10
accommodate the Academy's objectives while providing a more balanced
approach to the inherent conflict between victim confidentiality and reporting requirements. The revision
attempted to strike the balance needed, requiring that the Commandant of Cadets be provided notice of

"

Id.

incorporated changes to

all

sexual assault cases with authority to override a victim's desire not to pursue investigation of the

assault

when

it

is

in the best interests of the

Cadet Wing and/or the Air Force. Otherwise, confidentiality

regarding the victim's identity would be honored.

" Memorandum from General Stein, Superintendent,
Air Force IG (SAF/IG) (Dec. 12, 1996).

USAFA

to Lieutenant

General Richard T. Swope,
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override decision, could lead them to distrust the

command

leadership."

General Stein also forwarded to General Swope the draft Academy Ir«truction that indicated
his intent to request a waiver of regulations requiring medical personnel to report sexual
assaults to

AFOSI.

During

this

Commander, AFOSI was

time that General Hoffman,

concerns about the inadequacy of the Academ\''s sexual assault reporting
the Air Force Surgeon General

became aware, and advised

broader concerns regarding a climate

women and had the

Hall,

Academy

that

the Office of

seruor Air Force leadership, of even

appeared

to foster arumosity

toward

potential of contributing to the sexual assault problem.

In April 1996, the Air Force

Molly

at the

asserting his

polic\',

Surgeon General temporarily assigned Lieutenant Colonel

Chief of Psychiatry at Andrews Air Force Base and a psychiatric consultant to the

Surgeon General,

to the

Academy

Inspector General to conduct an inquiry into problems of

cooperation and coordination between the Mental Health Unit and the Cadet Counseling
Center. During her investigation. Colonel Hall uncovered information relating to sexual assault
issues at the

In

Edgar

Academy."

May

1996, Colonel Hall briefed the

R. .Anderson,

.Air

Force Surgeon General, Lieutenant General

and the Deputy Surgeon General, Major General Charles H. Roadman, on

the findings of her investigation, including inlbrmation concerning sexual assault issues.
Shortlv after the briefing, General Anderson requested that Colonel Hall provide

him with

a

written outline of the infommtion."

On

June

3,

1996, General Anderson, Genercil

Roadman and Colonel

Hall

met with

HaU

then-Chief of Staff of the Air Force, General Ronald R. Fogleman. At the meeting. Colonel
briefed General

problem

Fogleman regarding sexual

of sexual assault

Academy, and asserted

assaults at the

and victimization continues

cultural or instituHonal value system. This climate

at the

Academy

promotes

obtaining help, and increases the victim's fear of reprisal."

in large

that "the

measure due

silence, discourages victims

*•

to a

from

Colonel Hall also stated that the

Academ}- lacked a coordinated policy linking the various support agencies into a safety net for

" Intenriev,- by

Panel Staff with Colonel Harlan G. Wilder,

Office of the Judge Advocate General, Headquarters

USAF (Ret.),

USAF,

Chief,

General

Law Division,

in Arlington, Va. (Aug. 14, 2003); see also

Memorandum (rom Colonel Wilder to General Swope. .Air Force IG
" Interview bv Panel Staff with Colonel HaU in Bethesda, Md. (Aug.

(Jan. 15, 1997).

26, 2003).

"Id.

" Memorandum from Colonel Hall to General
Page 20
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the traumatized victim, and expressed concern about the policy that allowed victims ot assault
to

determine

On

if

they v/ould identity the perpetrator or press charges/'

June

and sent a note

1996, General

4,

to

stated that "there are
surgerj',

Anderson followed up on the meeting of the previous day

General Fogleman reiterating his concerns. In the note. General Anderson

CRIMES

FELONIES

here -

.

.

this patient {the

.

Academy] needs major

not just a band aid.""

General Fogleman told Panel Staff that he instructed Surgeon General Anderson to

keep Colonel Hall actively involved

Fogleman did not have a
that

the issue. During an interview with Panel Stafi, General

in

clear recollection of his response to the

June

1996 meeting.

3,

He

said

he may have directed creation of an Integrated Process Team to conduct an in-depth study

of the problem,"
(Ret.)."

When

and possibly assigned the matter

Major General Susan

to

contacted, General Pamerlau said that she did not recall

L.

Pamerlau,

USAF

any involvement

in a

study of sexual assault at the Academy."

According to General Fogleman, Air Force leadership

Academy during

knew

of the sexual assault

and both Air Force Headquarters and

problems

at the

Academy

leadership were engaged in a variety of actions to address the issue." General

Fogleman believes the sexual
Stein,

his

term

assault issue

and that General Stein was

fully

actions to address the problem. General

wdth then-Air Force Secretary Sheila
issue at the

E.

in office,

was

a topic of several discussions

engaged on the

issue

Fogleman does not

and had

recall

Widnall, but believes she

any

with General

initiated a variety of

specific conversations

knew

of the sexual assault

Academy."

Secretary Widnall

was

visibly involved in issues regarding

including serving as co-chair of the
in the Military,* so

it

DoD Task

stands to reason that she

sexual assault at the Academy. By the

same

women

in the military,

Force on Discrimination and Sexual Harassment

may have been aware

token, other Secretaries

of issues concerning

and Chiefe of

Staff,

before

"Id.

" Note from Lieutenant General Edgar R. Anderson, USAF,

Air Force Surgeon General (AF/SG), to

General Ronald R. Fogleman. USAF, Air Force Chief of Staff (Sept. 2, 2003).
" Telephone interview by Panel Staff with General Fogleman, USAF (Ret.) (Aug.

4,

2003).

"Id.

" E-mail from Senior Executive Assistant, SAF/AA, to Panel Staff (Sept. 4, 2003).
" Telephone interview by Panel Staff with General Fogleman (Aug. 4, 2003).

"W.
"

See,

Statement

Committee

Ijv

the Secretary of the Air Force Sheila

E.

Widnall to the Senate

Armed

Services

(Feb. 4, 1997).
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may
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also
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have had involvement in formulating responses

sexual assault issues at the Academy. The Panel's limited time for review prevented

it

from

to

fullv

exploring the knowledge of the former Air Force leadership.

After the meeting with General

Academy
inquiry.

to

Fogleman

in

June 1996, Colonel Hall returned to the

conduct a review of the sexual assault issues that had surfaced in the

Upon

completion, she prepared a

detailing her meeting with General

memo

dated June

8,

earlier

1996 for the Superintendent

Fogleman and noting the leadership

at the

Academy was

"aware, acrively concerned, and engaging the problem."" She cauhoned that "the institution
still

unaware of the extent of the problem."" Colonel Hall sent

substantially similar

b

memoranda

Generals Fogleman, Anderson and Roadman.

to

General Anderson rerired from the Air Force effective December 31, 1996; General

Roadman succeeded him

as Air Force

Surgeon General. At the time he

Anderson was unaware of any action taken by the Air Force
problems detailed in Colonel

In late 1996, the

the

Dean

1996, the

General

Hall's report."

Academy

realigned the Cadet Counseling Center cind placed

of Faculty to separate the counseling services

Academ/s

retired.

to investigate the sexual assault

Social Climate Surveys for the

it

under

from the disciplinary process." Also

first

time included questions

on

in

sexual

assault.

1997

(7 allegations of

sexual assault)*'

In February 1997, the .'Academy asked Air Force Headquarters for an approval of a

waiver from the Air Force Instruction requiring
assault incidents to

Academy medical personnel

command and AFOSI. The Academy

believed the waiver

to report sexual

would encourage

the reporting of sexual assaults by respecting victim privacy, confidentiality and desires." The

Air Force Surgeon General, Inspector General, emd Judge Advocate General (Lieutenant

Generals

"

Roadman and Swope, and Major General Bryan Hawley,

Memorandum from

Colonel

HaQ

to

General Stein (June

" Interview by Panel Staff with General Anderson, USAF
" Working Croup Rqjort. at 13.
"

respectively) traveled to the

10, 1996).

(Ret.), in Arlington,

Va. (Sept.

2,

2003).

Id. at 71.

"

Slides presented by General Stein to General Swope, SAF/IG, Lieutenant General Charles H.
Roadman, U, AF/SG, and Major General Bryan G. Hawley, AF/JA (Feb.l4, 1997). Interview by Panel
with Colonel Hall in Bethesda, Md. (Aug. 26, 2003).
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Academy

and, in a meeting chaired by General Stein, received a briefing on the proposal firom

the Chief of the Cadet Counseling Center. Colonel Hall also attended the meeting.

The Academy

briefing

was intended

to

persuade the attendees of the necessity for the

waiver of reporfing requirements. The briefing included statishcal information that indicated
the informal policy of confidentialit)'

had

resulted in

sexual assaults to the Cadet Counseling Center."

scope of the problem was

still

in question,

and

example, that

it is

to report

briefing also noted, however, that the

that other indicator "flags" suggested that the

problem might be larger than previously thought
specifically noted, for

more victims coming forward

The

known

to

be the case." The presentation slides

that nationally as

few as one

in ten rapes is

reported to the authorities."

During that

visit,

the Generals and Colonel Hall

met with approximately 20

representatives of the "underground" group of victims. In an interview with Panel

General

Roadman

described the scene as "surreal," with curtains

drawn

across the

staff.

windows

while these victims expressed their concerns about the need for confidentiality in reporting
incidents of sexual assault so that thev could receive counseling
at the

and medical treatment."

conclusion of this meeting that Colonel Hail was persuaded of the value of

limited confidentiality for cadet assault victims.

On May

22, 1997,

reporting requirement to

General

AFOSI

was

''

Roadman

for a

It

some form of

granted the Academy's request to waive the

one-year temporary period, but with the stipulation that

medical personnel concurrentiy report aU cases of suspected rape or sexual assault against cadet
victims to the Cadet Counseling Center and

Center was to report to the Security
issuance

of

the waiver,

the

Commandant

of Cadets.

Polic>' Office of Investigations.

Academy

issued

Academy

The Cadet Counseling

On July

15, 1997, following

Instruction

51-201,

"Cadet

Victim AVitness Assistance and Notification Procedures."

According to General Roadman, he granted the waiver because psychiatric services
the

Academy had become

department's

ability.

at

dysfunctional and cadets had lost confidence in the mental health

General

Roadman was convinced

that cadet victims

would not come

forward for treatment without assurances that their situation would not become

common

"Id.

"Id.

" Interview by Panel
" Interview by Panel

Staff with
Staff with

General Roadman, USAF (Ret.), in Washington, D.C. (Sept.
Colonel Hall in Bethesda, Md. (Aug. 26, 2003).

4,

2003).
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knowledge

at the

Academy and

reporting process. General

needed time

ACADEMY

would otherwise not be

that they

Roadman

AIR FORCE

U.S.

re -victimized

by the

believed the Academ\-'s mental health services system

to rebuild trust with the cadets."

According to General Roadman,

end of the one-year waiver, the Academy was

at the

obligated either to seek an extension or begin compliance with the Air Force Instruction

Roadman

reporhng instances of sexual assault." Neither General

presented with the issue of sexual assault at the Academy.™ The

one-year waiver, but continued
required reporting of

all

to act as

if it

were

].

Academy never renewed

in existence until the

command

incidents of sexual assault to

August 1997, Lieutenant General Tad

In

still

on

nor Colonel Hall were again
the

Agenda for Change

authorities.

Oelstrom became Superintendent of the

Academy.

1998 (16 allegations of sexual assault)"
Bv

1998, the

Academy

issue worthy of attention. In
briefing enhtled

executive, the

leadership

December

"We Have A Problem"

Dean

Commander and

of Faculty, the

had every reason

to believe sexual misconduct

was an

of 1998. the Chief of Sexual Assault Services provided a
to the

Academ/s "Top

Commandant,

the Vice

Six

'

(the Superintendent or his

Commandant,

the Training

Group

the Athletic Director)." The presentation referred to "Cadet Statishcs on

Sexual Assault," including results of the 1997 Social Climate Survey showing an estimated

24%"

of female cadets sexually assavilted since

coming

to the

Academy.

It is

not evident what

the leadership did in response to leanung that a sizable portion of the female cadet population
reported being sexually assaulted after arriving

Social Climate Survej^s

at

the Academy.

were one of the few

tools

Academy

leadership had to gauge the

extent of the sexual assault problem at the Academy. Given the prior indicators and the pointed
attention

drawn

to the results of the 1997 survey,

" Interview bv Panel

Staff with

General Roadman,

it

USAF

is

remarkable that Academy leadership, and

(Ret.), in

Washington,

DC.

(Sept. 4, 2003).

"Id.

™ Interview by Panel Staff with Colonel Hall in Bethesda, Md. (Aug. 26, 2003); Interview by Panel Staff
with General Roadman in Washington, D.C. (Sept. 4. 2003).
" Working Group Report, at 71.
" Id. at 17-18.
" According to the Working Group Report, the slide contained a mathematical error and should have said
"15%" of female cadets had been sexually assaulted since coming to the Academy. Id. at 18.
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them informed,

the officers responsible for keeping

did not take greater interest in the Social

Climate Surveys which repeatedly warned of serious problems for the institution.

When

asked in early 2003

2000-2003. The

Academy

Force did not provide

for prior climate surveys, the Air

information for years prior to 1998."

did produce survey information for 1998, and

It

did not conduct a Social

Qimate Survey

in 1999.

The Academy

considers the 1998, 2000, 2001 and 2002 surveys to be "statistically invalid," yet
officials

have not provided an acceptable explanation of

invalid surveys

Even

if

with no apparent

efforts to

why

develop a valid survey

Academy

they repeatedly administered
tool.

the surveys truly were not "statistically valid," they offered startling information

about the Academy's gender climate. For example, the 2001 survey showed that of reporhng
female cadets,
derogator\'

47%

basis of gender. "

attention

said they

comments and 66%
It

had been sexually harassed by other cadets, 63% reported
felt

they had been discriminated against by other cadets on the

appears that the

and appropriate concern

Academy

is all

the

confirmation of the survey findings during
leadership."

Academy and

leadership ignored this information. This lack of

more troubling

its

in light of the

Working Group's

interviews of cadets, professors

and Academy

Air Force leadership failed to recognize their significance

and take

appropriate action.

1999 (10 allegations of sexual assault)"
In late 1999,

Headquarters AFOSI again raised concerns with the Academy's unique

sexual assault reporting policy." These concerns were sparked by the delayed reports of sexual
assault received from

two female cadets." Brigadier General Francis

Commander, contacted

X. Taylor, the

AFOSI

and

the Air

the Air Force IG, Lieutenant General Nicholas B, Kehoe,

Force General Counsel, Jeh Johnson. Mr. Johnson suggested to General Taylor that the issue be

coordinated with several headquarters staff elements." As a result. Air Force Deputy General

" Letter from Major General Leroy Bamidge,
'*

"

Working Croup Report,
Id.

Jr.,

USAF (Ret.), to Senator Allard

(Mar. 28, 2003).

at 84.

at 85.

"W.at71.
"W.atl7.
" One female cadet who had been sexually assaulted was speaking with another female cadet who also
happened to have been sexually assaulted, and when the two determined that they were assaulted by the
same assailant they decided to come forward and report. Interview by Working Group with General
Taylor in Washington, D.C. Oufy 16, 2003).
" E-mail from General Taylor to Lieutenant Colonel Eric Weiss (Nov. 30, 1999).

Page 25

107
PANEL TO REVIEW SEXLAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE

Counsel (National Security

&

MUitary

Affairs),

U.S.

-MR FORCE ACADENH'

William K. At Lee, was given the lead for

staff

coordination.

2000 (10 allegations of sexual assault)"
In January 2000, Mr.

At Lee advised the Director of the General Law Division that he

Wcinted to assemble a group of people from their respective offices and

AFOSI

to "discuss the

procedures in place for responding to allegations of sexual assault against cadets; whether they

remain appropriate

after the

passage of time since their

create unacceptable risk for the
Policy

Working Group met

Academy

to discuss the

instihjtion;

leadership."" In

and whether they now

March 2000,

Sexual Assault

this

Academy's procedures.

The Sexual Assault Policy Working Group continued

its

review periodically over the

next 18 months and debated the merits of the Academy's policv. For example, in his

memorandum
confidentiality

of July 13, 2000, the

Academy

Staff

Judge Advocate asserted that the Academy's

program "has been a success."" However, Headquarters ,\FOSI

Advocate objected to the program and,

in a

memorandum

Staff Judge

dated July 14, 2000, strongly

disagreed with the policy and proposed altemahves for implementation." In addition to
considering the merits of the Academy's confidentiality policv, the Sexual Assault Policv

Working Group

collected information about the

number

analyzed such sources as Social Climate Surveys and
Apparently, the Sexual Assault Policy

In

culture.

May 2000,

the

Academy

of sexual assaults since 1985,

Working Group never produced

presented a

final report to the

Academy

that included

the Academy's character development program
for assessing results."

The

retired

its

climate and

General Hosmer,

an independent assessment of the status

of the character development program at the Academy."

methodologies

a formal report.

received another indicator of concerns about

The Character Development Review Panel, chaired by

and

behavior data.""

'reprisal climate

One

of the report's findings

was handicapped by

report suggested that the

was

that

the absence of any

Academy

consider several

indicators to assess the strength of character of the Cadet Wing, to include indicators of loyalty

"

Worhng Group Report, at 71.
" E-mail from William K. At Lee, Air Force Deputy General Counsel (National Securitv
Affairs), to

&

Military

Colonel Wilder Qan. 10, 2000).

" Memorandum from Colonel Charles R. Lucy, USAF, to USAFA Ouly 13, 2000).
" Memorandum from Colonel Weiss to AFA Sexual Assault Policy Working Group QnW 14, 2000).
" Documents produced by William At Lee pursuant to Panel request.
" USAFA Character Developmmt Rimew Panel Initial Meeting Final Report (Mav 27, 2000).
" Id. at 7.
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and

to individuals over loyalty to unit, acts of reprisal,

poll data reflecting tear of reprisal

and

sexual misconduct, especially involving abuse of authority."

In June 2000, General John R. Dallager

August 2000,

In

IG

at the request of the

became Superintendent of the Academy.''

Senate

Armed

Services Committee, the Air Force

an invesrigation into allegations made by former Air Force Surgeon General,

initiated

Lieutenant General Edgar R. Anderson, that complaints of sexual assault at the

Academy had

not been investigated or had been deliberately covered up during Major General John D.

Hopper
to the

Jr.'s

tenure as

Commandant

Committee included the

of Cadets.*" The ir\formation General Anderson provided

detailed outline of sexual assault issues that Colonel Hall

prepared in 1996.

The Air Force IG's investigation focused on whether General Hopper abused

sexual nusconduct.
indication that the

the

his

by actively concealing or discouraging proper investigations of incidents of cadet

authorit}'

The

IG's review cleared General

Hopper of any wrongdoing. There

no

is

IG addressed the broader issues of sexual assault and the gender climate

Academy. The information provided

to the Air Force

Committee gave the Air Force leadership another chance

at

IG by the Senate Armed Services

to address potential

problems

at

the

Academy. Apparently, the Air Force leadership did not take advantage of the opportunity.

Lieutenant General Ra\Tnond
that the General

P.

Huot, the current Air Force IG, was also IG at the time

Hopper investigahon was completed. General Huot approved

Analysis for the General

Hopper

the 2003 General Counsel's

investigation."

More

Working Group, yet

recently.

there

is

the Complaint

General Huot was a

no discussion

in the

member

of

Working Group

Report of the investigation of General Hopper or the underlying allegations of sexual
misconduct

at

the Academy.

November

In

2000, General Taylor,

then-Commander

of Headquarters

AFOSl, met

with General Dallager to discuss the Academy's Victim Witness Assistance Program and

AFOSI's

role in investigating cadet sexual assault cases at the

reportedly raised several proposals to get

General Taylor

later

informed Mr. At Lee,

" Working Group Report, at 19.
" Memorandum for Air Force IG,
Hopper,

Jr.

AFOSl more
"I

am

not ready to declare

Subject; Senior Official

COMPLAINT ANALYSIS

Academy. General Taylor

involved in sexual assault investigations.
victorv- as

we

still

are not

Complaint Analysis - Maj. Gen. John D.

(Aug. 28, 2000)
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made aware

of

ALL

complaints, but

U.S.

AIR FORCE ACADEMY

found the Superintendent receptive to our concerns and

I

looking for a methodology to get us involved while assuring the anonymity of the victim
protected ...

1

we made good progress,

think

but only time will

is

tell.""

2001 (17 allegations of sexual assault)"

On May 4,

2001, General Taylor sent an e-mail to Brigadier General

then-Commandant

of Cadets, following a meeting

the Academy's sexual assault policy.

improvements

program since
follow

up on

current

its

by scheduling a

this issue

program and

months

its

benefits.

visit

its

efforts

III,

regarding

AFOSI

witnesses,

AFOSI

up on

did not follow

AFOSI

within

level." Also,

the events of September 11 significantly altered .^FOSI's

and resources.

According to General Welsh,

until the recent

effort to resolve issues involving the reporting

in late

Welsh

with General Welsh for an in-depth briefing on the

2003 media reports, he was linaware of

the existence of the headquarters -level Sexual Assault Policy

leadership

A.

appeared that many of the concerns with the

it

According to

May meeting

of the

mission and the focus of

However,

Mark

Academy

inception had been overcome." General Taylor asked that his successor

the issue because the matter appeared resolved at the Headquarters

four

at the

General Taylor expressed appreciation for the

process and stated that

in the

between the two

Working Group and

its

18-month

of sexucil assault incidents at the Academy."

1999 or early 2000, General Welsh became concerned that the Academy

was not receiving information about sexual

Counseling Center and, as a

Academy

result.

Welsh believed

these reports. General

leadership

that while the

assaults reported to the Cadet

was not involved

in

responding to

Cadet Coui\seling Center appeared

to

be

responding well to the victims' medical and emotional needs, senior Academy leadership was
not receiving information to

AFOSI

and a two-page form

"
"
"
"

aUow

it

to decide

for investigation. Accordingly,

whether the incidents should be reported

General Welsh iiutiated an

and

for tracking the reports

for the

effort to

to

develop a process

Cadet Counseling Center

to

E-mail from General Taylor to William K. At Lee (Nov. 19, 2000).

Working Group Report,

at 71.

E-mail from General Taylor to General

Mark A. Welsh

HI,

USAF, Commandant, USAFA (May 4,
USAF, Commander,

2001).

Interview by Panel Staff with Brigadier General Leonard E. Patterson,

Headquarters, AFOSI,

at

Andrews Air Force

Base,

Md. Quly

28, 2003); Interview

by Panel

Staff

wth

Colonel Stephen D. Shirley, USAF, Vice- Commander, Headquarters, AFOSI, at Andrews Air Force Base,
Md. (Aug. 5, 2003); Interview by Panel Staff with Special Agent Gary Tripiett (July 28, 2003); Telephone
interview by Panel Staff with Special Agent Michael Speedling in Washington, D.C. (July 28, 2003);

Interview by Panel Staff with Special Agent Kelly

* Interview by Panel
Page 28

Staff

with General Welsh

Mayo

(Aug. 22

&

23, 2003).

in Arlington, Va. (Aug. 28, 2003).
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disseminate basic information about reports of sexual assaults to himself, the Vice

Commandant of Cadets,

the 34 "^ Trairung

Wing Commander, AFOSl and

the Security Police."

General Welsh and General Taylor agreed on the tracking process. General Taylor
believed

it

incidents.

addressed AFOSI's concerns about receiving information concerning sexual assault

The Academy was

to formalize the tracking process

and form by making them part

the Academy's Instruction for reporting sexual assaults. However,

sometime

after the

May

of

2001

meeting between General Taylor and General Welsh, the two-page tracking form that had

been

in

use by the Cadet Counseling Center was changed to a single page that contained no

information as to the basic details of an incident. According to Victim Advocate

Alma Guzman,

she thought that the form was changed as the result of a victim's complaint and that
contained too

many

details.'"

The tracking process and two-page form was developed

General Welsh's direction to improve the information that the

Command and AFOSI

it

at

received

concerning sexual assaults.

General Welsh

left

2001, and does not recall

In

began

August 2001, General

his assigrunent.

Commandant

his position as

what information on

S.

this subject

Taco Gilbert

111

of Cadets in late July or early

he passed on

became Commandant

General Gilbert met with the Air Force Chief of

Ryan, and received "marching orders" to
response. General Gilbert took a

fix

number

August

to his successor.''

of Cadets. Before he

Staff,

General Michael

E.

the discipline and standards at the Academy."* In

of actions to

instill

accountability, enforce existing

standards regarding wear and appearance of uniforms and improve the physical condition of
the cadet area."'

According to General Gilbert, upon his

members

told

him

that the

Academy

implemented the Cadets Advocating Sexual
response. General Gilbert said he

was

arrival at the

Academy, senior Academy

previously had problems with sexual assaults and had
lntegrit\'

told that

and Education ("CASIE") program

CASIE was considered a model

in

sexual assault

response program by other schools and Service Academies. General Gilbert recognized that the

"Id.

" Lieutenant Colonel Alma Guzman, USAF (Ret.), Tracking Form Documents and a note received on
September 11, 2003.
" Interview by Panel Staff with General Welsh in ArUngton, Va. (Aug. 28, 2003).
"^ Interview
by Working Group with Brigadier General S. Taco Gilbert, III, Commandant, USAFA in
Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 21, 2003).
"'irf. at

20-21.
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CASIE program

differed substantially

from the procedures used throughout the operational Air

Force for reporting incidents of sexual assault.""

August 2001, the

In

Air Force

Academy Honor Climate Assessment Task Force

completed an assessment of the Academy's Honor Code, the Honor System, and the
conditions surrounding the
Staff

Honor System."' The Task Force

report

was provided

General Ryan. Although the report did not address issues of sexual

assault,

it

to

Chief of

provided yet

another indicator of potential problems in the culture at the Academy. The report noted
confidence in the Honor System had declined and stated that "the honor environment and
culture

must be under

discharge of

USAFA's

cor\stant scrutiny

and frequent review by Academy leadership of

its

character-building mission."'"

2002 (18 allegations of sexual assault)'**
General Gilbert told the Working Group that by

Academy's unique program
stated that

he based

for

his conclusion, at least in part,

about sexual assaults reported
built

fall

2000 he had concluded that the

responding to sexual assaults was broken. General Gilbert

to the

on the

fact

he was not receiving information

Cadet Counseling Center. In his view, the Academy had

command

a reporting system predicated on the assumption that the chain of

trusted.'"

could not be

General Gilbert said he had limited personal experience with sexual assault cases

during his tenure

informahcn

at the

to the

Academy because

the "system

Commandant."'"' General Gilbert

from information concerning sexual

was

felt

assaults. Further,

specifically

designed

to

not provide

that the system largely isolated

him

he foimd the data he did receive was

'"

Statement of General Gilbert

to the

Panel in Colorado Springs, Colo. (July 10, 2003).

""

According to the 2001 (Report

to the

Chief of Staff, United States Air Force, by the Air Force Academy Honor

60% of cadets
Honor System's presumptive sanction of disenroUment. Cadets believe punishments should

Climate Assessment Task Force, on the Honor Code and System) {"Cams Reporf') (Aug. 2001),
reject the

tit the crime, the system of punishments is too excessive, there should be a "diSerence in
punishments made for offenses by different classes, and that honor offenses occur on a graduated scale
of severity. Almost 70% of cadets would tolerate or possibly tolerate honor violations "depending on the
severity of the violation" and 78% would continue to tolerate violations as long as the presumptive
sanction of disenroUment is in place.

better

"

'" Id. at 1.
'" Working
'°*
'"'

Group

Report, at 71.

Interview by the Working Group with General Gilbert in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 21, 2003).
Id.

Generad Gilbert stated that he had knowledge of eight assaults that occurred while he was
that he reported all of them to AFOSI.

Commandant and
Page 30
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being unreliable by the people providing

limited, portrayed as

and, in individual cases, devoid

it

of useful information.'"'

General Gilbert's experience and actions in receiving information on specific reports of
sexual assaults differed from that of his immediate predecessor. General Welsh. While both

encountered problems obtaining information on sexual assaults. General Welsh initiated
dialogue with the

CASIE Program,

These actions resulted

in the

the Cadet Counseling Center and

development of a sexual

its

Victim Advocate.'"

assault information tracking

form that

provided General Welsh basic information that he thought that he needed concerning sexual
assaults.

The form served

as the basis for determining the need for follow-up calls to the Victim

more complete information about an

Advocate or others

to receive

make

were consistent with

decisions that

formally implemented,

it

may have

his

command

incident so that he could

responsibility.

If

the tracking form been

resolved AFOSl's long-term concern about not receiving

such information.

The Academy's sexual
for

General

Gilbert.

Conunandant

assault response

The governing

of Cadets

is

the Chair of the

as the central resource for tracking

Academy

also delineated specific responsibilities

SASC.

Among its

responsibilities, the

and monitoring reported cases of sexual

Instruction 51-201 expressly recognizes the

Cadet Wing and requires that he

for the safety of the

both as Connmander of the Cadet
that the

program

instruction for reporting sexual assaults states that the

Wing and

SASC

served

assault.""

Commandant's

responsibilities

will receive information in his positions

as Chair of the

SASC. The instruction requires

Cadet Counseling Center immediately inform the Commandant of reported sexual

assaults because the

cadet perpetrators.

Commandant

The

is

the

commander

instruction requires the

responsible for both cadet victims

Commandant

to advise the

and

Superintendent

concerning the merits and limitahons of authorizing an investigation.'"

As Chair

of the

SASC, the Commandant had ample

authority

and means

for receiving

information about specific sexual assaults, and the scope of the overall problem at the

Academy.

Further, as the Chair, he

Academ/s sexual

'"
"^

assault response

was

the senior officer responsible for overseeing the

program and ensuring

its

effectiveness.

Statement of General Gilbert to the Panel in Colorado Springs, Colo. Quiy
Working Croup Report, at 140; Interview hy Panel Staff with General Welsh

10, 2003).

in Arlington, Va. (Aug. 28,

2003).
""
'"

USAFA Instruction 51-201

(Apr. 18, 2000).

Id.
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In his statement to the

Working Group, General

Gilbert indicated a general

understanding of the procedures a victim would follow to report a sexual assault incident. Yet

General Gilbert believed, based on the practice

Commandant was
made

51-201

knowledge or

the official Chair of the

Commandant

the

General Gilbert was

told

program was designed

its

fall

that

that the Vice

Academy

SASC, and had

authority, responsibilit)'

keep the

Commemdant
that

Instruction

either

little

and operating procedures.

out of the loop to receive information.'"

General Gilbert held these

their legitimacy or pursue the information

In the

know

and apparently believed that the Academ/s sexual assault response

to

Although the Panel does not question
examine

did not

of Cadets the Chair of the

incorrect information as to

Academy,

in effect at the

SASC" He

he did

beliefs,

little

to

he required as Commandant.

of 2002, General Gilbert proposed several solutions to the Superintendent

concerriing sexual assault response programs that were not implemented during his tenure, but

which are incorporated

in the

Agenda for Change.

Among

these

was

his preference that the

Department of Behavioral Sciences and Leadership, which included the Cadet Counseling
Center, be
that

moved under

he needed

to

make

the Training
decisions.

Wing

to allow the

Conrunandant

information

to receive

At the suggestion of General Dallager, General Gilbert

spoke to Brigadier General David Wagie, Dean of

Facility,

under whose control the Cadet

Counseling Center operated. General Wagie disagreed with the proposal and the proposed

change was not n\ade."*

According to the Working Group Report, attention to the

which the Committee switched

met

to a quarterly

SASC waned

in 2001,

meeting schedule.'" Apparently, the

three times in 2001 and twice in 2002. During General Dallager's

during

SASC

only

33-month tenure as

Superintendent, there were four Vice Conunandants, serving as the Committees Chairman

and three Chiefs of Sexual Assault

Services, .^s a result of these changes, there

was

little

coordination of the Academy's sexual assault response program during the years immediately
before the current controversy came to public attention.

During his interview with the Working Group, General Gilbert discussed the Social
Climate Surveys and Sexual Assault Surveys administered by the Academy

between 1998 and 2003. General Gilbert

told the interviewer that he

to the

was unaware

Cadet Wing
of the 2001

Sexual Assault Survey in which 167 cadets reported they had been sexually assaulted since

'"

Working Group Report,

'" Id.
"* Interview

'"

by the Working Group with General Gilbert

Working Group Report,

Pages:

at 141.

at 21.

in

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar.

21,

2003).
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coming

to the

Survey

in

Academy. General Gilbert also denied knowing about the 2002 Sexual Assault

which 80 cadets indicated that they had been assaulted

after arriving at the

Academy.'"

May

In

2002, Colonel Laurie S. Slavec

In that position. Colonel Slavec

support of the Cadet

Wing and

staff.'"

for the

of the 34"^ Training Group.

day-to-day training, management and

Several cadet victims reported to the

and the Panel

that,

sexual assault.

The cadets expressed concern

punished

assumed command

was responsible

Working Group

during Colonel Slavec's tenure, they were afraid to report instances of

for disciplinary infractions,

that they

and other cadet witnesses would be

such as underage drinking or fraternization, arising

in

connection with the assault or which might be revealed through investigation of the assault.

The Panel questioned Colonel Slavec about whether she had taken disciplinary action

who

against female cadets

alleged sexucil assault

and Colonel Slavec responded

were never any victims who served punishments that claimed sexual
statement and indicated

officials later clarified this

been imposed,

matter was under review.

some

It is

punishment, nor

not

were under investigation

of the cases, the victims were placed
difficult to

is it difficult

to

understand

understand

from reporting that they were victims of sexual

Academy

although actual punishment had not

certain sexual assault victims received notice that they

for disciplinary violarions. In

liberty as

that,

that, "there

assault."'"

how

how

on

restrichon while the

a cadet could perceive the loss of

could discourage cadets

this practice

assault.

According to General Gilbert, in September 2002 he began to hear concerns about
Colonel Slavec's

ability to get

along and communicate with other senior leaders

at the

Academy.'" General Gilbert had several conversatiorYS with Colonel Slavec about her "bedside

manner" and

ability to

work through

issues. "° Colonel Slavec's

manner

did not improve and by

February 2003, General Gilbert began working to replace her.'"

As

of 2002, the officer with the greatest experience

assault response
for the

'"

'"

responsibility' for the sexual

Facult)'

was

directly responsible

Cadet Counseling Center and the CASIE program, for conducting surveys and

Group with General Gilbert in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 21, 2003).
(May 22, 2002).
Statement of Colonel Laurie S. Slavec, USAF, to the Panel in Colorado Springs, Colo. Qvly It, 2003).
Interview by the Working Group with General Gilbert in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 21, 2003).

Interview by the Working

'" Air Force

'"

and

program was General Wagie.'" The Dean of

Academy

FVess Release #125

'"Id.
''•

'"

Id.

Working Croup Report,

at 153.
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compiling data and

for the

had been assigned

to the

Center

for

Academy

AIR FORCE ACADENrc

Character Development. Additionally, General Wagie

Climate Process Action Team.'" General Wagie was the key
leadership
to the

who was

1987 and chaired the Social

in various positions since

member

Cadet Counseling Center. He had

of the Academy's senior

number

aweire of the sexual assault survey data and the

of cases reported

a uruque perspective to appreciate the significance of

the data, but failed to take the action expected of

someone

in his leadership position.

Throughout 2002, Senator Wayne Allard (R-CO) brought several issues of sexual

May

misconduct to the attention of Academy leadership.'" In
the family of a 13-year-old

Senator Allard. The

who was

girl

family

girl's

was

sexually assaulted

2002,

by a

staff to

meet with Academy

June 2002, a female Academy instructor contacted Senator Allard's

inappropriate beha\ior at an

official

sexually-explicit skit that cadets

contacted

displeased with the Academy's handling of the case. In

response to this allegation. Senator Allard sent members of his
leaders."* In

an attorney representing

first-class cadet

English Department Dinner.

regarding

office

The complaint involved a

performed and that English Department

officials

previously

approved.'"

In

on

June 2002, during a Board of Visitors meeting. Senator Allard requested information

the Academy's sexual assault response program

and expressed concern about

potential

sexual misconduct at the Academy.'" In September 2002, Senator Allard received an e-mail

from a cadet's parent providing troubling ix\formation about the envirorunent

at the

Academy,

especially with regard to the vulnerability of female cadets. Senator Allard forwarded the e-mail

with the parent's accompanying suggestions to General Dallager.'"

2003 - The Secretary and Chief of Staff Address the Problem
As a
Force

result of the

moved

swoftly to

media

attention generated

when

the current scandal surfaced, the Air

address the problem of sexual assault at the Academy. In March 2003,

Air Force Secretary Roche

and Air Force Chief

of Staff General

for Change to implement a series of directives
Overall, the Agenda for

Change

corrects

Jumper announced an Agenda

and policy improvements

many

'"Id.
"*

Statement of Senator Allard to the Panel in Washington,

'"W.
'"Id.

'»M.
PageJ4

at the

Academy.

of the conditior\s that contributed to an

D.C

(June 23. 2003).
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environment which increased the opportunit)' and likelihood

for sexual

Agmda for Change

initial

a blueprint

is

and should be viewed as only the

misconduct. The

step in reversing years

of institutional inaction.

In April 2003, Secretarv'

Roche announced

Dallager, Superintendent of the

Taco Gilbert

Academy, and

General

S.

Training

Wing Commander, Colonel

Secretary Roche

the Vice

III,

the retirement of Lieutenant General
the reassignment of

Commandant

Commandant, Colonel Robert D.
Laurie

S. Slavec.

Three months

announced General Dallager's retirement

at the

Eskridge,'^

later,

on

John

R.

Brigadier

and the

July 11, 2003,

grade of Major General, rather

than as a Lieutenant General. According to the press release announcing the retirement

at a

lower grade. General Dallager failed to exercise "the degree of leadership expected of

commanders," and "should have taken notice of the indicators of problems and he should have
aggressively pursued solutions to them."

In April 2003,

Secretary Roche replaced the Academy's leadership with a

leadership team comprised of Lieutenant General John

General Johnny A. Weida,

Commandant
changes

Academy's

in the

and

have begun implementing

his staff

culture, military training, living

environment and sexual assault

The changes have not been completed, but

Academy back on

the Agenda for Change begins to

track.

In June 2003, after completing her investigation of sexual assault at the

Force General Counsel Mary

Report covers

many

L.

Walker released The Working Group

aspects of cadet

procedures in place at the

life.

Academy during

Academy

policies

of the meetings

and discussions detailed

or only obliquely referenced in the report.

was unaware
particularly in

of the

many

view of the

Report.

in this

It is

it

fails to

AFOSI

— were

Working Group

'

staff

chronology are either completely omitted

simply not plausible that the Working Group

instances of involvement by Air Force leadership discussed above,
fact that

members
had

examine the

on the operarion of the Academy.

the

same

officials

involved in these numerous matters

including the Inspector General, Surgeon General, Judge Advocate General and

the

Academy, Air

The Working Croup

and sexual assault reporting

the last ten years. However,

responsibility of Air Force leadership to provide oversight

Many

new

Brigadier

of Cadets; and Colonel Debra D. Gray, Vice

of Cadets. Since then. General Rosa

reporting processes.

put the

Commandant

W. Rosa, Superintendent;

to

of the

Working Group. Moreover, the

Commander

lead attorney

—
of

on the

have been aware of many of these instances of Air Force leadership

Colonel Robert D. Eskridge, USAF, had assumed the duties of Vice

Commandant

in

December 2002.
Page 35
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involvement since he chaired the 2000-2001 review conducted by the Sexual Assault Policy

Working Group. '"
Despite the considerable evidence of long-term knowledge by the Air Force, and the
persistence of sexual misconduct problems at the Academy, the

there

was "no systemic acceptance

of responsibility''""

of sexual assault at the

The Panel cannot agree

vvrith

(or] institutional

Academ/s

amount

institutional culture that

Academy, Air Force Headquarters and

that

avoidance

that conclusion given the substantial

of information about the sexual assaults and the
available to leaders at the

Working Group concluded

Academy

was

to the Office of the Air Force

General Cour«el.

B. Accountability
This Panel

is

concerned about the lack of accountability of Air Force leaders in Colorado

Springs and in Washington, D.C. The Air Force and the

Academy cannot

fully

put this

unfortunate chapter behind them until they understand and acknowledge the cause.

The Panel

is

aware of the

positions of responsibility
in

order to

make

diffic\ilty

and now

are

clear the exceptional level of leadership

leaders and to put the failures of recently

must be

in holding accountable those

further accounting.

To the

The

extent possible, the failures of the

Academy and

indicators of a sexual assault

Air Force leadership

knew

and

to

activity,

(2)

Air force

made a matter of official record.

problem

or should have

ten years before the recent media attention; and

considerable periods of

left their

in perspective, there

Academv and

significance of the detailed chronology of high-level meetings,

and numerous

long ago

performance expected of future

removed Academy leadership

Headquarters leaders over the past ten years should be

studies

who

beyond reach of the Department of Defense. However,

at the

known

working groups,

Academy

is

that (1) both

of the situation throughout the

despite the indications of a problem

and

the Air Force failed to maintain systemic oversight of the issue

develop a comprehensive approach to solving the problem.

'*"
WQliam K. At Lee, the lead attorney for the Working Group team, was aware of at least some ot these
meetings and discussions because he chaired the 2000-2001 review conducted by the Sexual .Assault
Policy Working Group. See. for example, Memorcindum from Don W. Fox, Deputy General Counsel

(Fiscal
'"

& Administrative Law),

Working Group Report,
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Mary L. Walker, Air Force General Counsel (Undated).
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Other than the reassignment of recent Academy leadership and
past Superintendent in a lower grade, the Air Force has not held

immediate-

retiring the

any member of the Academy

many

or Air Force Headquarters leadership accountable for a decade of ineffective action or in
cases inaction, concerning sexual assaults

The

was a

1,

Academy and

failure of the

aggressively

and

in a timely

failure of leadership.

and the arlture

that tolerated them.

Air Force Headquarters leadership to respond

and committed w^ay

to eliminate the causes of serious

problems

Those responsible should be held accountable.

Air Force Headquarters Leadership
While the record

levels of leadership
effective action.

It

is

not complete, the evidence before the Panel shows that the highest

had information about serious problems

may

be impossible to ever fully

at the

know what

Academy, yet

failed to take

the Air Force leadership

knew

or

suspected about sexual assault problems during the past ten years. Nonetheless, the Panel has

uncovered substantial information showing that Air Force Headquarters had serious and
repeated indicators of a problem.
r.r,

.,

J-

,

While the record

Headquarters did not act on

.

Air Force

not complete,

is

so tepidly,

it

should be held accountable for avoiding

the evidence before the Panel

.^^

shows

an unavoidable condition

that the highest levels of

leadership

If

this information, or did

responsibility

and accepting sexual misconduct as
at the

Academy.

had information about
It

serious problems at the

Academy,

clear

is

„

•^

-

.

yet failed to take effective action.

intercede,

Air Force Headquarters

that
,

contmually deterred

,

to the

.
j
^
Academy
and

,

^

did not

even without tangible evidence

progress on sexual misconduct issues.
Air Force Headquarters culpability

is

of

An example

of

the failure to

monitor the unique confidential reporting program that had the potential of interfering with
the

ability'

to investigate sexual assaults at the

Academy. The decision

to allow the

Academy

use a program that differed from the one established in the regular Air Force carried with
obligation to

make

sure that the

Force Headquarters officers

but who failed to

act,

program served the

who knew

or

had reason

interests
to

know

and

it

to

the

safety of female cadets. Air

of the problems at the

Academy,

bear their share of the responsibility'.
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Academy Leadership
During

his

appearance before the Panel, Secretary Roche acknowledged the possible

imfaimess of holding recent leaders accountable
time.

for

an

ii\stitutional climate that

Although the immediate past leaders of the Academy cannot be blamed

they found

when

they arrived

leadership that occurred

on

at the

Academy, they should be accountable

their watch. Clearly, the leaders

who

evolved over

for the situation

for

any

arrived at the

failures of

Academy had

lengthy service in the operational Air Force cind should have been vigilant in evaluating the

Academy's non-standard sexual

assault reporting procedures.

program departed from the procedures used
the

Academy leadership's awareness

in the regular

General Dallager and General Gilbert

Panel

is

in their

command

fact that the

Academy's

of the potential for unintended consequences.

failed to exercise

resourcefulness necessary- to realize that there

problem

The

Air Force should have heightened

was

the judgment, awareness and

a sexual misconduct

that directly impacted the welfare

and

and

social climate

safety of their cadets.

The

unimpressed with assertions made by some that General Dallager and General Gilbert

should not be held accountable for an institurioned culture they inherited. The responsibilities of

command

required that

Academy

leaders take the necessarv" steps to understand the scope

and

dimensions of the issue and be suitably ir\formed to take appropriate actions.

Mafor General John

R. Dallager

The Panel conairs with the decision of the

Secretar\- of the Air Force to retire

General

Dallager in a lower grade. General Dallager failed to exercise the degree of leadership expected
of

commanders. He did not recognize

solutions to those problems.

indicators of problems,

Having been

the recent allegations. General Dallager
for the failure to adequately

respond

Brigadier General

at the

is

the

nor did he aggressively pursue

helm of the Academy

Academv

for several years prior to

leader bearing ultimate responsibility

to sexual assault issues.

David

A Wagie

Air Force leadership has not taken

any action

to

address the accountability of General

Wagie, and he continues to serve as the Academy's Dean of Faculty. General Wagie was the
officer at the

Academy who had

the

most

responsibility for the sexual assault respor\se

and the admir\istration of Social Climate Surveys. Although year
declared the surveys to be statistically invalid. General

Page 38

after year the

Wagie never acted

program

Academy

to correct the survey
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tool.

This failure of responsibility interfered with the connmand's

extent of

ability'

to accurately assess the

the sexual misconduct problem in the Cadet Wing.

The

"invalid" surveys offered startling indicators of a

problem that were ignored by

General Wagie and Academy leadership. General Wagie was the supervisor
Counseling Center and conducted bi-weekly meetings

knew

Accordingly, he

or should have

known about

v^nth the

numbers

the

for the

Cadet

head of the Counseling Center.
of sexual assaults reported by

Academy cadets.
General Wagie had considerable institutional knowledge of the nature and extent of the

Academy's sexual misconduct problems due

Academy spanning 16

years.

He

to his responsibilities

problems and take appropriate action. General Wagie

and contributed

and lengthy tenure

at the

held a key leadership position, yet failed to recognize the
failed to execute his full responsibilities

to mission failure.

Brigadier General S. Toco Gilbert III

General Gilbert failed to

command.

fully

not seeking

to

it is

security' of the

cadets under his

acquire information on sexual misconduct issues and by failing to take

responsibility for finding solutions.

Wing,

ensure the safety and

Like General Dallager, General Gilbert failed in his leadership responsibilities by

As the commander responsible

for the safety of the

Cadet

not enough for General Gilbert to say that others were in charge of the Academy's

sexual assault response program. General Gilbert had the responsibility to be informed about
sexual assault and gender climate issues at the Academy,
to

become

fully

cadets under his

command with respect

to sexual

The Academy's instruction mandates

Commandant
commander

and he did not take the steps required

informed. His inaction in this regard jeopardized the safety and security of the

misconduct

that the

issues.

Cadet Counseling Center inform the

of a reported sexxial assault immediately "because the

Commandant

is

the

responsible for both cadet victims and cadet perpetrators. This General Officer

must ensure the safety of each cadet and the good order and

discipline of the entire

Cadet

Wing.""" That same instruction put General Gilbert in charge of the Academy's Sexual Assault
Services Committee, but apparently General Gilbert failed to learn about this key responsibility'.

The Panel understands the

command

'

practice at the

gave responsibility for the

USAFA Instruction

Academy

SASC

before General Gilbert's assumption of

to the Vice

Commandant. Nevertheless,

as the

51-201, § 2.8.1.2.1.
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senior commander. General Gilbert was obligated to take charge of sexual misconduct issues.

General Gilbert

failed to execute his responsibilities

and

mission

directly contributed to

failure.

General Gilbert also bears responsibility for the shortcomings of his subordinate

commander. Colonel Laurie

S. Slavec.

General Gilbert knew of the perception at the Academy

that Colonel Slavec's disciplinary st>le

was "overly draconian, and not

advised that he was working to replace Colonel Slavec

at

fair."'"

General Gilbert

the time they were reassigned.'"

Notv/ithstanding General Gilbert's stated concerns about Colonel Slavec's performance, he

awarded her

a meritorious service

medal on April

of cadets, active duty, and civilians [that]

going growth

for years to

The Panel
concenung

15,

2003 praising her "intensive mentorship

had a positive impact on and

will

continue their on-

come."'"

believes that General Gilbert failed to execute his

commander. He

consistent supervision of a subordinate

trying to remove Colonel Slavec from

command

early,

command

responsibUity

caiuiot credibly say

he was

and then present her with

officicd

recognition of meritorious performance.

Colonel Laurie

S.

Slavec

Colonel Slavec was overly aggressive in discharging her
alienated .'^OCs,

MTLs and

cadets.

command

Although Colonel Slavec sought

standards, she contributed to the breakdown of

good order and

discipline within her

among

she created an environment where the perception of

the staff

and cadets became an accepted

reality.

fear,

command

and overly

by taking such aggressive actions that her subordinates viewed her as unfair
Specifically,

and

responsibilities

to er\force disciplineuy

punishment and

harsh.

reprisal

Colonel Slavec's leadership style and

treatment of some victims of sexual assault had a negative impact on the willingness of cadets
to report incidents of sexual assault.

Additionally, while Colonel Slavec

disciplinarv standards, she

was

in the

was unaware of the

definition of a "true rape" as requiring

some

first line

level of violence,

that cadets claimed sexual assault oiUy to receive amnesty.'"

team

closest to the

'" Interview

of responsibility for enforcing

definition of sexual assault, held her

and seemed

As

the

own

to

hold the attitude

member

of the leadership

Cadet Wing, Colonel Slavec was in a key position to become aware of the

bv Working Group with General Gilbert in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar.

21, 2003), at 74.

•"Id.
'" Meritorious Service Medal Citation, Colonel Slavec (Apr. 15, 2003).
"* Statement by Colonel Slavec to Working Group in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 20, 2003), at 37-38.
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problem of sexual

assaults. Instead, her inflexible

and

insensitive attitudes

and actions

exacerbated problems in the Cadet Wing. Colonel Slavec failed to establish a safe and secure
military training environment

impartial manner.

mission

3.

and

Through her

failed to execute

her

command

responsibilities in a fair

and

ineffective leadership. Colonel Slavec directly contributed to

failure.

Recommendation
The Chief of

among

was awaiting

the results from the

misconduct allegations before taking
least

one member

has advised this Panel that the issue of accountability

Staff of the Air Force

the replaced senior leadership

of the replaced

Academy

He

indicated that he

team

at the

DoD

IG and Air Force IG investigations on sexual

final actions.

Academy

is

The Panel

ongoing.

is

concerned, however, that at

leadership team received a medal in recognition of

her performance while assigned to the Academy. The award of a medal to an individual
shll

under scrutiny, and

seems premature

itself.

advance of the issuance of the

is

also

concerned about the seeming

VVhile the Air Force General Counsel's

investigation of the

Academy,

it

of the Working

—

is

inability of the Air Force to

Working Group conducted

engaged

thorough

the prior involvement of Air Force leadership

in the issues over the past ten yeeirs. Yet the

Counsel apparently made a determinatton not to include any of
Report. Instead, the

adequately
a

ineffecHve oversight by Air Force leadership.

Group knew about

since they or their offices were

Group

who

IG and Air Force IG reports,

completely failed to address one of the most significant

contributors to the current controversy

Members

DoD

at best.

The Panel
investigate

in

General Counsel

left

this

General

information in the Working

the matter for another study and another day."'

"'
The Working Group Report named twelve areas for further study because the areas were beyond the
scope of the report or there was insviffident time for adequate study. The last area recommended for
further study was Air Force Headquarters: "Consider to what extent the Headquarters Air Force has been
and should be involved in the oversight of the sexual assault and sexual harassment issues in the Air

Force, including the

Academy." Working Group Rqyort,

at

175-176.
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The Panel recommends
accountability of

problems

at

Academy and

the

Academy

that the

MR FORCE ACADEMY

DoD IG conduct

a

thorough review of the

Air Force Headquarters leadership for the sexual assault

over the

decade. This review should include an

last

assessment of the actions taken by leaders

at

Air Force Headquarters as well as those at

the Academy, including General Gilbert, General Wagie and Colonel Slavec. The review

should also consider the adequacy of personnel actions taken, the accuracy of individual

performance evaluations, the

validity of decorations

follow-on assignments.'" The Panel further
results of the review to the

awarded and the appropriateness

recommends

that the

DoD

House and Senate Armed Services Committees and

to the

Secretary of Defense.

'" See, for example.

Page 42

Memorandum from

of

IG provide the

Seaetaiy Widnall to the Secretary of Defense (Aug.

11, 1995).
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COMMAND

SUPERVISION

AND OVERSIGHT OF

THE ACADEMY
During the

last

decade, attention to the Academy's sexual assault problems ebbed and

flowed depending on the interest of the leadership
other competing

demands

for time

in place at

and resources. The

any given time and according

transitory nature of

assignments disrupted institutional knowledge and the

Academy

ability to anticipate

and

to

leadership

find long-term

solutions for complex problems like sexual misconduct. For example, over the past twenty
years. Superintendents have served for
typically

have served

for

Chief of Staff posed by
supervision of the

an average of three

and Commandants of Cadets

operations and other matters, Air Force Headquarters'

militar\-

Academy was not always

This problem

years,

18-24 months. At the same time, due to the demands on the Air Force

in

command

oversight. Meetings of the

direct or consistent.

supervision co- existed with a lack of effective external

Academy's Board of

were not well attended by

Visitors

and the Academy generally shared only good news with the Board, The
either did not

media

know

about

sexxial

nnisconduct at the

Academy

until

scrutinv or, in certain instances, unquestioningly accepted

it

result

its

members,

was the Board

became the

subject of

Academy assurances

that

matters were under control. In addition, the Air Force IG did not conduct any inspections of the

Academy during

the

last

ten yejirs other than in response to individual complaints. While the

Air Force IG regularly conducts compliance investigations of the Major Air Force

every three years, the

The

command

Academy was excluded from such

Commands

inspections.

predictable consequence of the combination of leadership turnover, inconsistent

supervision and lack of external oversight

long-term solutions

to the

was

complex problem of sexual

that the
assault.

Academy was deprived

of

Improved supervision and

oversight structures are necessary.

A.

Command Supervision of the Academy
Currently, the Superintendent of the

Academy

reports directly to the Chief of Staff of

the Air Force and the Secretan,' of the Air Force. '^' In his June 23, 2003 appearance before the

"' The same chain of command e.'dsts for the other Service Academy Superintendents. The
Superintendent of West Point reports to the Army Chief of Staff per AR 210-6 (July 26, 2002), sec. 1-6;
Dept of the Army, General Order No. 3 (10 Feb. 1977); AR 10-70 (Aug. 15, 1980). sec. 5; and the
Superintendent of the Naval Academy reports to the Chief of Naval Operations (OPNAVINST5450.330

(Feb. 14, 1992), 1

3;

and

OPNAVNOTE 5400 dune

18, 2003),

End.

(4), at

69)).
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Secretary Roche asked the Panel to review the continuation of the

relationship. Secretary

Roche noted both the Chief of

numerous other matters and may not be
attention to

Academy

command

and the Seaetaiy are involved

able to devote as

issues as could an intermediate

Command. The

Training

Staff

much

detailed

commander such

Panel has learned that the Air Force

is

in

and immediate

as the Air Education

no longer pursuing

&

this

proposal.

On
for

August

Roche directed the Assistant Seaetary of the Air Force

14, 2003, Secretar}'

Manpower and Reserve

Affairs

("SAF/MR"), Michael

implement other oversight processes.
Assistant

In the

Secretary to work with the

L.

Memorandum,""

Dominguez,
Secretary

Academy Superintendent

to prepare

Roche directed

to

and
the

ensure effective

implementation of the lessons of the Working Group Report and the Agenda for Change. The
Secretary directed the Assistant Secretary to establish and maintain effective processes for
substantive review and consideration of the Working Group's recommendations to ensure

continuing Air Force Headquarters oversight of the
for

Academ/s implementation

of the

Agenda

Change and the Working Group's recommendations. The Secretarv further directed the

establishment of "permanent processes to insure that the Secretary and Chief of Staff of the Air
Force are frequently, regularly and adequately informed of sigruficant matters relating to sexual
assault

and sexual harassment
At the same time that

at the

it

Academy" (emphasis

publicly released the

added)."'

August

14,

2003

Memorandum,

the Air

Force also released a plan for ensuring implementation of the Agenda for Change, the results of
the Working Group Report, and "any agreed to recommendations of the Fowler Commission."

According to the Deputy Assistant Secretary of the Air Force, Force Management

("SAF/MRM"), the three main points

The plan

&

Personnel

of the plan are oversight, support and assessment.

sets certain milestones

and establishes a management apparatus which

includes a General Officer Steering Committee, sm Executive Steering

Group and

a Project

Manager. The Executive Steering Group consists

of the Vice Chief of Staff of the Air Force, the

SAF/MR, the

Academy

Air Force General Counsel and the

Superintendent, and most likelv will

"° Memorandum from Secretary Roche to Michael L. Dominguez, Assistant Secretarv
of the Air Force for
Manpower and Reserve Affairs (Aug. 14, 2003) (Subject: "Oversight of Implementation of the Academy
Agenda for Change and Recommendabons of the Working Group Concerning the Deterrence of and

Response
"'

Id.
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evolve into a permanent structure providing oversight to the Academy. The plan contains a

one-year expiration date, which

The Panel

believes that the

permanent oversight

if

year."^

set forth

above could provide the

the Air Force were to institutionalize the plan as a

structure.

The Assistant Secretary
Academy, including the

now

be extended next

management plan

Academy

supervision required by the

the

will likely

considering other initiatives to provide continual oversight of

is

following: the Air Force Chief of Staff's annual climate survey shall

include the Academy; the Air Force IG shall conduct regular compliance inspections of the

Academy

at least

every three years; the Air Force Auditor General shall conduct regular audits

of the Academy; the function of liaison with the Board of Visitors shall be

Academy
issues at

to the Air Force Secretariat;
all

CORONAs,'"

and there

especially the Fall

shall

establish a

jj^^

Panel

is

concerned that
.

,,

the processes

,

and procedures

permanent performance management system,

...

.£
mcludmg specmc
.

drafting
° a directive to

is

the

CORONA

held at the Academy. In addition, the Panel has been
advised that the Air Force

moved from

be additional emphasis on Academy

1

^L

r

goals, for the

are not ^
yet embodied in a

^
J
Academy.

permanent organizational

The Panel
significant efforts

these

finds

initiatives

represent

by senior Air Force leadership

structure

to

monitor and oversee the implementation of processes

and procedures

prevention and response

for sexual assault

recommended

Report and directed by the Agenda for Change. However, the Panel

and procedures

are not yet

The Panel recommends

announced on August

embodied

in a

is

permanent organizational

structure.

that the Secretary of the Air Force adopt the

14, 2003,

Working Group

in the

concerned the processes

Accordingly,

management plan

including the creation of an Executive Steering Group, as

the permanent organizational structure by which senior Air Force leadership will
exercise effective oversight of the

Academy's deterrence of and response

to incidents of

sexual assault and sexual harassment.

In

addiHon to maintaining an Air Force entity external to the Academy

effective oversight,

"' Interview
'"

by Panel

it is

Staff

important to ensure that the tenures of

to provide

key Academy personnel

with Assistant Secretary Dominguez in Arlington, Va. (Sept.

8,

are

2003).

CORONA meetings are attended by the Secretary and Chief of Staff of the Air Force, all Assistant

Secretaries, the

General Counsel,

all

four-star Air Force generals,

and the Superintendent of the

AcademyPage 45
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sustained for an appropriate period of time to provide an effective balance between the need
for stability

and the need

for reinvigorated leadership.

tenures of the prior Superintendents and the
continuity in leadership that prevented the

The Panel

Commandants

is

concerned that the short

of Cadets contributed to a lack of

Academy from achieving enduring

sexual misconduct problem. Accordingly, the Panel

recommends

solutions to

its

the Air Force extend the

tour length of the Superintendent to four years and the tour length of the

Commandant

and

of Cadets to three years in order to provide for greater continuity

stability in

Academy leadership.
Conversely, the Panel

is

concerned that the Dean of Faculty

may have become

too

ingrained in the Academ\-'s institutional culture to have fully appreciated the indicators of a
sexual nusconduct problem. Currently,

appointed from

among

instruction.'" This requires the

already served at the

it is

a statutory requirement that the

who have

the pern^anent professors

Academy

Dean
for

Dean

of Facultv be

served as heads of departments of

of Faculty position be filled by an individual

some hme and

it

candidates to qualified individuals outside of the Academy. Accordingly,

recommends
to

expand the available pool of potential candidates

B. External

to

the

Panel

for the position of

of Faculty

Oversight - The Board of Visitors

Statutorily established

by 10 U.S.C. §

9355,"" the

Academ/s Board

Chairman. The next scheduled meeting of the Board of Visitors

Academy. This

Dean

permanent professors.

of fifteen members."* Representative Joel Hefley (R-CO), the Vice-Chair,

is

has

that the Air Force prepare a legislative proposal to revise 10 U.S.C. § 9335(a)

beyond the current limitation

The Board

who

precludes expanding the pool of potential

is

the Board's annual

visit to

the

is

is

of Visitors consists

currently the Acting

Octoh>er 10-12, 2003 at the

Academy mandated by 10

U.S.C. § 9355

required to subnut a written report to the President describing

its

(d).

actions, views

'" 10 U.S.C.
§ 9335(a) (2003) provides that the "Dean of Faculty shaD be appointed as an additional
permanent professor from the permanent professors who have served as heads of departments of
instruction at the Academy."
"' The Naval Academy and West Point have similar statutorilv established Boards
of Visitors. See. 10
U.S.C. § 6968 (2003) (Naval Academy); and 10 U.S.C. § 4355 (2003) (West Point).
'" These members include four senators (one appointed by the Chairman
of the Aimed Services
Committee; three designated by the Vice President or President pro tempore of the Senate, two of whom
are memhwrs of the Appropriations Committee); five representatives (one appointed bv the Chairman of
the Armed Services Comrtuttee; four designated by the Speaker, two of whom are members of the
Appropriations Committee); and six persons designated by the President. The Presidential appointees
serve tor 3-year terms, while each of the Congressional appointees serve annually, but mav be, and often

are, reappointed.
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and recommendations pertaining
statute requires the

Academy

to the

within sixty days after

Board to "inquire into morale and

physical equipment, fiscal

Academy which the Board
The Board of

affairs,

Academ/s

Panel on July

was

visit.

The

academic methods, and other matters relating to the

come under considerable

Visitors has

at the

criticism for

Academy and

in

its

working

perceived
to identify

needs. In his appearance before the

23, 2003,

member

Senator Allard, a

The Board of Visitors has come

of

the Board of Visitors, stated that the Board of
Visitors

annual

decides to consider."'"

shortcomings, both in the context of sexual assault
the

its

discipline, the curriculum, instruction,

under considerable cnHcism for

established to provide oversight of the

.

,

,

,

.

its

.

.

perceived shortcomings, both in

Academy, but the members were usually provided
only

a

show

slide

stating

the

the context of sexual assault at the

institution's

accomplishments, met with only one or two hand-

Academy and in working to

picked cadets and were taken on a tour of the

idenHfy the Academy's needs.

Academy. Senator Allard

member

that being a

also expressed his

view

of the Board of Visitors

"should not be merely a ceremonial honor. Membership should come wath responsibility and

commitment

to

In his

Visitors

make

June

oversight of the

23,

Academy

a top priority."'"

2003 appearance before the Panel, Secretary Roche noted the Board of

was composed of busy people donating

disappointment in the Board's oversight."'

He

their

time,

still

he made clear his

stated his desire that the Board be

a board of directors of a firm, responsible to the "shareholders" of the Academy,
taxpayers,

which

it

currently

is

more akin
i.e.,

to

the U.S.

not.

The Academy's Director of Plans

&

typical attendance at the Board's meetings

Programs, Colonel James W. Spencer, advised that
is

low."°

Some Board members have

apparently not

attended any meetings, while others are credited with attending the entirety of multi-day

meetings

at

which they were present

Washington, D.C.

to

only a few hours or

for

accommodate

less.

Attempts to hold meetings in

the schedules of Congressional

members, including

scheduling meetings in August during the Congressional recess, did not substantively improve

"'
'"

'"

10 U.S.C. § 9355(e).
Statement of Senator Allard to the Panel

in

Statement of Secretary Roche to the Panel

Washington, D.C. 0une 23, 2003), at 28-29.
Washington, D.C. Oune 23, 2003), at 49-98.

in

'" Interview
by Panel Staff with Colonel James W. Spencer, Director of Plans and Programs,
Colorado Springs, Colo. Ouly 10, 2003).

USAFA

in
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U.S AIR

members

attendance. Less than one-hiilf of the CongressionaJ
thirds of the civilian (Presidential appointee)

had no formal meeting. Colonel Spencer
get the Board to approve agendas for

would prepare proposed
also

had problems

members

also noted that the

and reports

of

Board

to address issues

Academy

University trusteeship (in

imposes important fiduciary

responsibilities.

Visitors should be considered with particular

these responsibilities. All current
reliable

Upon

and

and

criticisms.

deemed
to

be

Each candidate

substantive or important by

for

in the

Board of

appointment

to the

emphasis on his or her willingness

members should

Academy

The Academy has

social gatherings.

membership

terms,

difficult to

it

to

undertake

be reminded of them. Their discharge must

new member should meet

new member's

duties.

Among

with the Chairman of the Board for a

these duties are regular attendance at

Board meetings, the number to be increased to four annually; careful preparation
meeting; assignment to one or
vigilant,

probing frame of mind

institution, but

Visitors)

Board of

well informed.

selection, each

presentation on the

Academv has found

meetings, even though the

its

drafts for the Board's input, approval

in getting the

typically attend, while two-

attend. In 2001, the Board of Visitors

the Academy, and has found that the meetings often tended

be regular,

FORCE ACADE.\(Y

one which

more sub-committees

— one

scrutinizes

all

all

for each

of the Board; and preservation of a

not satisfied with being "fed" information by the

aspects of the Academy.

.

Informed trustees of universities, invariably leaders in their

own

fields of

endeavor and

communities, are in a strong position to represent the insHtution and to accurately answer
questions about
at

it;

and, they cultivate an objective frame of

the institution as they

Governance

arise.

University trusteeship

and the principles applying

in business,

is

Academy.

Rhodes

and female, from

It is

scholars, or the

The Academy

patriotism.

trust.

for

Head

is

of the

a great national military school

our young people

Such an

institution

Page 48

to the former.

randomly-chosen groups of

staff,

one

or

two

at the

carefully selected

Cadet Honor Court.

— a form of small universitv continuing

— young women and men of character,

demands

a Governing board of singvilar

The informahon provided to the Panel paints an

Board

visits vvath

guidance

an hour or two during each Board meeting

not enough to have a meal with the Wing

to attract the ablest of

and

all classes,

in considering various issues

to the latter offer

The Board of Visitors should establish regular
cadets, male

mind

the academic equivalent of corporate

of Visitors which, to date, has provided

little

intelligence

commitment and

entirely different picture regarding the

effective oversight of

gender issues, the
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attitude

and climate concerning women and the existence and handling

other sexual misconduct

at

The Panel's recommended changes
improving

to the

composiHon of the Board of

functioning pertain only to the Air Force

its

Headquarters

is

of sexual assault

and

the Academy.

Academy Board

Visitors

and

for

of Visitors. Air Force

mechanisms

currently considering the establishment of effective

for the

oversight of the Academy, including a revitalized role for the Board of Visitors. In furtherance

of this revitalization, the Panel

•

Operate more

recommends that the Board of Visitors:

like a corporate

board of directors with regularly organized

committees charged with distinctive responsibilities
student

life,

athletics, etc.).

The Board

two of those meetings

year, with at least

meetings shall include

practical,

participation

and

shall

unfettered access to

•

meet not
at the

at least

one

be scheduled so as

participation by Congressional

classes

shall

{e.g.,

academic

affairs,

less than four times per

Academy. To the extent
day of meaningful

full

provide the fullest

to

members. Board members must have

Academy grounds and

and meeting with cadets informally and

cadets, to include attending
privately;

and

Receive candid and complete disclosure by the Secretary of the Air Force

and the Academy Superintendent of
but not limited

to,

related to culture

all institutional

problems, including

aU gender related matters, cadet surveys and information

and climate and incidents of sexual harassment and sexual

assaults.

The Panel

also

recommends

revise 10 U.S.C. § 9355.

that the Air Force prepare a legislative proposal to

The suggested

revisions should include both the foregoing and

following recommendations:

•

Changing the composition of the Board
(and, therefore,

minority individuals and at least two
•

to include fewer Congressional

more Presidential-appointed) members, more women and

Academy

graduates;

Requiring that any individual accepting an appointment as a Board

commitment

to attend each

meeting of the Board, and

pledge

full

out

of the duties and responsibilities of a Board

all

member,

member
to

cany

to the fullest

extent practical;
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•

Terminating any Board member's appointment for

failing to attend or fully

participate in tAvo successive Board meetings, unless granted prior excusal
for
•

good cause by the Board Chairman;

Providing clear oversight authority of the Board over the Academy, and
direct that, in addition to the reports of

furnished to the President,
reports

it

shall

its

annual meetings required to be

submit those reports and such other

prepares to the Chairmen of the Senate and House

it

and

Services Committees, the Secretary of Defense
Force, to identify

all

matters of the Board's concerns with or about the Air

Force Academy, and to
•

Armed

the Secretary of the Air

recommend appropriate

action thereon;

and

Eliminating the current requirement for Secretarial approval for the Board
to visit the

Academy for other than annual visits.

C. External Oversight - Congress
The Panel

is

cognizant of the

critical role

of Congressional oversight of the Executive

branch of Government. The importance of that oversight
at the

is

underscored by the recent problems

Academy.

In Section III.B.3 above, the Panel

recommended

the

DoD

IG conduct a thorough

review of the accountability of Academy and Air Force Headquarters leadership for the sexual
assault

problems over the

results of the

last

decade; the Panel further

review to the House and Senate

Panel encourages the

Armed

ongoing Air Force IG and

Services

DoD

Armed

Committees

recommended

the

DoD

IG provide the

Services Coiiimittees. Additionally, the

to provide oversight of the results of the

IG investigations, since neither investigation was completed

during the term of the Panel.

The Panel notes

that the

2004 contains several provisions
legislation requires

to prevent sexual

an

proposed National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year
to address sexual

aruiual assessment of each

nusconduct at the Service Academies.'" The

Academy's

policies, training

and procedures

misconduct and an armual report on sexual misconduct. The aivnual report

must address the following matters:

'"

National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2004, H.R. 1558, 108th Cong., Title V, § 534 (2003).
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The number

•

of sexual assaults, rapes

academy persormel

number of the
The

•

that

and other sexual offenses involving

have been reported to academy

officials,

and the

reported cases that have been substantiated;

procedures and processes implemented by the Secretary of the

policies,

and

Military Service

the leadership of the

academy

in response to sexual

misconduct involving academy personnel;

•

The

•

A

results of the

annual survey; and

plan for the actions to be taken in the following

academy program year

regarding prevention of and response to sexual misconduct involving

academy

personnel.'"

The

legislation requires transmission of the

the Board of Visitors and the Committees on
legislation shall provide a
at the Service

meaningful vehicle

Academies and

shall

annual report to the Secretarv' of Defense,

Armed
for

Services.

The Panel

is

confident that this

Congressional oversight of sexual misconduct

enhance the oversight capacity of the Boards of Visitors.

D. External Oversight - The Inspector General
The

legislation establishing the Panel

and setting out

its

duties requires the Panel to

and incorporate as appropriate, the findings of ongoing studies being conducted by

"review,

the Air Force General Counsel and Inspector General."'" These studies include an investigation
of individual cases involving sexual assault allegations at the

Force IG

is

Academy. The report of

the Air

not expected to be issued until well after the date of this report. However, the Air

Force IG and

some

session to discuss

of his representatives appeared before the Panel

some of

the evidence collected to date.

on

The Panel

July 31, 2003 in closed

is

satisfied

with the Air

Force IG's objectives and plan for achieving those objectives.

The

DoD

IG

is

also currently conducting an investigation

Panel. In late August 2003, the
its

May

2003

initial

DoD

and appeared before

this

IG provided the Panel with preliminary data pertaining to

survey of female cadets at the Academy, designed to indicate the scope of

recent sexual assault incidents and assess the sexual assault climate at the Academy.'*'

On

•Id.

No. 108-11, §

'

Pub.

'

DoD IG,

L.

Initial

501(c),

117

Stat.

559 (2003).

Sexual Assault Survey Findings

(May

2003).
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DoD

11, 2003, the

May

expanded on the data from the
2003-2006 (87.9% of the

total

43 cadets (7.4% of

•

FORCE ACADE.VfY

IG provided the Panel with

States Air Force Academi/ Sexual Assault Survey

classes

.MB.

al!

its

("DoD IG

follow-on Report on the United

The

Survey").

female population) found,

among other

attempted rape in their time

109 cadets (18.8% of

one instance

IG Survey
in

Academy

things:

respondents) - including 15 members of the Class of 2003

(11.7% of that class) - indicated they had been victims of

•

DoD

2003 survey. The sur\'ey of 579 female cadets

all

at the

one rape or

at least

Academy;

respondents) mdicated they had been victims of

of sexual assault-"' in their time at the

at least

Academy;

Cadets indicated that only 33 (18.6%) of the 177 sexual assault incidents were

•

reported to the authorities; 143 (80.8%) were mdicated as not reported;

143 of the 177 sexual assault incidents were recorded bv the victims as not being

•

reported to any authorit\- because of

ostraasm by peers

and

(in

the belief that nothing

The top two reasons given

•

(after

embanassment

(in

77 incidents), fear of

66 incidents), fear of some form of reprisal

would be done
for

embarrassment) were

why

(in

(in

61 incidents)

58 incidents).

cadets thought that victims were not reporting

fear of ostracism

by peers and

fear of

being puiushed

for other infractions.

Especially disturbing

was

the

DoD

IG Survey finding

that

88.4% of cadets

who were

rape or attempted rape victims disagreed or strongly disagreed with the statement that "most
cadets are willing to report a sexual assault incident regardless of loyalty to the offender."'^

DoD
the

IG reports that

fall

plans to conduct a more robust survey of

all

three Service

The

Acadenues in

of 2003.

The
last

it

DoD

IG also provided the Panel with data on sexual assaults investigated over the

10 years extracted from the criminal investigative

files at

AFOSI.'" Overall, the

DoD

found that the cases referred to the AFOSI were adequately investigated. However, delays
reporting, a factor

which

is

DoD IG

Survev noted that the Air Force considers the defiiution ot sexual assault used in the
may result in a higher count of sexual assault incidents than is actualKwarranted. The DoD IG concluded, however, that the definition is not so broad as to suggest that the
rnajority of incidents claimed were improperly classified by the respondents as sexual assault.

The

survey to be too broad and

"*
'"

DoD IG, Initial Sexual Assault Survey Findings (May 2003), at 34.
DoD IG Review of Sexual Assault Investigations at the Air Force Academy
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investigations.
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IG

(Aug. 26, 2003).
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The

DoD

IG team singled out

for review criminal investigations of sexual assaults

reported during the period Januar\' 2000 to February 2003. There were 18 sexual assaults
investigated during that period,
assaults.

One

and 6 of them concerned cadet-on-cadet (female

of the 18 cases contained investigarive deficiencies, wfhich the

victim) sexual

DoD

IG team

felt

may have hindered adjudication.
As discussed above,
of the

Academy

oversight

at least

mechanisms

the Air Force IG will be conducting regular compliance inspections

every three years. These inspections should supplement other external

for the

Academy-
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V.

DEVELOPMENT
As

part of the review of the relationship

the Academy, including factors that

between the command climate

may have produced

for

women

at

a fear of retribution for reporting

sexual misconduct and the circumstances that resulted in sexual rrusconduct at the Academy,
this

Panel examined the organizational culture of the

may have

character development and training which
live

honorably

— and indeed,

to

commit sexual

Academy and programs aimed

resulted in the failure of

assaults

on

some

their fellow cadets. This section

discusses the gender climate at the Academy, including the statistical representation of
tools for assessing the

as the

Honor Code and

gender climate cmd gender

at

cadets to

bias; aspects of character

women;

development such

the Center for Character Development; and cadet training.

A. Gender Climate
1. Statistical

Representation

To understand

the cultural elements at the

of sexual misconduct, including sexual assault

the statistical representation of

Academy

women

and

at the

Academy

that contributed to the occurrence

rape, there

first

Academy and

accepts approximately 1,200 cadets into

its

must be an understanding

in the Air Force.

freshman

class."*

Each

of

year, the

The incoming

class of

2007 has 1,302 cadets, of which 221 (17%) are women.'" This closely matches the current
gender composition of the Air Force. Following Basic Cadet Training (BCT) and the acceptance
parade,

all

cadets are assigned to the Cadet Wing.

The Cadet Wing

The Wing

is

at the

Academy

squadrons. The First-Class cadets
cadets

fill

the Cadet

commissioned

'**

'"

structured similar to an active duty Air Force Wing.

and

officer.

officer. Military

entire

make up

Non- Commissioned

assigned an active duty

leadership

is

broken out into four Groups, and each Group

squadron

Air Officer

is

further subdivided into nine

the Cadet Officer leadership, and Second-Class
Officer leadership positions.

Each Squadron

Commanding ("AOC"), and an

active duty

is

non-

Training Leader ("MTL"), to mentor and assist the cadet

in its trairung

and educational missions.

Working Croup Report, at ii.
E-mail from Colonel William Carpenter, USAF, Director of Admissions, USAFA, in response to Panel

Staff inquiry (Aug. 11, 2003).
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For each semester

(fall

and

spring) for the class years 1997-2001, the

average, 155 cadet First-Class leadership positions.

Women

Academy

an average of 24

tilled

had, on

positions, or

approximately 15.5% of those positions. The actual percentage fluctuated greatly bv semester,

with a low of 11.3% and a high of 24.1%."° This year

and MTLs,

AOCs'" and

five

MTLs. The 2003

eight

MTLs

Academv, of the

at the

women.'" This

translates to

number of female

position of

AOC.

is

increase the likelihood of

Henceforth,

assume the uruque

Change

may

AOCs

MTL

assignment

policies.

it

more female

shall be specially selected

duties of leading, mentoring

silent as to

AOCs
AOCs and

sixty-four

of

all

role models.

While the Agenda for Change does not mandate quotas,
policy provisions that

20%

represent an increase, up from 10.4% last year, which was a

statistics

disproportionately low

are

and

does announce personnel

role

models

filling

the

trairung cadets.

However, the Agenda

it

is

conducting for officer assignments

Currently 99.7% of
the

all

Force's most prestigious
flying fighter,

combat

bomber and

or the Marine Corps

pilot positions

were

at the

policies.

women,

Air Force positions are open to

Na\y (94%), the Army (67.2%)

(62''o).'"

lifted in

a higher percentage than

Since restrictions on the Air

1993, the

numbers of women

special operations aircraft has steadily increased, but

still

remain

low.'"

"°

A

1988

1993
to

GAO review of the representation of women in cadet leadership positions for the classes of

1992 found that

women

were represented

in

proportion to their percentage of the Cadet Wing.

GAO Report, Air Force Academy: Gender and Racial Disparities (Sept.
'"'

Two additional

female Air Officers

graduate progreim, and

Commanding ("AOC")

will serve as full-time

1993).

are currently er\rolled in the

AOCs begjnrung next vear.

newly aeated

See E-mail from Major Joel A.

USAF, 34th Training Wing Executive Officer, to Panel Staff (Aug. 13, 2003).
was one female AOC and six female Military Training Leaders ("MTL"), which
translates to 10.4%. Working Croup Report, at 108.
'" Margaret C. Harrell et al.. The Status of Gender Integration in the Military: Analysis
of
Selected Occltants 5 (2002).
'" For example, in 2001 there were 21 female F-16 pilots, which
is 1.3°o of 1,620 total in this occupation.

Jones,

'" In 2(X)2, there

Id. at 97.
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review of Non-Commissioned Officer assignment policies and tour lengths

Academy as

critical

and academically prepared

138
ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE AND CHARACTER DEVELOPMENT

This Panel believes

it

is critical

that

all

cadets have a sufficient

qualified role models, both m.ale and female, from

knowledge and mirror performance. These

whom

number

relationships are vital to the cadets' preparation for

entry into the active duty Air Force which

_
„
TTiJS Panel believes
, ,

.

,.

of

...
.
-xtt is critical

of highly-

they can seek guidance, gain

17.8% female

officer

is

and 19.8% female

made up
enlisted

airmen, larger percentages than any other Service.'"

that all cadets have a sufficient
2.

number of highly-qualified role
models, both male

Climate Assessment Tools

and female,

„

.

.

whom they can seek

f^ue

insight into

women

guidance, gain knowledge and

m and

at the

,

.

Stabstics

from

,.

,

,

of themselves

the actual cultural climate for

Academy.

Social Climate Surveys,

'^^ other hand, are a standard tool

mirror aerformance

commanders

,

do not provide

on

implemented by

across the Services to keep informed

about sensitive issues and the attitudes of service

members. The Academy conducted climate surveys on such issues as adherence

to the

Honor

Code, alcohol use, fraternization and discrimination. In 1996, the surveys began to include
questions

on

sexual assault.

These Social Climate Surveys were,

in general, poorly constructed

and administered.

Although the Academy recognized design and sample flaws early on, these errors were

Academy

leaders declared the surveys invalid each time

repeated year

after year.

the findings.

They then administered

the

same survey each following

complained in written comments on the survey about the instrument's errors

"MTL,"

for Military Training Leader, not

"MTA") and

the effect of

its

and dismissed

year.

Even cadets

(e.g.,

the term

is

length (about 100

questions) on obtaining valid and complete 5un.'eys. Because these problems remained

unaddressed from year to
responses could
the Panel

is

make

year,

it

is

not surprising that

some

cadets doubted whether their

a difference. Given the importance of these issues to the student body,

troubled that

Academy

leadership allowed the continued incompetence in

administering these surveys.

'"

Roughly 15% of the Army and Navy officer and enlisted personnel are women; only 5.4% of Marine
and 6.1% of Marine enlisted are women. Id. at 5.

officers
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Even given unrepresentative

AIR FORCE

findings, cadet responses

ACADEMY

and written comments should

have alerted leadership that improved questionnaires would provide valuable
certiiin issues

insights,

and

that

were worthy of immediate investigation. For example, survey statements such as

the following should have been cavise for concern:

"Though

have not been subject

I

to sexual assault,

two of

my

friends have been

during the spring semester. Both were raped by other cadets, and neither disclosed
this information. I

USAFA, a fact

think this serves as testimony to the unstable social climate at

not everyone seems conscious of

'""

"There's a lot of stuff that goes on here assault-wise that's not reported. I

who have

friends of mine

know of 2

been ass[a]ulted and don't seek help or prolsjecution

because of what they see happens to victims. ...""'

The Panel recommends

that the

Academy draw upon

climate survey resources at

the Air Force Personnel Center Survey Branch for assistance in creating

administering the surveys. Further, the Panel recommends that the

keep centralized records of
all

written

comments

to

anv

3.

Gender Bias

all

surveys, responses

such reports must be provided to Academy leadership.

report. Ail

in the integration of

Although integration was not mandated
begin strategizing the integration of

Force

Academy accepted women

Academy and

8%

at

'"

'"

as

women

10%

into the Service Academies.

until 1976, in 1972 the Air Force

women.'" tXiring the
of

its

West Point) and those

counterparts at the Naval

"*

and reports and keep typed records of

(not abbreviated or paraphrased) - to be provided as an appendix

The Air Force has led the way

to

and

Academy should

Academy and West

first

was

inconiing class (compared to

women

the sole Service

year of integration, the Air

6%

at the

Naval

graduated at a higher rate than their

Point.'"

USAFA Sodal Oimate Survey (2002) (comment by female Fourth-aass cadet).
USAFA Social Climate Survey (2002) (comment by female First-Oass cadet).
Although these vears ot advance preparation did not mean the integration proceeded flawlessly.
Bring Me Men and Women; Mandated Change at the U.S. air Force academy

jLT)rrH Hicks Sttehm,
(1981).

'"W.
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As discussed above, only 17%
disparity,

women. Along with

of the Class of 2007 are

this

female cadets have stepped into an environment in which approximately one

women

male cadets believe

do not belong

some male cadets took the time
regarding the presence of
Forces, they should not

be

women

at the

in five

Academy.'™ As recently as the 2002 surveys,

respond with

to

Academy

at the

gender

comments

specific written derogatory

women

including, "even with

at the military academies,"'"

and "women

in the

are worthless

Armed

and should

be taken away from USAFA."'"

These

women

statistics

and comments

Academy's existence,

women

contributions to both the

The Panel has
routinely attend

and

t-shirts

"Last

in 1980.

more

when one

members

Bitches (or Broads)." While

toward the presence of

women

at

which are derogatory' toward
described by an alarming

envirorunent that

is

to feel

women

number

some may

made

significant

and display

unwelcome.

license plates, caps,

for "Last Class

With

Balls" or

find this public display of aiumosity

Academy humorous,

the

first

of the graduating class of 1979

functions, including athletic events,

with the logo "LCWB." The logo supposedly stands

Qass Without

considers that the

the Air Force.

also received reports that

Academy

striking

For over a quarter of a century, nearly half of the

have been part of the corps of cadets and have

Academy and

which female cadets are made

4.

are even

graduated from the Academy

it

contributes to

an environment

in

In the Panel's view, sanctioned displays

diminish the role and value of

women,

of male cadets in the climate surveys

fuel the attitudes

and contribute

to

an

unwelcoming of women.

Dormitory Safety and Security
In the recently released partial findings of the

conducted in

May

2003, an overwhelming majority (over

safe" or "safe" in every location at the

DoD

IG's survey of female cadets

90%) indicated

that they feel "very

Academy, except when "alone on the Academy grounds

during hours of darkness."'" Given that over half the investigated allegations of sexual assault

"° This figure is

Academy for surveys conducted in 1998,
male cadets didn't bebeve women belonged at the Academy.
2000, the number was 21.4%. In 2001, 20.9% of male cadets held this same belief. And, in 2002, 26.9%
the male cadets didn't believe women belonged at the Academy. (Charts showing male and female

2000, 2001
In
of

according to survey results provided by the

and 2002.

In 1998,

cadets' responses to these
'"

'"

20.6%

and

of the

related survey questions are included as Appendix

I.)

USAFA Social Climate Survey (2002) (comment by male Second-Class cadet).
USAFA Social Climate Survey (2002) (comment by male Fourth-Class cadet).

'"Then, 68.9%
unsafe."

felt

"very safe" or "safe";

20%

felt

"somewhat safe"; and 10.9%
(May 2003).

felt

"unsafe" or "very

DoD IG, Initial Sexual Assault Survey Findings
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occurred in the donnitories/" supervision of the cadets in the dormitories, alcohol consumption

and

policies,

and

rules

on emergency

access to telephones served as the focus of the Panel's

attenhon.

a.

Supervision

Prior to the adoption of the

Agenda for Change, the dormitories were effectively

unsupervised from 30 minutes past Taps (10:30 p.m. weekdays, 12:00 a.m. on training

weekends, and 1:30 a.m. on non-training weekends)
are located in the dorms, but the staff

week and by mid-aftemoon on
Officer of the

training

Day

patrolled

A single

training weekends.

from 7:00 p.m.

area.

The

AOC

in the early

Officer of the

until 11:30 p.m., after

wing operations center in the cadet

random and

until 6:00 a.m.

would normally depart

MTL

and

offices

evening during the

Day and

cadet Senior

which time they

According to a Deputy Group

slept in the

AOC,

three

periodic inspections were required of the patrol area, including the two

dormitories, the cadet field house, the library, Mitchell and Arnold Halls, the cadet chapel,

cadet parking

and the gym."'

lots

Each squadron had a Cadet Charge of Quarters ("CCQ") to oversee

from 6:00 a.m.
the

CCQs

little

until

were charged with enforcing dorai standards,

control over First-

for Change

AOC/MTL

and Second-Class

makes no reference

understand the

its

dormiton,' area

30 minutes past Taps. The Working Group Report found that even though

CCQ

cadets,

to this issue.'"

who

this

The Panel

speaks for the cadet chain of

proved

difficult

because they had

could be superior in rank.'" The Agenda
is

of the opinion that cadets should

command and

the

AOC/MTL.

and cadet leadership support the actions of the CCQ, the system

If

the

promote the

will

valuable purpose of providing discipline within the dormitory.

The Agenda

for

Change did mcrease

the after-hours patrol

by an

AOC/MTL

to 24 hours.

For additional officer/NCO presence in the dorms, the Academy added four Officers of the

Day

(one from each group) and required patrol of the cadet area 24 hours a day. Although the Panel
appreciates that patrolling will not prevent

"'
'"

Working Group
Id. at

all

incidents of sexual assault, the increased

Report, at 101.

104-105.

'" Id. at 104.
'"

This Panel notes that such Charge of Quarters duty, with disparity in rank issues, is not unusual in the
is it toreign in the cadet environment. Specifically, the Panel notes that the majority of

active force, nor

the Security Forces assigned to the

Academy are

would doubt the authority of, for example, a
committed by cadets, or that same Airmen's
Page 60

technically junior in rank to

any

cadet. Yet,

no one

Security Forces Airmen, to investigate offenses allegedly

authority to

apprehend a cadet suspect.
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presence and the potential for random appearance of supervision should certainly increase the
safety

b.

and

security of the dormitories.

Alcohol Consumption and Policies

At
of alcohol

least

40%

of investigated cadet-on-cadet sexual assault allegations involved the use

by the cadet suspect, the cadet

victim, or both.'™

the use of alcohol
of

The Panel

is

The Agenda

for

Change addressed

by mandating immediate disenrollment

any cadet found

to

have provided, purchased

for,

or

optimistic about
sold alcohol to an underage cadet."*

the efforts of the

new
Additionally, the Panel

Commandant of Cadets.

encouraging

staff

and

Weida

Panel that he has placed an emphasis on

facult)' to join the

to include setting the

life,

optimistic about the

new Commandant

located within Arnold Hall in the cadet

cadet

is

efforts of the
told the

upper
area.'*'

of Cadets. General

"Hap's Place,"

class cadets at

faculty shall follow through with this important mission.

Academy

We

trust the staff

The Panel recommends

that the

place a renewed emphasis on education and encouragement of responsible

consumption of alcohol
c.

the sports bar

example of responsible drinking and appropriate behavior

related to alcohol consumption, shall provide a valuable learning experience.

and

"°

Senior officer attendance and participation in

for all cadets.

Telephone Access

Some

female cadets expressed concern to the Panel that gaining access to phones to

register a complaint, call the hotline, or seek help for a sexual assault

impossible.

They

locations of the

stated there are a limited

number

phones and the requirement

of phones,

would be

difficult or

near

and expressed concern about the

that Fourth-Class cadets get permission to use

them. Following graduahon of the First-Class cadets, rising Third-Class cadets

may purchase

'"

Working Croup Report, at 96.
The Agenda for Change provision does not require immediate disenrollment for underage drinking.
"°
E-mail from Colonel Steven R. Eddy, USAF, to Panel Staff (Aug. 29, 2003). Hap's Place is open

"'

Monday to

On

Thursday, from 6:30 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.

for

use by

first-class

cadets

who are

21 years of age or

Wednesdays and 100-150 on Thursdays, when there
is either cadet entertainment or hired entertainment. A business decision keeps Hap's Place closed on
the weekends due to lack of income in the past. It is, however, open the first Friday of every month now,
known as "First Friday," based upon the Commandant's decision to encourage the leadership team to
older.

average, 50-75 cadets attend

Mondays

to

with the cadets.
Statement of Brigadier General Johnny A. Weida, USAF, Commandant,
Colorado Springs, Colo. Quly 11, 2003).

socialize
'"

USAFA,

to the Panel in

Page 61
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U.S.

male and female,

and cany

cellular

seemed

be in possession of phones which a Fourth-Class cadet could use Ln an emergency.

to

However,

phones

for

personal use. Nearly

all

upper

to ensure the safety of every cadet, the Panel

implement

a policy permitting unrestricted

private access to telephones for use

by any

{i.e.,

class cadets,

recommends

that the

Academy

no explanation required at any time)

cadet, including Fourth-Class cadets, in an

emergency.

B. Character

Development

The Panel concurs with the Working Group Report
of the

Academy

represents a failure of character,'"

problem.'" The development of character

and

— personal

that sexual assault

the Air Force's "Core Values." The

cheat, nor tolerate

among

organizahonal culture at the

whom

this

and

Academy

who

We

perpetrators of sexual assaults do not. Because character

1.

lie,

steal, or

The cadet environment and

pillars.

pillars;
is

Uniformly, the cadets with

however, by their actions,

a key aspect in the deterrence of

Honor Code System

or in the character development

contribute to or foster the occurrence of sexual assault at the

Academy.

Honor Code
The American public expects

officers in all Military Services to

our nation's defense while maintaining the highest standards of
is

Honor Code; and

that cadets "will not

Do.

revolve around these

Panel interacted subscribe to live by these

programs may

a fundamental mission of

is

does." The Air Force Core Values require

Excellence in All

sexual assault,'" deficiencies in either the

is

environment

a character-related

two-fold: (1) the

is

Honor Code mandates

[them] anyone

Integrity First, Service Before Self,

—

integrity

the Academy. The cornerstone of the Academy's culture
(2)

that sexual assault in the

instilled at the

Academy from

the very beginning of a cadet's career through

Honor Code. The Honor Code

is

standard" of conduct for cadets. This rrunimum standard

is

the foremost being the

code" and

is

the foundation

perform

upon which each cadet

their duties in

integrity. This public obligation

meant

many

to represent the

avenues,

"minimum

often referred to as the "letter of the

builds a personal concept of professional

ethics.""

" Working Group Report,
"

Id. at 15.

"

Id. at 26.

at vi.

" See exceipt from the Honor Code Reference Handbook, available at http://www.usafa.af.miiywing
34cwc/cwd»/cwchmb.htm.
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VNTiile

process."*

cadets operate the

cadets are taught

amount

for

(Ret.), a

duty officer mentor supervises the

under the Code (cadet

will

class),

sanction.'" According to a report in 2001

if

probation'"

is

a

by General Michael P.C. Cams,

majority of cadets hold the belief that disenroUment as the presumptive sanction

facult)'

member

Program agrees with
reworked

violation,

the cadet's prior histor^^ and

be considered in order to determine

an Honor Code violation should be abandoned, especially

Academy

Honor Code

that factors such as the egregiousness of the offense, the

of time the cadet has lived

more appropriate

active

the presumptive sanction for an

is

and understand

any other relevant circumstances

USAF

Honor System, an

Although disenroUment

in cases of toleration.'"

A

former

involved with the Honor System and Character Development

and holds the view

this belief,"*

in the light of the current sexual assault

that the entire

Honor System must be

problems. This faculty

member

asserts that

cadets are unwilling to report their peers for violations because they fear that their peers will be
disenrolled.'"

WTiile thought provoking, these views are not consistently held bv

Academy.'" Cadets
Representatives and

holding

positions

within

all

cadets at the

Honor System, including Honor

the

Wing Honor Board members, were unanimous

in

urging that

"*
The officer mentor on the Wing Honor Board must be an 0-4 or above and a graduate ot a service
Academy or have worked with cadets at the Academy for at least one yecir. (See Honor Code Reference
Handbook § 2.7.6.3 at 34.) TTie purpose of the officer mentor at Wing Honor Board proceedings is to

and insights acquired from e.vperience as part of the active duty Aii Force. Tlie officer
mentor takes part in alJ proceedings of the Wing Honor Board, to include questioning the respondent
and witnesses, reviewing evidence, and taking part in deliberations. The officer mentor does not have a
offer lessons

vote in the determination of violation/no violation. See Interview by Panel Staff with Cadet

Committee Representatives
""

A cadet is twice given

in

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Aug.

5,

Honor

2003).

Immediate Honor Probation during the honor
Letter of Notification tfiat the honor process is
commencing based on an alleged violation, and immediately following a finding of violation by the
Cadet Sanctions Recommendation Panel. The Request for Immediate Probation does not guarantee the

process:

when

the opportunity to request

the respondent

Commandant will

is

served with the

elect to retain the

official

respondent. See Honor Code Reference

Handbook

and §

§ 2.6.3

2.6.3.1 at 31.
""

Interview by Panel Staff with Cadet

(Aug.
'"

5,

Honor Committee

Representatives in Colorado Springs, Colo.

2003).

According to the 2001

Cams

Report,

60%

of cadets reject the

disenroUment. Cadets bebeve punishments should better

fit

Honor System's presumptive sanction

the crime, the system of punishments

is

of

too

should be a "difference in punishments made for offenses by different classes, and that
honor offenses occur on a graduated scale of severity. Almost 70% of cadets would tolerate or possibly
tolerate honor violations "depending on the severit\' of the violation" and 78% would continue to
excessive, there

tolerate violations as

"

long as the presumptive sanction of disenroUment

is

in place.

Cams Report

(Aug.

2001).
'*

E-mail from Colonel Charles

'"

Charles Yoos, BlessentmonCoeurD'uhf. langvevr Monotone (\Jn6AKd.).

J.

Yoos,

II,

USAF

(Ret), to Panel Staff (July 28, 2003).

™ Interview by Panel Staff with Cadets in Colorado Springs,

Colo. (Aug. 1-5, 2003).
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disenrollment remain the presumptive sanction

tor

Honor Code

Honor

The cadets explained

violation.

Code should

that the

S.

an

Jq

m

exceed the

.

.

^y

j/j^

"spirit of the

code,

conunitting a severe honor violation are not welcome at the
_
.
the Air Force.
Academy, nor are they wanted
,

/jyg

...
.„ a cadet
_jj.
is expected to

not be weakened and were adamant those

minimum

standard and show
These cadets distinguished toleration, "allowing

Code

suspected Honor

integrity in all of his or her

go uncorrected"'" from

violations to

actions.

condonation, "allowing a regulations violation
unreported."'"

The Panel agrees

recommended by
To

and show

live

It

is

intended to focus on the behavior that

it

the "spirit of the code."

by the

"spirit of the

integrit\' in all of his

code," a cadet

behave "dishonorably" without

Academy

is

expected to exceed the

minimum

or her actions. Adherence to the spirit of the

and do the "right thing"

Regular

is

not intended to encompass the broader "honorable living"

cadet to go bevond the four negative
tolerating)

go

that such a distinction

should be drawn. The Academy's Honor System
specifically prohibits.

to

commands

of the

at all times, despite

Code

Code

standard

requires a

Oying, stealing, cheating and

adverse pressures.'" Thus, cadets can

lying, stealing, cheating or tolerating

someone who does.

disciplinary channels deal with such other "dishonorable" behavior.

Cadets allowing dishonorable behavior that

falls

outside the prohibitions of the

are condorung, as opposed to tolerating in contravention of the

Honor Code

Honor Code. These

acts of

condonation seem to have conhributed to or permitted an environment in which sexual
misconduct could occur

Air Force
parallels the

"'
'**

See

at the

Academy.

Academy Cadet Wing

Instruction 51-201 provides a conduct standard that

non- toleration clause of the Honor Code. The Academy's

Honor Representative Training Handbook,

USAFA Fourth-Class Honor

Fall

official

Lesson

1,

position

at 5-6.

a cadet overlooks or implies forgiveness of a violation (either at the
time of occurrence or afterwards) of directives, policies, or instructions and/or fails to take immediate
action, he/she has condoned that misconduct. For example, a cadet is guilty of condonation if he/she

"Condonation"

is

defined

knew or should have known
driver had

consumed

as: "If

that

an individual wcis consuming cdcohol underage or knew the cadet

alcoholic beverages prior to operating a vehicle while impaired or intoxicated but

failed to take action to stop the cadet

from operating the

vehicle."

AFCW Instruction 51-201, Attachment

1.

'"

See

Honor Code Reference Handbook,

cheating, and

Page 64
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at 2.

The Code

requires honesty

by avoiding lying, stealing, and
and self-repiorting.

requires professional responsibility by requiring self-policing
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regarding condonation
If

a cadet

up

to the

is

is

that condonation

found to have condoned

amount assigned

To focus on the

to the cadet

distinction

emphasizes a need to bve by the

The Agenda
will

for

the

situation

and exercise

Code

receive demerits

and sanctions

letter of the

Honor Code

for the

toleration, the Agetida for

Code.

It

asserts that

shunning cadets

or for disciplinary infractions) cannot be
level of

achons of

and standard

their subordinates.

be held accountable

activity will

Change

rather than encouraging interpretive efforts

Change also increases the

be responsible

aware of or observing criminal

may

between condonahon and

spirit of

by cadets to evade punishment under the

Cadet commanders

a nunimum, in the realm of poor judgment.'*

committing the actual violation.'"

reporting others for violations (of the
tolerated.'"

at

is,

a violation, the cadet

if

they

fail to

for accountability.

Upper

class cadets

take charge of the

their leadership responsibilities.'" Specifically targeting responsibility' in

reported cases of sexual assault, the senior ranking cadet aware of or observing an infraction

all

committed by

a lower-class cadet will

now

be held responsible and accountable.'" The Panel

supports these changes in accountability standards.

Center for Character Development"'

2.

General Hosmer commissioned the Center
1993 to assess the character

makeup

for

Character Development ("CCD") in

of cadets and develop education

and

training

programs

improve the overall character of the cadet population.'"^ The CCD's present mission
facilitate

'*

See

character development programs

and

AFC\V Instruction 51-201 Chapter 3.2.6.3:

activihes throughout

all

aspects of the

Incidents of condonation are evaluated

on

to

is

to

Academy

a graduated

whether the cadet knew the violation would take place
before it happened and did he/she take reasonable measures to prevent it from happening; 2) if the cadet
did not know in advance, did he/she take active measures to halt the violation(s) while they were in
progress; and 3) if the cadet learned about the violation after the fact, it Ls not unreasonable to expect an
officer candidate to inform the violator that he/she should report themselves to their chain-of-command
scale of severity

in a reasonable
'"
'"

based on

amount

at least three factors: 1)

of time (for

example 24 hours) or they

v/ill

do

it

instead.

Id.

See Agenda for Change, at 6.

""Id.
"'

The Air Force Chief of Staff indicated a desire to change the name of the current center to the "Center
Leadership and Character Development." The recommendations which follow regarding the current
Center apply equally to any changes contemplated by the Air Force. Statement of General John P.
Jumper, USAF, to the Panel in Arlington, Va. (July 31, 2003).
for

"'

Working Group Report,

at 11.
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The CCD's

experience.

objective

is

voluntarily decide the right thiing to do

In furtherance of

Relations, Character

its

U.S.

AJR

FORCE ACVDEVfY

to graduate officers

and do

missions, the

with forthright integrity and

CCD

Excellence.

instruction equivalent to

one

two years,

this

academic course throughout the cadets' four years at the Academy. In the

on understanding and

focuses on helping others

live

living

The
dignity,

integrity' in

Human

and

is

first

under the Code. In the

under the Code. The Code

builds a personal concept of professional ethics and a

demands complete

Human

divided into four divisions: Honor,

is

and Leadership Development and

The Honor Division provides Honor Code education

instrucrion focuses

who

it.*"

is

the foundation

minimum

final

two

years,

it

upon which a cadet

standard of integrity, and

word and deed.

Relations Division focuses

on programs

that encourage respect for

human

designed to develop officers equally valuing individuals of different races,

national origins, religions, gender and cultural backgrounds."* The programs involve classroom
instruction

and

activity-based exercises for Third-

on-site program for Second-Class cadets,"*

and

and Fourth-Class

cadets,

participation in a Character

an experimental

Capstone program

for graduating First-Qass cadets."*

The Character and Leadership Division organizes symposiums, operates an ach^enturebased learning program
various

Academy

members

of the

to

encourage character development and conducts seminars, including

Character Enrichment Senunars ("ACES"), which provide an opportunit\' for

Academy communitv

"^ Center for Character

Development

to consider their role in creating the best possible

Fact Sheet, available at

http://www.usafa.af.milypayfactsheets/characte.htm.
"*

Human Relations Responsibility, available at http:y/www.usafa.af.mil/wing/34cwc/cwcr/ cwcridxhtm:

"I

will

show respect

color, or status.

It is

for

and honor

all

people regardless of their

race, religion, gender, national origin,

my responsibility to counsel my fellow cadets on any behavior that I bielieve

adversely affects the positive

human relations environment that is guaranteed to every person in

the

United States Air Force."
*" Second-Class cadets attend a 5-hour on-site workshop, called "Respect and Resporwibility
Workshops," designed to develop an understanding and appreciation of others leadership behaviors,
facilitate communication skills and challenge any existing biases.
"* Human Relations Division homepage, available at http://www.usafa.af.miiywing/34cwc/cwcr/
cwcridx.htm. The Human Relations division was also formerly responsible for conducting cadet Sodal
Climate Surveys (discussed in further detail in PartV.A.2), which provide statistical analysis of trends and
findings regarding cadet climate, frequency and tolerance of sexual harassment, and incidents of sexual
assault to the Commandant of Cadets and the Character Development Committee. See also Working

Group

Report, at 153-154.

Leadership
Page 66
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Following the Agenda

now responsible for the social

for

Change, the Department for Behavioral Science and

climate surveys.
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environment for cadets."' The Capstone
the growth of their
all

own moral

ACES program

permits First-Class cadets to reflect on

character and higlilights the major character lessons provided by

aspects of the cadet experience. Tlie Eagle

ACES program

leadership and personal evaluation skills to Third-

uses Hollywood movies to teach

and Fourth-Class

cadets.

The Character and

Leadership Division also sponsors a Professional Mentorship Program which provides
gviidance to facilitate the

development of strong mentoring

flexible

relationships.

Lastly, the Excellence Division provides cadets opportunities for practical application of

their character

and leadership education through various programs. The National Character

and Leadership Symposium brings together distinguished scholars, armed forces leaders,
corporate presidents and others to explore various dimensions of character and leadership.

During the 2002-2003 academic year, 48 speakers attended.™ Furthermore, The Falcon
Heritage Forum, held twice a year, creates opportunities for cadets to interact on a personal
level

with highly distinguished military veterans,^' including representatives from each branch

numerous Medal of Honor

of militar\' service,

prisoners of

war from each war or

recipients,

conflict since

Tuskegee .'Airmen and

World War

11."°

many

former

The Excellence Division

also

sponsors Cadet Service Learning, a cadet -led program enabling cadets to give back to the local

community by volunteering
Brothers/Big Sisters),"'

for

community

service (including Habitat for

and presents an Air Force Core Values lesson

Humanity and Big

to the Fourth-Class cadets

during BCT.

The Panel recognizes
lives of cadets,

presentations
several

that

good character values need

to be incorporated into the daily

and suggests that cadet character education should expand beyond PowerPoint

and

lectures to

encompass an

interactive learning process.

programs related to character development, none

is

While the

CCD

offers

a prerequisite for graduation or

commissioning.'"

"' Character

and Leadership Division homepage,

available at http://www.usafa.af.mil/wing/34cwc/cwcd/

cwcdidx.htm.
"° National Character

and Leadership Symposium Fact Sheet,

available at

http://www.usafa.af.mil/wing/34.cwc/cwcc/. Speakers included,

among other military heroes, noted

and scholars, Michael josephson of the Josephson Institute of Ethics; Brigadier General Charles
Baldwin, USAF, Deputy Chief of the Chaplain Service; and Dr. Albert Pierce, Director of the Character
Center at the U.S. Naval Academy.
^ In fall 2001, the Superintendent directed that the Falcon Heritage Forum include a veteran for each of
the 36 squadrons, with 3 cadets per squadron assigned to each veteran.
"° Excellence Division homepage, available at http;//www.usafa.af.mil/wing/34cwc/cwcc.
^'
Cadet Service Learning Program Fact Sheet, rtuai/aWc af http://www.usafa.af.mil/pa/factsheets/

authors,

characte.htm.
"'

Working Group

Report, at vi

and

33.
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The Panel takes

promoting character values
relationship with

in

cadets.

its

and a urtique

The Panel

believes that faculty

more

faculty in

members have

role to play in the daily lives of cadets, particularly

the academic year. The Academy's faculty interacts

may

Academy's

this opportunity to note the important role of the

frequently with cadets

a critical

throughout

and

therefore

help shape attitudes and build character. The Panel encourages the faculty to work with

Academy

leadership as cadets

move forward

environment fostered by the Agenda for

in the

Change.

Character education

and

to instilling in

recommends
further

is critical

to the

them an understanding

that

CCD

who

education instruction be mandatory for

recommends the cadet curriculum

year that emphasizes character values,

academic

development of cadets

will live

honorably,

of responsible leadership. Accordingly, the Panel
all

cadets.

The Panel

require completion of at least one course per
for

which cadets

shall receive a grade

and

credit.

C. Cadet Training

A significant

organizational aspect of any military academy, which differentiates

the purely academic focus of a civilian university,

Academy,

this tr^lining

from

begins with Basic Cadet Training ("BCT"), conducted under the

known

umbrella of a trairung structure

as the "Fourth-Class System." With regard to sexual

assaults, the training cilso includes various forms of prevention

and awareness

following sections specificcilly concentrate on this training and the manner,
contributed to the climate for

women, an atmosphere

misconduct, or the circumstances that resulted

1.

it

training component. At the

is its militeiry

in sexual

if

training.

The

any, in which

it

of fear of retribution for reporting sexual

misconduct.

Fourth-Class System

New

cadets are organized in what

System." Freshmen are

known

upperclassmen and are divided by

class as well.

Class, juiuors are Cadets Second-Class

Fourth-Qass System

is

is

commonly

as Cadets Fourth-Qass.

to place

new

rest of the cadets are considered

Sophomores are

and seniors are Cadets

referred to as Cadets Third

First-Class.

The purpose

of the

cadets into an environment in which their intellect and

resources are tested under continuous stress to learn

The Panel recognizes

referred to as the "Fourth-Qass

The

how

to

perform with competing demands.

that any system in which people are placed in a position of

power over

others has the potential for abuse. Accordingly, the Panel concurs with the Working Group
Report finding that the cadet authority structure establishes a disparity of power that
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subordinate cadets, particularly female Fourth -Class cadets, more vulnerable to upper class

male cadets

who might abuse their authority/"

In late 1992, the
their relationship to

GAO reviewed all of the Service Academies'

one form of abuse of power: hazing.

and major overhauls of the Fourth-Class System

at

It

Fourth-Class Systems and

found that internal investigations

West Point

1990 and of the Plebe System

in

at the

Naval Academy from 1990-1992 resulted in a significant drop in hazing. Because the Air

Force

Academy had

the

not conducted a similar internal review and seen similar drops in hazing,

GAO recommended that:
[T]he Secretanj of Defense ensure that the Air Force

assessment of

its

fourth class system

.

.

Academy conduct a thorough
paid

Specific attention should be

.

to

clarifying the goals of the indoctrination system, ariiculating specific developmental
roles for all

four

classes, eliminating negative leadership techniques,

and eliminating

or reducing those elements of the tiaditional fourth class indoctrination system that

are prone

to

abuse or have

little

The Department of Defense
agree that the Air Force

system similar

in

relationship to the development offuture officers.-"

rejected the

Academy needed

GAO's recommendation. "The

to conduct a review of

its

scope to those conducted by other academies.

ensure that adequate oversight of the academies was exercised

.

.

DOD

did not

fourth class indoctrination

DOD

stated that

."'" Yet,

many

it

would

of the

same

conditions that foster hazing also foster the abuse of power by upperclassmen against freshmen

women.
The

potential for abuse of

close living conditions, the

base population and

power

Academy and

facilities,

at the

Academy

due to many

exists

factors, including

the cadet area's remote location from the rest of the

which

the controlled and disciplined environment in

(especially Fourth -Class cadets) are expected to live, the supervisory role

over Fourth -Class cadets, and the mission of transitioning cadets from civilian
envirorunent that emphasizes teamwork but

'" W. atvi.
"'
Report,

GAO

"'
'"

is

all

cadets

upperclassmen have
life

to a military

based upon rank structure."^

DOD Service Academics: More Changes Needed to Eliminate Hazing (Nov.

1992), at 81.

Id. at 83.

Of

the forty investigated cadet-on-cadet allegations examined by the

Fourth-Class cadet victims, while Fourth-Class cadets
Workittg Group Repoii, at 73-74.

The Working Group

make up

also

only

Working Group, 53% involved

29%

found that of a

of the cadet population.

total of sixtv'-one (61)
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If

implemented properly, however, the Fouith-Class System should not include abuse
hazing or any other forms of maltreatment. Instead,

ot power,

appropriate oversight,

and

shall

authority.

changes

be an

it

effective

system to

The Academy and

in the

be

its

iitstill

new

teamwork and

discipline,

upper classes

respect for each other

and

leadership have to be given an opportunity to implement

believe that merely checking off the items of the

£in effective solution.

environment

conducted with the

system and the Air Force must establish benchmarks on judging success.

The Panel does not
vsrill

if

will provide excellent leadership opportimities for the

that

Agenda for Change

Attainable and measurable goals should be established in an

moves away from

discipline for discipline's sake

and instead

strives to find

the character development or military training benefit presented by each situation."' The

Academy
program

appears to be making progress toward such an end by implementing an incenrive
in

which Fourth-Class cadets

Fourth-Class cadets received
spring.

Now,

shall

earn their "props and wings.

this distinction at the

same

"

In the past,

all

time, following recognition in the

Fourth-Class cadets shall earn them as a squadron at different times throughout

the vear, through a system that evaluates their military and academic performance.

Another

common

to instill or foster

situations

an

criticism of the

ethic that

which tend

to unify

Fourth-aass System

is

that the nature of

promotes loyalty to peers. Beginning

them

at

BCT

tends

BCT, cadets are placed in

in an effort to accomplish a particular goal or mission or to

survive a shared experience. Over time, and perhaps not even as a conscious decision, cadets

grow

to rely on, trust,

and need each other over

all

else including, at times,

any

loyalty to

principle or discipline at the institution.

Moreover, for some cadets, the fear of retribution, reprimands and shunrung prevents
reporting of abuses. In the past,

when Fourth-Qass

cadets arrived at the Academy, they were

immediately indoctrinated into a harsh discipline system that involved constant
type of discipline continued throughout

BCT and most

yelling. This

of the Fourth- Class year until

recognition in the spring. While at BCT, cadets were challenged physically, emotionally and

mentally in an effort that some believe

is

intended to "break their

spirit"

and help them

"adjust" to the military.''

investigated allegations, torty-six (46) involved cadet victims, twenty-one (21) of whom (or 46'o) were

Fourth-Class cadets. See Working Group Report, at 70-75.
"'

For a discussion of additional oversight mechanisms, see Section IV.
from Brigadier General Robert F. McDermott, USAF (Ret.), to the Panel Oulv

"' Letter
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The Fourth-Class System

is

actuaUv intended to eliminate factors such as economic

background and race and gender issues while teaching the value of teamwork,

status,

and putting the

dedication to the mission

treatment

wholly rely on one's peers to help make

Portions of the
that

Agmda

BCT now emphasizes

Class cadets
respect.

To

above

unit

However, a consequence of such

oneself.

often a lowered self-esteem £»nd a sense that to survive the environment one

is

is

now

for

through

Change have scaled back much of the

treating

them with

Academy developed

more

respectful transition

more

of a focus

must

this shared experience.

initial

indoctrination so

treatment and mutual respect. The focus of the arrival of Fourth-

upon

built

that end, the

on the

fair

it

from

respect

and

dignit\'

a four-day orientation

civilian to military

life.

and

in turn, earrung their

program geared toward a

The content of the orientation includes

overall behavior expected of cadets

and

also provides material

on sexual

assaults.'"

Proposals in the Agenda for Change that improve the quality of the

AOCs
the

to deal with

MTLs

minor

disciplinary infractions

in the dormitories are

an excellent

start to

new

education of

educational requirements for

AOCs and MTLs

their initial training.

education

and

AOCs and MTLs

in

and

as

is

not abused. The

focus on establishing

of the opinion

to

focus on establishing and
r

•

±

j

j

r

enforang standards of
acceptable behavior

those described in the

preceding paragraphs are crucial to ensuring that

power

is

The Academy must continue

cadets.

authority.
^

Changes such

The Panel

are a positive step, but continuing

regularly receive

mentoring

developing cadet leadership, and properly exercising
their oversight
^ role

the

and

should not cease after

They must

training

AOCs

implementing the proper active duty

oversight of cadets training cadets within the Fourth-Class System.
that the

AOCs, empower

and provide greater presence of the

Academy must continue

and enforcing standards

and proper

treatment of others.

to

of

acceptable behavior and proper treatment of others. Overall, with the proper controls, training

and oversight, BCT can

effectively

bond cadets

as

team members while

at the

same time

establishing that cadets are not only part of the immediate "team" of cadet peers, but are part
of larger teams to

the

'

Academy

is

a

which

their loyalties

must ultimately

proud and responsible

For details on our assessment of the training,

institution,

focus.

By establishing on

arrival

day

one the current cadets are proud

of,

that

and

$ec Part V.C.2.
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that is excited to

followed throughout

2.

have the

BCT and

new

cadets join

its

U.S.

AIR FORCE ACADENIY

ranks, the

The Working Group Report concluded that the sexual
was

set a

tone to be

& Awareness Training

Prevention

training

Academy can

a cadet's entire four-year experience.

assault prevention

and awareness

ineffective for the following reasor\s:

(1)

the definition of sexual assault used in

Academy

Instruction 51-201

confusing, not in compliance with the law associated with sexual assaults

was
and

inconsistent with the definition used throughout the Air Force;

(2)

the Fourth-Class cadets

who

received the training during

BCT were

too tired to

process the information;

(3)

the self-defense training given to Fourth-Class
in the

(4)

women

often occurred too late

semester to be effective; and

the training had

little

focus

on

the moral, leadership or character

component of

deterrence.""

In response to these deficiencies, the

Working Croup Report recommended increasing

the frequency and effectiveness of sexual assault deterrence training, emphasizing small
groups, cadet participation, and a focus

Agenda

for

Change implements

this

on

character, including the ethical use of power."'

recommendation by mandating

that the

definitions of "sexual assault" consistent with standard Air Force -wide definitions
all

Academy

instmctions, training materials

and guidance

In addition, the Agenda for Change requires that

reflect Air

BCT emphasize

The

Academy apply
and ensuring

Force-wide definitions."'

fair

treatment and mutual

respect, that the orientation provide substantial material on sexual assault prevention and

overall behavior expected of cadets,

behavior, as well as

"° Working

Group

and

that the syllabus include guidelines

on workplace

demeanor and consequences.

Report, at 26-30.

"'

Working Group Report, at

"^

The

Air Force does not

viii bullet 3.

have

a definition of

"sexual assault." Instead, as in the other Services, the Air

Force applies definitions of offenses as listed in the Uniform Code of Military Justice ("UCM]"), some of
which are ofienses of a sexual nature... e.g., rape, sodomy, indecent assault, and assault with the intent to

commit rape or sodomv. According to the Agenda for Change update, the Academy will use the
definitions consistent with the UCMJ. Video Teleconference Agenda for Change Status Briefing by Colonel
Debra D. Gray, USAF, Vice Commandant, USAFA, with Panel Stag Qxity 24, 2003).
Page 72

154
ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE AND CHARACTER DEVELOPMENT

The Academy provided the Panel vdth a binder containing four
presentations"' given during the initial phases of BCT.
class of 2007"' indicates

of the training

Our review

of the

new

training session

BCT

schedule

by providing two-and-one-half hours of briefings on day one

Unfortunately, this

may

be merely form over substance, as

all

but one class

7:00-9:30 p.m., following twelve hours of in-processing. This timing hardly

method

for

for the

an attempt to address the Working Group Report concerns of the timing

BCT.

of

was conducted
seems an

at

effective

overcon\ing the deficiencies noted in the Working Group Report. Although the

Panel appreciates that the

demands on

the time of

new

cadets are significant,

we

recommend

reassessing the training calendar to place this training at a time of day in

which cadets

will

A
as well.

be most receptive to the training session.

review of the content of the training leaves some questions regarding

Some

its

effectiveness

of the Panel's specific concerns include:

The Cadet Counseling Center
provides.

A

bulleted point

briefing

on one

is

an orientation to the services the center

slide of the orientation presentation states that

the Sexual Assault Services section of the Cadet Counseling Center "Administers
the Victim Witness

and Assistance Program." This statement

is

inconsistent with

Air Force Instructions and, in past practice, served as a main source of lack of

communication between counselors and the
to confusion of responsibilities

and

lack of

Staff

judge Advocate's

lending

office,

communication with victims. This

slide

should be immediately corrected so that everyone receives proper information
regarding the process.

The Gender Roles and

Bias Class helps cadets consider the internal sources of

of their biases, introduces

them

to the Air Force standards

some

and presents sample

scenarios for discussion; however, the prompting questions associated with the
scenarios

seem

less

than desirable or informative. For example, one of the scenarios

discusses verbal sexual harassment of a female cadet by two higher-rarJ<ing male
cadets. Instead of asking

prompting questions such as "What should

cadet do in this situation?" or

questions are

would

"How would

"Why

is

this

this interaction affect her

this interaction affect future

do not seem

female

development?" and

"How

behaviors of males?" The former questions

would permit education on possible courses
the latter questions

this

behavior inappropriate?" the prompting

to lead to

of action for the female cadet,

whereas

any educational purpose. Although the

™ The PowerPoint presentation.s consist of an overview briefing by the Commandant of Cadets; a Sexual
and the Victim Advocate
Program Coordinator; an introduction to the Academy Counseling Center by a member of the 34*
Training Wing Academv Counseling Center Staff and a Gender Roles and Gender Bias Class (presenter
unknown).
"' Sec
USAFA Basic Cadet Training ("BCT") training schedule.
Assault Awareness and Prevention Class by the Chief, Sexual Assault Services

Pagf 73

155
PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL NUSCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE

training

may make

behavior, the Panel

concerned that the traiiung
hov*/ to

of scenarios presented, or

transition

week

does not give the cadets the

still

handle such situabons,

how and when

how

to

respond to the types

such incidents should be reported.

training provided to the

Fourth-Qass cadets

at the

consists of a series of large audience presentations.

were informative

comments or

cadets more aware oi the impacts of their

is

proper tools or focus on

The additional

FORCE ACADENfY

U.S. AIR

but, except for the

for the cadets to hear or

one on

beginning of

These briefings

sexueiily transnutted diseases, difficult

remain awake to absorb.

The Panel recommends

that the

Academy

focus on providing better training

to the trainers of these classes including enlisting the aid of faculty

members who

are well-skilled in group presentation techniques that are effective
the cadets, developing small group training sessions which will be

and energize
more effective

than large audience presentations, developing training sessions that educate the

students on the reporting process and

AFOSI

investigatory practices

and

procedures, and establishing a review process for training session materials that
includes the use of the

Academy Response Team and

multi-disciplinary group of experts.

Page 74
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INTERVENTION AND RESPONSE TO SEXUAL
ASSAULT
The

first

part of this report addresses

measures

command

ensuring an actively engaged chain of

to deter

and prevent sexual assault by

with external oversight and by improving the

organizational culture and climate. This section discusses policies and procedures for

responding

to allegations of sexual assault."* This section also discusses policies

regarding

reporting incidents of sexual assault, victim support and intervention, and law enforcement
responsibilities.

The Panel places

particular

emphasis on revising or eliminating

policies that

discourage victims of sexual assault from coming forward to report these crimes.

A. Encouraging Reporting
1.

Sexual Assault Reporting System: Confidentiality
Beginning

confidentiality

in

Academy

1993, the

program struggled

sexual assault reporting program and victim

to balance the

maintenance of good order and discipline with

a reporting process that affords victims of sexual assault their privacy, safety,

emotional well-being. The Academy's
leaders

makes achie\ing

the dilemma

is

how

responsibilit}' to

and mental and

develop the nation's future military

that balance uniquely challenging. Within the

Academy environment,

best to ensure that those cadets victimized by sexual assault receive

all

necessary support and treatment while, guaranteeing that offenders are held appropriately
accountable and that those cadets
are not

''^

commissioned as military

The Working Group concluded

susceptible to misinterpretation,

who

that the

may have

created incorrect perceptions of the law
iv.

The Academy has since revised

its

are

unworthy of leadership

Academy-unique definition

of "sexual assault"

was

caused confusion regarding issues of consent, and

and

unrealistic expectations in victims.

under the Uniform Code

wthout

may have

Working Group Report, at

definition of "sexual assault" in accordance v,ith the

Assault refers to any of several offenses of a sexual nature, committed
victim, that are punishable as crimes

roles in the nation's defense

officers.

UCMJr

of Military Justice.

The offenses included

within the term sexual assault' include rape and carnal knowledge (Article 120, UCMJ), forcible
(Article 125),

and

sodomy

commit rape or sodomy, indecent assault, and indecent acts or
an attempt to commit any of these offenses " Commander's Guidance

assault with intent to

with a child (Article 134), or
05-8 (May 27, 2003).

liberties

"Sexucd

the lawful consent of the
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On
swing has

the issues of victim confidentiality

reacted to extremes

U.S.
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and sexual

assault reporting, the

Academy

of total cor\fidentiality and victim control over incident reporting to the nev^f

which

eliminates confidenhality

continuing challenge

with the

to reach

is

policies, practices

and mandates

reporting. Neither extreme

an appropriate balancing

and procedures of the Air Force

point, while

of female cadets

who

told

him

of a

sexual assault. The cadets also expressed distrust in the

from

efforts

by the

Commandant

is

policy

satisfactory.

The

remaining consistent

at large.

In 1993, in the aftermath of a sexual assault incident at the

spoke with an assembly

pendulum's

under the spotlight of high-profile events, going from a position

Academy, General Hosmer

number

Academy

of unreported incidents of

administration that resulted

of Cadets to use victim counseling records to support

administrative achons against cadet offenders.

The cadets considered

this a

breach of trust

leading to a loss of confidence in the administration. General Hosmer became convinced that
victim confidentiality was essential to ensuring that victims

come forward

incidents and, thereby, receive necessary' medical treatment and counseling.

problem, General Hosmer

iristituted

To

such

resolve the

a program that utilized the services of a Cadet Counseling

Center reorganized under the Dean of

Academy-unique

to report

Faculty, a victim-controlled reporting system,

and an

policy of victim confidentiality.

The premise

justifying the

Academy's confidenhality

reporting, along with professional support

victims would eventually formallv report. However,

and law enforcement

authorities

initiative

at the

that cor\fidential

it

had the

potential of preventing

from learning of serious criminal conduct.

interfere with the coUection of evidence required for the success of

problem occurred

was

and counseling, would increase the likelihood that

Academy and was exacerbated

command

also could

any future prosecution. This

over time, as

individuals responsible for receiving confidential victim reports

It

may

it

appears that those

not have fully satisfied

their responsibility to encourage victims to formally report assaults. Instead,

some

counselors

may actuaUv have discouraged victims from reporting. °*

^ Working Group Report, at 115. One cadet, who had served as a Cadets Ad\ocating Sexual Integrity and
Education CCASIE") volunteer for about three years, stated that he told victims the investigation is an
intnisive process and "OS! doesn't work for you. They will do what's in the best interests of the Air
Force." Additionally, the Victim Advocate Coordinator has stated that "OSI is not there to nurture you,
it's

not there

Page 76

to

be your friend

"

Id.

158
INTERVENTION

As

AND RESPONSE TO SEXUAL ASSAULT

Academy's unique confidential sexual

a result of the problems identified with the

Agenda for Change

assault reporhng system, the

and directed that

all

The Panel

incidents be reported to

effectively eliminated confidential reporting

command and law enforcement authorities."'

problems associated with the former Academy policy of confidenfial

finds the

reporting were not necessarily caused by allowing for privileged communicafions, but were the
result of a confidentiality policy

which, over time, was poorly implemented and lacked

responsible governance and oversight.

The Panel

further finds that the

reaction which eliminated confidential reporting swings the
direction

not

and creates a

come forward

afforded

pendulum too

Agenda for Change
opposite

far in the

significant risk that victims will

and thus lose the benefits

at all

,_

,

^,

^

The Agenda for Change

by professional counseling.
poliof overlooks

The Agenda

for

Change

polic)'

overlooks an

established form of privileged communication that

Armed

currently available throughout the

established form of

is

°

^

an

i
j
privileged

•

x.-

communicahon.

Forces and

could benefit cadet victims: the psychotherapist- patient
privilege. Military chaplains also play

individuals facing a personal

made

crisis,

an important role

and communications

in

responding to the needs of

to dergj,' are privileged

either as a formal act of religion or as a matter of conscience.^"

effective, chaplains

assault victims.

must

When

However,

if

they are

to

be most

receive training specific to responding to the needs of sexual

first

the proper resources

cadets as they are for Air Force

members

and

services are as readily available for

in general.

Academy

Academy

cadets should not forfeit the

confidenfiabty that the law provides.

It is

important to note that during the period of 1993 to 1999,

established and employed
privilege

the

its

was not recognized under the

Armed

Forces.

During

when

the

Academy

confidential reporting policy, the psychotherapist-patient

that period,

Military Rules of Evidence

and was not

available within

communications with a clergyman, lawyer or spouse

were recognized as privileged, but a doctor-patient privilege (including mental health
counseling) within the military

'"

Agenda for Change,

command

was expressly excluded."* Consequently, there was no authority

at 5. "All allegations of sexual assault will

be reported to the officer chain of

immediately."

"• Mil. R. Evid. 503.

^ A person could not claim a privilege with respect to any matter except as required by or proNnded for in
the Constitution of the United States as to

members

of the

Armed Forces, an Act of Congress applicable

to courts-martial, the Military Rules of Evidence, or the principles of
in the trial of criminal cases in the

United Slates

common

law generally recognized
such

district courts insofar as the application of
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policy that established confidentiality' or privileged communications

beyond Academy-based

between

a cadet victim

confidentiality alternative

and a counselor. Today, consistent with Air Force
is

available to the

by

privilege established in 1999
Military Rule of Evidence

Presidential Executive

is

a

need

practice, a

virtue of the psychotherapist-patient

Order 13140'" and implemented

in

513."'

is

well-suited for the situation at the Academy,

to provide professional

mental and emotional counseling to victims

The psychotherapist-patient
where there

Academy by

privilege

struggling with the experience of a criminal assault, but also making allowance for bmited

circumstances where disclosure

To obtain

may

be required under specifically enumerated considerations.

the benefit of the privilege,

trained professional

who

is

it is

required that the patient or victim consult with a

qualified to address their mental

established military privilege applicable throughout the
confidenfiality for

Academy

Academy

cadet victtms of sexual assault

is

Forces, this

avenue of

not dependent upon a unique

The privileged communication

or Air Force policy decision.

qualifications of the counselors

and emohonal needs. As an

Armed

exists as

long as the

and the circumstances of the communication meet the

rule's

requirements.

principles in trials

by courts-martial

these niles, or the

Manual

States, 1984.

is

practicable

and not contrary to or inconsistent with the UCMJ,
Manual for Courts-Martial United

tor Courts-Martial. Mil. R. Evid. 501,

"Notwithstanding any other provision of these

does not become privileged on the basis

that

it

rules, information

was acquired by a medical

not otherwise privileged

officer

or civilian physician in a

professionjil capacity." Mil. R. Evid. 501(d).
'" Exec.

1999).

Order No. 13140, "1999 Amendments

The

to the

Manual

for Courts- Martial,

military's initiative to codifv' a psychotherapist-patient privilege

court-martial, at Elmendorf Air Force Base, Alaska in 1996. U.S.

App., 1997). In the Underwood case, the acoised

v.

was charged with

United States" (Oct.

stemmed from an

6,

Air Force

Underwood, 47 M.J. 805 (A.F.Ct. Crim.
the rape of a 20-year-old. While the

was being investigated, the victim sought psychiatric courxseiing at the .Air Force hospital and was
seen by an Air Force psychiatrist. When court-martial charges were initiated, the accused's defense
counsel requested copies of the psvchiatrist's notes of the counseling sessions with the victim. The victim
case

and victim's mother strenuously objected to this invasion
at the time there was no doctor- patient or other privilege

and confidentiality, but
The Department of Defense

of the victim's privacy
that applied.

and recommended establishment of a psychotherapist-patient privilege following extensive
media coverage and congressional interest in the case, and the United States Supreme Court decision
Jaffee v. Redmond. 518 U.S. 1, 116 S.Ct. 1923, 135 L.Ed.Zd 337 (1996). Military Rule of Evidence 513,
"Psychotherapist -Patient Privilege," became effective throughout the Armed Forces on November 1,
drafted

in

1999.
"'

Mil. R. Evid. 513. at Part IH, 33-34,

Manual

for

Courts-Martiai United States (2002 Edition). The rule

provides that a "patient has a privilege to refuse to disclose and to prevent any other person from
the patient and the psychotherapist or an
under the UCMJ, if such communication was made for
diagnosis or treatment of the patient's mental or emotional condition." Mil. R.

disclosing a confidential communication

made between

assistant to the psychotherapist, in a case arising

the purpose of facilitating
Evid. 513(a).
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When

professionals

"psychotherapist"

person credentialed

on current and
and

treat

to provide

and

privilege will apply

staff

the Cadet Counseling Center meet the definition of

such services from any military health care

confidentiality will

projected

Academy

be extended

staffing,

to the

who

such professionals should be

are defined as persons

who

avciilable to

to

counsel (prosecutor) or defense counsel

may

the

counsel

"assistants

to

a

are directed by or assigned to assist a

psychotherapist in providing professional services to the patient.'" The
psychotherapist, or assistant to the psychotherapist

worker, or

facility),'"

person seeking assistance. Based

The privileged communication also extends

cadets.'"

psychotherapist,"

who

psychiatrist, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social

{e.g..

who

the

patient,

received the communication, or a

assert the privilege

on behalf

of the patient.

trial

The

privilege extends to the testimony of the psychotherapist or assistant to the psj'chotherapist

and patient records

that pertain to

treatment

patient's

of

the

communications made

mental

or

emotional

for the

purpose of diagnosis or

condition."'

with

Consultations

psychotherapists during the investigative phase of the Uniform Code of Militar)' Justice

("UCMJ") sexual
privilege

and

results and,

assault offense

fall

within the protections contemplated by the privilege. The

confidentiality apply throughout any military justice disciplinary action that

by Air Force Instruction 51-602, also

appl}' to administrative

proceedings before

boards of officers."*

"^ Mil. R. Evid. 513(b)(2).

Cadet Counseling Center will be staffed by two licensed clinical psychologists, one licensed
manager for the Victim Advocate Program (a registered nurse
practitioner), one Program Manager for the CASIE program, and a counseling services technician. Two
additional licensed clinical psychologists will join the staff in October 2003. Statement of the Director of
the Commander's Action Group, 34"' Training Wing. In addition, current staffing at the Life Skills
'^TTie

professional counselor, one program

Support Center consists of a board

certified adult psychiatrist,

who provides medication management
who provides services to active duty

to

cadets and active duty members, a licensed clinical psychologist,

members and

cadets as well as children of active duty members, and three licensed clirucal social

workers.
'" Mil. R. Evid. 513(b)(3).
"" Mil. R.EN-id. 513(b)(5).

"* "Rules of Evidence: 2.1.5.

Apply the Military Rules of Evidence on privileged communications." Air
2, 1994). Board of Officer proceedings pursuant to
Air Force Instruction 51-602 apply to various categories of cadet disenrollments and separation
proceedings. Air Force Instruction 36-2020, "DisenroUment of United States Air Force Academy Cadets,"
Force Instruction 51-602, "Boards of Officers," (Mar.

(Apr. 22, 1999).
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Balancing the public interest in the disclosure of infonnation in certain circumstances,
the rule establishes several exceptions to the privileged comrrMinication. The psychotherapist

permitted to disclose privileged iriformation

when

mental or emotional condition makes the patient a danger

and when
unique

and circumstances

along with the victim's

an exception

When

to

any person, including the

initial

to the privileged

predator, or

when

own

preference about reporting the incident, in determining whether

communication applies and reporting

is

required under the rule.
is a

sexual

the victim needs more extensive psychiatric treatment to avoid being a

danger

to herself, the exceptions to privileged

and

need

for

its

psychotherapist to assess,

for the professionally- trained

the psychotherapist believes that the perpetrator of the sexual assault

the

patient,

necessary to ensure the safety and security of others."' Each case presents

set of facts

is

the psychotherapist believes the patient's

good order and

communication serve both the public

interest

discipline.

The Panel recommends

that the Air Force establish a policy that achieves a better

balance of interests and properly employs psychotherapist-patient counseling, and

its

associated privilege, for the benefit of cadet victims.

The Panel recommends

that the

Academy's policy

for sexual assault reporting

clearlv recognize the applicability of the psychotherapist-patient privilege

Academy

who

staff the

meets the

Cadet Counseling Center with

initial

in person, be a qualified psychotherapist

and

that the

one Victim Advocate provider

legal definition of "psychotherapist." Further, the

the individual assigned to serve as the

certification

at least

Panel recommends that

point of reporting whether by "hotline" or

who has completed

a recognized rape crisis

program. Optimally, the Victim Advocate psychotherapist should be in

charge of the sexual assault program within the Cadet Counseling Center and will

provide direction and supervision to those assistants supporting the assigned
psychotherapists.

It is critical

that the Victim Advocate psychotherapist

skilled at counseling

choices and,

and helping victims

and those working

for her eire

understand and appreciate the significance of their

more importantly, understand how

Academy and law enforcement
them

to

their decisions

to bring the offender to justice.

regain a sense of control over their lives

might

affect the ability of the

Giving victims choices helps

and promotes the healing

process. Helping

victims understand the consequences of their choices also increases opportunities for

making

the right choices, thereby further helping to encourage the reporting of these crimes.

'"

MIL
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imperative that the Victim Advocate psychotherapist, consistent with the rule of confidentiality,

inform the chain of

command

about issues and problems'" and actively work to solve identified

problems."*

The Panel recognizes

program

that the

Academy and

CASIE program. However,

assist in the

that

need

cadets favorably view the use of cadets to

there are two items of concern regarding the

to be specifically addressed:

first,

representadves are not confidential; and second,

reports of sexual assault

CASIE

made

to

CASIE

CASIE

representatives lack the necessary

qualifications to provide professional-level counseling to fellow cadets.

Regarding the

first issue,

sexual assault allegations

made

to

CASIE

not confidential because CASIE cadets are not currently qualified

representatives are

to receive privileged

communications. To the extent that CASIE representatives continue to be used as sexual
assault victim counselors and intended "confidcmtes," the

Academy should

take those steps

necessary to bring the CASIE representatives under the protective umbrella of the
psychotherapist-patient privilege by ensuring that cadets involved in these situations
definition of

If

an

meet the

"assistant to a psychotherapist."

the privilege

is

extended to CASIE cadets,

it

must be under

a program of careful

and

continuous direction and supervision by the psychotherapist. This helps address the second

CASIE

issue regarding

for

the victim

to

— lack of qualifications. The psychotherapist supervisor

representatives

must ensure CASIE cadets do not
becoming

cross the line

ps^'chotherapist supervisor advised of

from serving as active

advocates. Further,

their

all

facts

CASIE

and circumstances

listeners

and resources

cadets must keep

the

of the confidentially-reported

offense so that the psychotherapist supervisor can evaluate the situation and determine

whether any of the recognized exceptions to privileged corrununications

applies. Regardless of

whether CASIE cadets are ultimately placed under the psychotherapist-patient
umbrella,

it

is

imperative that

CASIE

privilege

representatives are properly trained and consistently

supervised.

™ Consistent with the privilege, the psychotherapist should report data only when discussing a specific
report of sexual assault, until such time as that victim

comes forward

to

make

a formal report or waives

the privileged communication.
'^ For example,

problems are identified with the manner in which law enforcement handle specific
be addressed and corrective action sought through the law enforcement
chain of command and the Academy chain of command, rather than dissuading victims from making
reports to law enforcement.
if

cases, those matters should
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Other Avenues of Sexual Assault Reporting: The CA5IE Program
The CASIE program

is

a 24-hour, phone-ir^ "hotline" administered by the Sexual

Assault Services Branch in the Cadet Counseling Center. The hotline provides an avenue for
cadets to report sexual assault; provides current information on procedures, regulations and

encourages victims of sexual assault

referrals;

Cadet Wing on the issue of sexual

assault.

to utilize available services;

The hotline

is

a system in

and educates

which a

the

phone

cell

is

passed between CASIE representatives to the volunteer currently on duty."" The CASIE
representative receiving the call

and provides

volunteer,

as

much

information as the caller

CASIE Program Manager.

Commandant was informed when someone

the Vice

assault, but

which

documents

the information to the

was not provided any

Prior to

is

willing to

March

2003,

called the hotline to report a sexual

identifying information.'*'

Under the Agenda

Change,

for

effectively eliminates confidential reporting, allegations of sexual assault

must be

reported to the chain of command.'"

Currently, in addition to

manning

the hotline,

one or two CASIE representatives

assigned to each of the 36 squadrons at the Academy.'" The

CASIE

points of contact regarding sexual assault issues for cadets, provide further education

assault

topics,

and organize Sexual Assault Awareness Month each

representatives also aid in

rumor control and

squadron, to discuss issues regarding sexual

CASIE

assatilt

emd

on

April.'**

relay current ir\forTnahon within the

Frequently, cadets directly approach their squadron

are

representatives act as
sexual

CASIE

Cadet Wing.

representative, or that of another

to seek help or

guidance after an

assault.

Working Group with former CASIE Program Manager in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar.
calls received by the hotline are made days, weeks, or months after an assault. If a cadet
calls the hotline within seventy-two hours of an assault, the CASIE representative advises the cadet of
the benefits of a rape kit exam, and that a victim advocate is available to escort the cadet to Memorial
Hospital to have one performed. Interview by Working Group with CASIE Representative, Cadet in
Charge of Sexual Awareness, in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 11, 2003).
"' Interview by Working Group with CASIE Representative, Cadet in Charge of Sexual Awareness, in

'*"

Interview by

14, 2003).

Most

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 11, 2003).
"' Commander's Guidance 05-8 (May 27, 2003).
"^ Interview by Working Group with former CASIE Program Manager

in

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar.

14, 2003).

Sexual Assault Awareness Month (SAAM) focuses on progressive education during a four-year
undergraduate program. CASIE representatives present seminars that cadets attend according to class
year. Fourth-Class SAAM education focuses on awareness, and includes an armual guest speaker who
was a victim of acquaintance rape. Third-Class education focuses on prevention. Second-Class and First-

'**

Class education focus on assistance and professionalism, respectively
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The CASIE manager organizes and manages
Program Manager

a

is

the program's representatives.

The

Second Lieutenant recently graduated trom the Academy and serving a

one-year assignment."* The Program Manager reports to the Chief of Sexual Assault Services.

CASIE

representatives complete required volunteer training"' and are selected through an

application process that assesses a cadet's reasons for interest in the program
participation in the

qualifications.^*" All

evaluated based

a.

on

CASIE program

is

and

voluntary, and cadets are not

their participation.

Mental Health Services
The Cadet Counseling Center

offers individual

and group mental health counseling

conducted by Air Force medical professionals. Cadets whose mental health needs exceed the
capability of the

Cadet Counseling Center are referred

Academy

("LSSC"), located on

grounds.

LSSC

to the Life Skills

Support Center

provides mental health services for drug and

alcohol treatment, family maltreatment and other general matters as needed.'"

If

unable to

provide the appropriate mental health services through the Cadet Counseling Center or LSSC,
the

Academy will pay

"' Interview

for

counseling with a civilian professional.

by Working Group with former CASIE Program Manager in Colorado

Springs, Colo. (Mar.

14, 2003).

'"

CASIE

representatives

must attend monthly meetings and, every August, undergo approximately 20

hours of training to retain their status as a CASIE volunteer. AFOSI, Legal, and Sexual Assault Nurse

on how

what options are
and react to victims. Interview by Working Group
with CASIE Representative Cadet in Charge of Sexual Awareness in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 11,
2003); Statement of CASIE Representative Cadet in Charge of Sexual Awareness. Cadets are also briefed
on the services CASIE does not provide, such as diagnosis, counseling, treatment, and transportation.
Interview by Working Group with current CASIE Program Manager, in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 11,
Examiners ("SANE")

available,

brief volunteers

how to work

the hotline, and

how

to help a victim of sexual assault,

to listen

2003).
"' Applicants

on any type of probation are not accepted. Fourth-Class cadets are not permitted to serve
monthly meetings. Interview by Working Group
with former CASIE Program Manager in Colorado Springs, Colo. (Mar. 14, 2003).
"* The Cadet Counseling Center will t>e staffed by two licensed clinical psychologists, one licensed
professional counselor, one program manager for the Victim Advocate Program (a registered nurse
practitioner), one Program Manager for the CASIE program, and a counseling services technician. Two
additional licensed cliiucal psychologists will join the staff in October 2003. E-mail from Colonel Eddy to
as official representatives, but are permitted to attend

Panel Staff (Aug. 14, 2003). In addition, current staffing at the Life Skills Support Center consists of a
certified psychiatrist, who provides medication management to cadets and active duty members, a

board

licensed clinical psychologist,

who

provides services to active duty

members and

cadets as well as

children of active duty members, and three licensed clinical social workers. Interview by Panel Staff v^th

Lieuterumt Colonel Cfuistopher J. Luedtke, USAF, Director, Commander's Acrton Group,

V^n^

in

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Aug.

4,

34"'

Training

2003).
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Other Service Academies

Although the Panel was not estabbshed

to evaluate the sexual assault

other Service Academies, the Panel examined some of those programs to
the Air Force

programs

make

at the

compcirisons to

Academy programs.

The Navcd Academy and the West

Point both maintain programs of 24-hour telephone

access for students to contact in the event of a sexual assault. Each Service
policies addressing the issue of sexual assault

Academy

and maintains counseling centers

also has

that provide

mental health services.

West Point provides
sexual assault,

non-confidential'" and confidential'" options for cadets to report

and has two avenues through which cadets have 24-hour telephone access

trained professional.'"
Tactical Officer"'

If

a sexual assault occurs, cadets are encouraged to

("TAC") who

is

confidential. Alternatively, cadets

available 24 hours a day. Allegahons

may

call

made

first

to a

to a

contact their

TAC

are not

one of three licensed psychiatrists in the Center

Personal Development'*' ("CPD") morutoring a beeper

on a

rotating basis. Cadets

may

beeper 24 hours a day to speak with the mental health professional on duty either
inunediate assistance or to talk about an\- issues that
sexual assault
psv'chjatrists

made

may be

to report the assault to

for

bothering the cadet. Allegations of

to the psychiatrist are confidential;"* during counseling,

encourage cadets

for

call this

however,

CPD

the proper authorities.

'" Non-confidential options that are available include the
Staff

Cadet Health Clinic, the Inspector General,
Judge Advocate, Provost Marshal, Equal Opportunity Office, staff, faculty, sponsors, and athletic

coaches.
'" Confidential

options include

Community Mental

Development.
"' Telephone interview by Panel
Point (Aug.
'*'

7,

Staff

Health, chaplains, and the Center for Personal

with the Director of Office of

Policy, Plarming,

& Analysis at West

2003).

Tactical Officers

("TAC") are required to complete a year-long Master's degree program in counseling
TACs receive special instruction on sexual assault counseling

prior to their assignment. In that program,

and legal information specific to victims of sexual assault.
The Center for Personal Development ("CPD ") is a counseling and assessment center staffed by Army
officers who are trained professional counselors and psychologists. The CPD provides individual and
group counseling for cadets in areas including leadership development, personal relationships, decision
making eating and weight management, and academic difficulties. Three licensed psychiatrists, one of

'"

whom is a female, currently staff the CPD.
CPD provides monthly hrend analysis to the Commandant
'*'

of Cadets aUeging sexual assault, but

excludes any identifying information about the cadet involved. This trend data
coruidential
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Similcir to the Air Force arid

Naval Academies, West Point

utilizes cadet representatives

positioned within the student body. West Point's Respect Program, located in the

Simon

Center for Professional Military Ethics, consists of approximately 32 hours of values education
spread over a cadet's four years
junior

at

West

Point.

The Respect Program Committee includes one

and one senior cadet from each Company acting as representatives

concerns and
basic role

is

issues.

to set a

Cadet representatives

good example

dignity. Information given to the

Respect

for the

may

Progreim Committee and providing an additional channel through which cadets

raise

assist fellow cadets

with myriad concerns, but their

and ensure

that cadets treat each other with

for fellow cadets

Cadet Respect Program representatives

is

not confidential, but

remains within the Respect Program Committee chain of command."' Because Respect

Program Committee cadet representatives do not address issues of sexual

assault, the cadets

do

not receive special training regarding victim assistance.

The Naval Academy's Sexual Assault Victim IntervenHon ("SAVI") Program includes
trained student volunteers.'*

and

is

SAVI Guides and Advocates

CASIE

The Program

is

comprised of SAVI Guides and SAVI Advocates,

the Naval Academy's preferred inihal point of contact in cases of sexual assault. Both

representatives,

are accessible to

midshipmen twenty-four hours

a day. Similar to

SAVI Guides are midshipmen volunteers interspersed within the

student population"' and trained to assist victims of sexual assault.™ Information shared with

SAVI Guides

is,

by Naval Academy

policy, confidential.

However, SAVI Guides are required

to

inform the SAVI Program Director that an assault has occurred, whether the assault was

primary or secondary"' and other non-identifying information.^ SAVI Advocates are

"'

Telephone interview by Panel

Point (Aug.

7,

Staff with the Director of Office of Policy, Planrung,

officers

& Analysis at West

2003).

"*

Telephone interview by Panel Staff with the Program Coordinator for the Sexual Assault Victim
Program at the Naval Academy (Aug. 8, 2003).
"' SAVI Guides, assigned one
per company, are not p)ermitted "to act as counselors or Sexual Assault
Victim Advocates," but "may assist in victim advocacy under the direct supervision of the assigned SAVI
Advocate." COMDTMIDNINST 1752.1A(3) Midshipman SAVI Guide Program 1 4. SAVI Guides are
responsible for conducting four training sessions per semester, one for each class. COMDTMIDNINST
1752.1 A(2) Brigade Sexual Assault Awareness Education "J 6.b.(2).
"" SAVI Guides are required
to complete an annual three-day training program and attend monthly
Intervention ("SAVI")

meetings.
'"

A primary assault is one

assault

is

one

that

that occurred to the

happened

to a friend or

midshipman speaking with the SAVI Guide.

A secondary-

acquaintance of the midshipman speaking with the

SAVI

Guide.
'^

The SAVI Program Coordinator gives this sexual assault data to the Program Director, and
passed up the chain of command to the Commandant, and Superintendent.

it

is

then
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and

enlisted personnel trained to provide counseling for victims of sexual assault."' Unlike

SAVl Guides, SAVI Advocates

are required to report

allegations of sexual assault to the

all

chain of command."' Information about the SAVI Program and links to local rape

crisis services

midshipmen through the SAVI website.

are accessible to

Midshipmen desiring

to

receive counseling through the

speak with

a counselor

under limited confidentiality may

Midshipman Development Center ("MDC")-'" Midshipmen

with mental health needs that exceed the scope of

MDC

are referred to the

Naval Medical

Clinic in Annapolis, Maryland.'*'

As noted above, the Panel recognizes

CASIE

the

Academy and

cadets favorably view using

cadet representatives. However, the Panel believes that the preferred

initial

point of

sexual assault reporting should be a licensed psychotherapist. Accordingly, the Panel

recommends

that the

program with

Academy

establish a

program

that

combines the existing CASIE

Victim Advocate psychotherapist managing the program, and which

a

offers cadets a choice in reporting either to the psychotherapist or to a cadet peer.

Cadets choosing to speak with a licensed professional should be able to contact the
Victim Advocate psychotherapist'" in person or through the hotline.
report, the Victim

make

Advocate psychotherapist should

ascertain

Upon

receiving the inihal

whether the victim chooses

to

a report to law enforcement, encourage the victim to report the offense and explain the

consequences of not reporting the offense

to

law enforcement.

If

the victim chooses to report

the offense, the Victim Advocate psychotherapist ma\- assist in
activating the

Academy Response Team

psychotherapist

may

process.

If

making the contact and

the victim desires confidentiality, the

continue to address the victim's mental and emotional needs, and

continue to help the victim understand the importance of choosing to report the sexual assault.

"'

COMDTMIDNINST 1752.1A 1

Program

training prior to

16.b. SAVI Advocates are required to complete twenty hours of SAVI
appointment as a victim advocate, as well as ten to fifteen hours of annual

refresher training.
'"

COMDTMIDNINST 1752.1A I 13.b(5).
COMDTMIDNINST 1 752. lA { lO.b. Midshipmen may also be retened to the Midshipman Legal
Counsel or a chaplain. One civilian psychologist and several Navv psychologists staff the Midshipman
'"

Development Center ("MDC").
'**
The Naval Medical Clinic is stciffed with two to three licensed psvchologists, who are military officers,
and one female civilian psychologist.
'^ It is suggested that the Academy develop a more neutral title tor this individual to eliminate the stigma
that the only reason a cadet would be making contact is because the cadet has b>een the victim of sexual
assault.
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who

Alternatively, cadets

contact a

CASIE

are

cadet representative.

more comfortable reporting
If

reports to

CASIE

to a peer

would be able

to

representatives continue to be

considered non-confidential, then the Panel recommends that cadets be clearly advised
of this fact

and

further advised that a confidential reporting option

As an

the Victim Advocate psychotherapist.

representatives to
privilege

if

come within

alternative,

it

is

is

available through

CASIE

possible for

cadet

the protective umbrella of the psychotherapist-patient

they meet the definition of being an "assistant to a psychotherapist." This

alternative, along with specific

oversight of the

CASIE

Panel recommendations regarding supervision and

representatives

is

discussed above.

Regardless of whether cadet victim reports to

not confidential,

is critical

it

CASIE

representatives are confidential or

that these cadets be properly supervised to ensure that they only

provide for active listening, explaining options and serving as a referral resource.

should never cross the

line into providing

The Panel recommends

CASIE

cadets

counseling or victim advocacy.

that once the psychotherapist reporting option is fully

implemented, the Academy conduct a thorough review of the CASIE program vdth a
view toward either reducing the size of the program or eliminating

it

entirely.

Panel does not disagree with providing an avenue for peer support, the Panel
the significant burden that

is

placed

upon

the shoulders of these

the potential for the mishandling of sexual assault cases,

might

be.

The

staffing of the

young

is

While the

concerned with

cadet volunteers, and

however well-intentioned the cadet

Cadet Counseling Center can more than adequately support the

sexual assault reporting process and the victim advocacy

program without the need

to deputize

cadet volunteers.

As an interim measure, the Panel recommends that the Academy consider
modeling the CASIE program

program

after the

Respect Program

to include assisting cadets with issues

at

West

Point,

and expand the

such as homesickness, respect for fellow

cadets and academic difficulties. Doing so would also serve to diminish the impression, often
stigmatizing, that the cadet has

approached a CASIE representative because she had been

sexuaUy assaulted.

Finally, the

readily available

create a

web

site

Panel believes that information about sexual assault awareness must be

and

easily accessible.

Therefore, the Panel

recommends

the

devoted to educating cadets about sexual assault. The web

accessible through

an

intuitive search of the

information presented to the Cadet

Academy homepage, and

Wing by CASIE

representatives,

site

contain

Academy
should be
all

of the

and the information
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provided in the Sexual Assault Awareness Month senrunars. The

phone number

available psychotherapists

The web

site

and the names

of

CASIE cadet

should also include information about rape

web

should provide the

site

names and phone numbers

for the sexual assault reporting hotline, the

of

representatives listed by squadron.
kit

examinations, the importance of

follow-up care such as testing for pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), the

names and

locations of Air Force, local

other relevant

web

and Academy support organizations,'" and

links to

sites.

Polio/ to Encourage Reporting: "Amnesty"

3.

All

Academy personnel have

standards to the cadet's chain of

a dut\' to report suspected violations of established

command,

including

law enforcement authorities."' Such reports are

any involvement with

made on

civilian

or militarv

Wing Form

the Air Force Cadet

10,

Report of Conduct.'"

Prior to

March

2003, the

Academy had

a discretionary policy, intended to

encourage

cadets to report sexual assaults, that provided that cadets would "generally not be disciplined"
for self- identified violations of cadet instructions that
assault.'*'

may have

occurred in connection with an

However, the Working Croup Report found that the Academy's amnestv poUc\' "was

not well understood by cadets or leadership, and uncertainty as to
it

its

efficacy

reduced any

effect

may have had in encouraging reporting."""
Several cadet victin« of sexual assault reported to the

Working Group,

the

media and

the Panel that cadets were afraid to report instances of sexual assault because of concern that
they,

and other cadet witnesses, would be punished

underage drinking or fraternization that occurred

would be revealed through
were punished

for

such

for infractions.
in

Such

ir\fractions

included

connection with the assault or which

investigation of the assault.

Some

cadets have reported that they

infractions.

" This should include CASIE, AFOSI, the Cadet Counseling Center, TESSA and any other orgaiuzation
Academy deems appropriate. The web site should provide the mission statement
cmd whether it is affiliated with the Academy.
USAFA Cadet Wing Instruction 51-201 at fJ.l.

the

for

each

organization
•^'

^ Id. at p.1.1.
^'

USAFA Instruction 51-201

12.8.3: "Viobtion of Cadet Wing Irwtruction. To encourage cadets to report
and to ensure they receh^e available medical and counseling services, cadet \-ictims will
generally not be disciplined for self-identified violations of cadet instructions (such as pass uolations,
unauthorized alcohol constimption, or unauthorized dating) that may have occuned in connection with

sexual assaults

an assault.

AOCs may still counsel cadets about such violations;

sanction other witnesses for related minor offenses will be
"^

Working Group Report, at 166.
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the issue of whether the

The Panel questioned Academy leadership on
disciplinary action against female cadets

the former Training

Group Conwiander

served punishments

restriction while the
difficult to

that,

Form

were never any victims

who

officials later clarified

this

told the Panel that "there

that claimed sexual assault.""'

statement and indicated
victims had received

who

Academy took

alleged sexual assault. In respor«e to questioning,

Academy

while an actual punishment was not imposed, sexual assault

would have been placed on

10s and, in the majority of cases,

matter which was the subject of the Form 10 was under review.'"

understand

how

a cadet could perceive this loss of

liberty'

It is

not

as being tantamount to

punishment.

The Agendo

for

Change directed implementation of a new amnesty policy

for the

Academy;

In all reported cases of sexual assault,

amnesty from Academy

connection with the alleged offense will be extended
exception of the alleged assailant,

any cadet involved

to all

in

discipline arising in

cadets involved with the

covering up the incident, any

and

the

will be responsible

and

cadet involved in hindering the reporting or investigation of the incident,
senior ranking cadet in attendance.

The senior ranking cadet

accountable for all infractions committed by junior cadets'"

The

intent of Air Force leadership

with few exceptions."'" In an

was

that this provision

would

give "blanket

amnesty

effort to deter the potential for abuse of amnesty, the Agenda for

Change also provides that "any

false

accusations of sexual assault will be prosecuted to the

full

extent of the law."'"

In

subsequent guidance, the Academy has defined "Academy discipline" to include

infractions such as "over the fence," unauthorized

unprofessional relationships."* Additionally,

consumption of alcohol and fraternization or

Academy

officials

have advised the Panel that

"'

Statement of Colonel Slavec to the Panel in Colorado Springs, Colo. Ouly 11, 2003).
Video Teleconference, Agenda for Change Status Briefing by Colonel Gray with Panel Staff Ouly 24,
2003). USAFA Instruction 51-201 T|3.2.5 mandates that "cadets cannot sign out on any liberties or passes
until the AFCW Form 10 is completely processed and closed out." Additionally cadets pending Class D
'"

violations are restricted to the squadron area.
"'

Agenda for Change, at 6.
Statement of Mary L. Walker to the Panel in Washington,
"^ Agenda
for Change, at 6.
"* Commander's Guidance 06-3 (June 6, 2003).
"*

DC.

(June 23, 2003).
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be granted in the case of an Honor Code violation."' Academy

concede that they are
raised

S

still

grappling with the amnesty policy"' and there are

by the Working Group

that

need

While the Panel understands

to

still

officials

several issues

be addressed."'

that the newly-established

Academy Response Team

will

be involved in addressing collateral misconduct in cases of sexual assault,'" the Panel

concerned that a

new

school year has already

commenced without

is

a clearly defined policy.

Consequently, the Panel reviewed the amnesty policies and practices at West Point and the

Naval Academy

to

determine

if

those policies would assist in formulating an Air Force

Academy policy.
At the

outset, the

West Point and Naval Academy

policies as "amnesty"; rather, they are policies to

'"

Video Teleconference, Agenda for Change Status

instructions"'

do not

refer to their

encourage reporting. This change in focus

Briefing

by Colonel Gray with Panel

Staff Quly 24,

2003).
"' Id.

"•

The Working Group noted

that several issues involving the

amnesty policy need to be addressed

to

avoid misunderstandings in the future: whether amnesty will apply to cadet infractions factually related
to the sexual assault, but not part of the specific incident of assault;

matters beyond mere cadet infractions, such as violations of the

whether amnesty

will

apply to

UCMJ; whether other command

responses, such as counseling, are permissible even though amnesty applies; and, whether victim

misconduct can be considered

for potentially adverse

Report, at page 49.)
"' Interview by Pane! Staff with

purposes other than discipline. (Working Group

Academv Response Team in Colorado

Springs, Colo. (Aug.

4,

2003).

"'Id.
'"

The West Point policy regarding victim and witness misconduct

usee POLICY MEMORANDUM 39-03,

in cases of sexual assault

United States Corps of Cadets

(USCQ

is set

forth in

Sexual Assault Response

Program (Apr. 25, 2003). Paragraph 6(c)(3) provides: "The Chain of Command's provision to encourage
The Chain of Conunand w<mts all incidents of sexual assault or past sexual assaults reported.
In cases where the Iwhavior by the victim may also be considered an offense
the circumstances
surrounding the assault and its impact upon the victim shall be considered in determiiung whether it is
reporting.

.

. .

initiate or recommend administrative, disciplinary, or judicial action against a victim. The
Commandant makes such decisions concerning cadet victims on a case-by-case basis. Final decisions
and/or recommendations will be made after a thorough review of all reasonably available information

appropriate to

and

careful consideration of the severity of the offense(s)

and the likelihood that the

offense(s)

would

have otherv\^e been reported. Recognizing that victims may be reluctant to provide relevant iiiformation
because it may implicate misconduct by non-assailant peers or friends, this policy provision is intended
to encourage victim reporting and all matters shall l>e considered and carefully weighed before
discipliiung other cadets based on such ii\formation."
The Naval Academy policy is set forth in COMDTMIDNINST 1952.1, Sexual Assault Victim
Intervention (SAVI) Program (May
victim

7,

2003). Paragraph 8(d) provides: 'In cases

may also be considered an offense

upon the

...

victim shall be considered in determining whether

disciplinary action against the victim.

where behavior by the
and its impact

the circumstances surrounding the assault
it

is

To encourage midshipmen

appropriate to take administrative or
to report sexual assaults and to ensure

they receive available medical and counseling services, midshipmen victims of sexual assault generally
Page 90
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alleviate

some of

the negative connotations associated with the term "anuiesty,"

avoids using a term that

is

and

it

not recognized in the administration of military justice. Second,

neither of the other two academies allows for a blanket grant of amnesty, but provides that the

A

grant of amnesty

may

decisions will be

made on

perception that

has been used as a sword, rather than as a shield, should the alleged victim

it

a case-by-case basis.

blarJicet

claim "sexual assault" to avoid accountability for the victim's

postpone decisions regarding victim nusconduct

own

misconduct or the discipline

Academy and West

of "witness" friends for their misconduct. Third, the Naval
until after a

thorough review of

available evidence, careful consideration of the severity of the offense,

the offer\se would have otherwise been reported. Fourth, the

who

be the decision authority.

will

Academy,
regarding

who made

A

similar statement

and

in the case of non-assailant peers

friends, the policy to

reasonably

prior

academy

that

policy also sets out

would be helpful

amnest}- decisions.'" Finally, the other two

Point policies
all

and the likelihood

West Point

was apparent confusion among

particularly since there

create a

to the Air Force

Academy

leadership

policies provide that,

encourage victim reporting should

be given careful consideration before making a determination on

their discipline.

The Panel recommends the Air Force review the West Point and Naval Academy
policies

and adopt a

should provide the

clear policy to

Commandant

encourage reporting of sexual

or Superintendent shall

case basis. This decision should involve advice from the

Academy

Staff

Judge Advocate, and provide

assault.

The policy

make determinations on a

case -by-

Academy Response Team and

for careful corisideration of

many factors,

the

including

the circumstances surrounding the alleged sexual assault, the evidence supporting the
allegation of sexual assault, the seriousness of the vicdm's reported misconduct
relationship to the sexual assault,

and need

to

encourage victims

now and

and

its

in the future to

report sexual assaults.

will not

be disciplined

for self-reported violations of [the

UCM]

or administrative Conduct System] such

as alcohol offenses or prior consensual sexual misconduct factually related to the assault.
will generally receive Responsibility

Midshipmen

Counseling
for such violations. Final decisions concerning the
processing ot violations committed by midshipmen victims will be made on a case-by-case basis, after a
thorough review of all reasonably available information, and considering the severity of the offense(s)
. . .

and the likelihood

that the offense(s) would have otherwise been reported. Recognizing that victims may
be reluctant to provide relevant information also impUcafing misconduct by non-assailant peers or
friends, the above polic).- to encourage %ictim reporting shall hie coiwidered and carefully weighed before

disciplining other midshipmen based
"" Working Croup Report, at 47.

on such information."
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B.
1.

Response

to Allegations of Sexual Assault

Academy Response Team
March

Prior to

management

in

body charged with providing

2003, the Academ\-

cases of sexual assault v\as the

SASC"

ir\terdisciplinaTy case

The SASC was

also

charged with

serving as a central resource for tracking and monitoring reported cases of sexual assault and

providing biannual reports on sexual assault issues to senior

Group Report found that the SASC had
case
of,

management and was not

and response

to,

failed to

perform

engaging

effecrively

The Working

leadership.

primars' duty of interdisciplinary

components responsible

for

deterrence

sexual assaults.'** In resporxse to these identified shortcorrungs, the Agenda

for Change directed an

Academy Response Team ("ART") be

sexual assault immediate assistance, develop the

According to

all

Academy

its

Academy

facts,

guidance, the purpose of the

established "to provide a victim of

and

ART

initiate

appropriate actions.'""

to provide effective,

is

immediate

response and victim support, as well as follow-on case management.'*' Additionally,
officials

have advised the Panel that the .^R^

including tracking

and reporting sexual

will

first

response

(1) first

role, Tier

response;

sexual assault. The Tier

*"

of the

I

I

(1)

§

2.4.

will

ART

management;

be

in the

prevention

(3) training;

notified immediately

According to the instruction, the

Office of Primary Responsibility

and

upon

of,

body

central resource for
*"

SASC.

(4)

and response

to,

assessment."* In

("OPR

")

tor coordinating

SASC was responsible

for

serving as

medical services, psychological
assault; (2)

Cadet Sexual Assault Hotline, and the Victim Advocate Program; and
tracking and monitoring reported cases of sexual assault."
for the

key
(3)

Working Croup Report, at 53-55.

"*

V\e Agmda for Change specihcally tasks the V"ice Conunandant with overseeing the Academy's sexual
climate issues and directs that the Vice Commandant will; "With the support of officers detailed to the
Vice Commandant from the Ottice ot the Staff ludge Advocate, the Counseling Center, and the Office of
Special Investigations, develop, and implement procedures for an Academy Response Team (comprising
medical legal, coimseling, and command elements) to provide a victim of sexual assault iirunediate
assistance, develop the facts, and initiate appropriate actions. The members of this team will receive
special traiiung on the management of sexual assault cases including \ictim psychology. The cadet
alleging sexual assault wUl be thoroughly briefed on the investigative and legal process." Agenda for
Change, at
"*

"'

3.

Commanders Guidance 05-8 (May 27, 2003).
Video Teleconference. Agenda for Change Status

2003).
"• Statement of Colonel

Page 92

its

report of an allegation of

counseling legal advice, administrative intervention, and education concerning sexual
admiiustrative

Academv

functions of the former

team consists of the Vice Commandant of Cadets, a Victim Advocate

USAFA Instruction 51-201

"the

(2) case

ART

all

assault cases.'"

There are four major responsibilities of the
sexual assaults:

perform

Gray

to the Panel in

Briefing

bv Colonel Grav with Panel

Colorado Springs, Colo.

(July 11, 2003).

Staff

QuW 24,
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representative.^'"

Commandant

AFOSI

TO SEXUAL ASSAULT

liaison,"'

The AFOSI

if

and

legal

AFOSI

representative and a Security Forces

detailed directly to the Vice

liaison are

and, along with the Victim Advocate Coordinator, will be responsible for

ensuring that the complainant
(and,

a legal liaison, an

liaison

is

offered

available services

all

and explaining

to the

processes.

Whenever

necessary, the Vice

Commandant mav

activate Tier 2 of the response

team, vi'hich could include chaplains or medical personnel. Additionally, the Vice
will

complainant

she desires, her parents or other individuals"') the applicable investigative and legal

be responsible for the dissemination of information up the chain of

Commandant and

the Superintendent and,

responsible squadron

In

its

case

if

appropriate,

down

Commandant

command

the chain of

to the

command

to the

AOC.

management

role, the

ART

will

address longer-term issues, such as whether

the complainant or the alleged perpetrator should be

moved

out of the dormitories and

if

the

complainant needs assistance in alleviating the impact on her studies, to include receiving a
leave of absence from the Academy.^'

Most importantly, the ART

will

be responsible for

addressing collateral misconduct and infractions committed by a complainant or witnesses to
the offense and,
that

may be
In

where warranted, stopping inappropriate Academy cadet

its

training role, the

ART

will

be responsible for providing Gaining to

Academy, both assigned personnel and the Cadet Wing.'" In
months, the Vice Commandant and kev members of the

'"

The AFOSI

disciplinary actions

in process."'

liaison will not

be involved

and Academy resource.
Commander's Guidance 05-S (May 27,

ART

all

levels of the

particular, in the next several
wall

meet with each

in the investigation of the alleged assault,

individual

but will serve as a

victim liaison
"°
"'

2003).

In his statement to the Panel, Senator Allard expressed concern that the role of the victim's parents

is

often largely overlooked. Statement of Senator Allard to the Panel in Washington, D.C. Qur\e 23, 2003).

The Panel recognizes that parents can provide a tremendous amount ot support to victims of sexual
assault, and the Panel is confident that the vicHm-oriented Academy Response Team ("ART") is wellsuited to appropriately involve parents in the support

recognizes the fact that

Academy

be with the express consent of the cadet.
Statement of Colonel Gray to the Panel

""

management

responsibility, the

the victim's behalf

when

and healing

process.

However, the Panel also

cadets are emancipated adults, and any involvement of parents must

ART will

in

Colorado Springs, Colo. Quly

utilize its expertise to

11. 2003).

As part

of

its

case

streamline appointments and engage on

issues related to the sexual assault impact academic, mibtary, or athletic

performance. As an example, the

ART will

use

its

representative in the medical clinic to assist with

appointments for the victim and ensure that one medical provider is assigned to the victim so they do
not have to re-explain the sexual assault incident to a different provider each time they seek medical
care.
"^ Interview by Panel Staft' with
"* Statement of Colonel Gray

ART in

Colorado Springs, Colo. (Aug. 4, 2003).
Colorado Springs, Colo. Ouly 11, 2003).

to the Panel in
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AIR

and procedures. The

intent of these meetings

is

"to

build trust and confidence with cadets tor the prevenbon of sexual assault cases and the prompt

reporting of incidents, should they occur.""*

The Panel conducted an extensive review of
and

and

processes,

its

the newly- established

ART,

assigned personnel. The Panel has concluded that the

significant positive step

toward achieving a

consistent, appropriate

response

its

ART

functions

presents a

to allegations of

sexual assault, and to restoring trust and confidence in the Academy's handling of these
allegations. In particular, the

key team members have an impressive depth and breadth of

experience and a higli level of enthusiasm and commitment to these important responsibilities.

The Panel

encouraged that the

is

ART

has the necessary foundations to endure beyond the
short-term implementation of the Agenda for

Change and

The Panel

is

encouraged that the ART

has the necessary foundations
.

,

,

become

to

a lasting

Academy

institution.

to

The Panel recommends that the

,

endure beyond the short-term

Academv ensure

that the

ART

is

always

implementaHon of the Agenda for

proacHvely involved in cases in which the

Change and to become a

victim

Academy

lasting

and potential witnesses are

ART may

play a

""
the victim

Academy

subjected to

considers

all

the facts

discipline until

also

committed misconduct. The

alleged to have

institution.

critical role in

and potential

ensuring that

v^ritnesses are

an appropriately high-level Academy

not

official carefully

and circumstances. The Panel also recommends that the

ART

continue to remain involved in a case, in the event that a particular allegation

suspected to be false."* The
reasoned, fact-based decision

ART may

assist the

on whether to pursue

chain of

command

in

making a

is

well-

the alleged false allegation.

Rnally, the licensed psychotherapist overseeing the sexual assault reporting process

should not be the Victim Advocate Coordinator assigned to the ART.
Coordinator

he or she

is

also the psychotherapist

may encounter

engaging

in privileged

difficulty distinguishing cor\fidenticil

If

the Victim Advocate

communications with the
information

when

case within the .ART.

"*

Memorandum

"*

The Agenda for Change

Record from Colonel Gray (Aug.
states "any false accusatior\s
extent of the law. Agenda far Change, at 6.
tor

"
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Enforcement Response
The AFOSI

rape,

is

responsible for conducting investigations of serious crimes, including
child molestation

sodomy, carnal knowledge,

Some

harm."'

cadets,

CASIE

representatives

and

assaults involving serious bodily

and victim advocates have expressed concern

about AFOSI's treatment of victims and the manner in which
investigations.'*'

conducted sexual assault

it

These concerns generally involve complaints about the unpleasantness of the

Agents and the negative impact

investigative process, insensitivit)' of the investigating Special

on victims and witnesses
representatives of

that

sometimes

result

from the process.^ The Panel also heard from

TESSA,™ expressing doubts about AFOSI's

ability to effectively investigate

sexual assault cases.

AFOSI

policy and guidance specifically recognizes that the psychology of sexual

victimization or exploitation

According

to

AFOSI

cases influences

may

easily

go beyond the capabibty of the average agent."'

leadership, this explicit recognition of the difficulties presented

its

policies,

by these

guidance and resources for conducting sexual assault

investigations."'

^' In

accordance with a

Sheriff's Office, the

Memorandum

ot

Understanding between the Academy and the El Paso County

AFOSI has primary jurisdiction

for sexual assaults

upon cadets on Academy grounds.

governed by Pub. L. No, 99-145, 99 Stat. 583 (1985); DoD Instruction 5505.3, "Initiation of
Investigations by Military Criminal Investigative Organizations," June 21, 2002; Air Force Policy Directive

AFOSI

is

71-1, "Criminal Investigations

Volume

1,

and Counterintelligence,"

"Criminal Investigations," December

1,

1999;

July

1,

1999; Air Force Instruction 71-101,

AFOSMMN 71-122,

"Criminal Investigations,"

August 12, 2002; and the AFOSI Handbook, "Special Investigations Crime Scene Handbook," January
10, 2000 71-124. In addition to complaints of sexual assault, AFOSI conducts investigations of abuse of
authority involving sexual behavior that

sexual harassment such as

may not

be criminal in nature, but

unwelcome comments,

falls

solicitation of sexual acts,

into the category of

and

related conduct.

Instructor/Student and cadet-on-cadet incidents are included in the category of matters investigated by

AFOSI.
"* The investigation of specific complaints
regarding the actions of Academy administration and AFOSI
staff in responding to complaints of sexual assault is ongoing by the Air Force IG. According to
representatives of the Air Force IG, seven of twentv-six complaints received from cadets and other
sources include issues involving AFOSI.
'" The Panel noted that Cadets,
a Cadet Coui\seling Center Victim Advocate, CASIE Representatives and

TESSA Counselors all have expressed various concerns about reporting incidents of sexual assault to
AFOSI. These concerns included perceptions

that the victim's

complaint was not believed by the agent,

perceptions that the investigation appeared to focus on the conduct of the victim and wimesses, a
perceived attitude on the part of the agent as uncaring and distant, concerns that AFOSI was not keeping

information confidenhal and the fact that
"*
'"'

some investigations did not

Statement of Jennifer Bier and Janet Kerr to the Panel
AFOSIMAN 71-122 -J 2.3.1.1

"' Interview

by Panel

Staff with

in

result in criminal charges.

Colorado Springs, Colo. Quly 10-11, 2003).

Colonel Shirley at Andrews Air Force Base, Md. (Aug.

5,

2003).
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The AFOSI manual

identifies rape as

among

the most serious of crimes to be

investigated because of the long-lasting trauma for the victim and persons close to the victim.

Accordingly, Special Agents are cautioned to use extreme care to ensure that investigative

procedures do not cause or aggravate any emotional harm to the victim.

It is

required that

all

reported allegations of rape be investigated to their logical conclusion, and the heads of
individual offices must immediately coordinate these investigations with their respective

Forensic Sciences Consultant ("FSC")."'

AFOSI

agents must adhere to a

number

working with victims of sexual assault."*

of requirements

Sometimes

is

it

when

interviewing and

necessary that the victim be

interviewed several times to fully develop the evidence, resolve inconsistencies that

and

clarifv the circumstances

clarification interview

to determine

if

emd

with a victim, the agent must

the interview will

add

significant

wrongly accused

first

may

conduct a thorough analysis of the case

informahon

to the inveshgation or likely yield

Detachment Commander, the

informahon

to clear a

FSC,

Judge Advocate and, when appropriate, AFOSI headquarters, must

Staff

exist

However, before scheduling a

details of the incident.

subject. Additionally, the

first

be

consxilted."

AFOSI has

stringent guidelines

on

investigations of victims.

Such inveshgations must

be based on evidence indicating that the victim knowingly made a complaint against an
irmocent person,

may

not be initiated merely because the victim refused to cooperate, must be

investigated separately from the sexual assault complaint,

Detachment Commaiwier,

servicing FSC,

and must be coordinated with the

and an AFOSI headquarters

clinical

psychologist."

*" Forensic Sciences Consultants ("FSC") are experienced senior Special

Agents who have completed the
requirements of a Masters of Forensic Science degree from George Washington University and formal
training

the Armed Forces Institute of Technology Forensic Science Program. FSC's provide field
on-scene assistance, telephonic advice, expert coordination, and training in most forensic

throu^

offices with

science specialties. Also, they testify as expert wimesses at military judicial proceedings in such areas as
laboratory analyses of evidence, issues related to physical and biological evidence, and crime scene
reconstniction.

AFOSIMAN 71-22,%

2.3.3

and

2.3.3.1.1; see also

AFOSI

"Talking Paper on

AFOSI

Forensic

Sciences Consultants."
"*

for AFOSI agents includes caution that victims must be approached tactfully and in a
manner btecause they may be in shock and are often traumatized by the incident. Victims must
be asked if they would like an investigator of the same sex to be present when they are interviewed and
accorded their request as desired. While victims and wimesses should be encouraged to fullv cooperate
in the investigation, they should not be intimidated or forced to cooperate. Agents may consult with Staff
Judge Advocates and the victim's commander to determine whether the victim should be ordered to
submit to interviews, but such requests are seldom made by AFOSI.

Guidance

sensitive

"" AFOSIMAN 71-122, 1 2.3.3.4.1, 2.3.3.4.2.
'^AFOSIMAN 71-122 % 2.3.3.1.2, 2.3.3.3.3.
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commonly

"Psycho-physiological Detection of Deception" (PDD) examinations,
referred to as polygraph examinations,

may

be administered to subjects, victims and witnesses

Polygraph examinations are investigative tools that

in sexual assault cases."'

assist the

investigator in considering the information received from individuals during an investigation"*

The

results of the

examination and any statements

process, considered in light of

all

made by

the subject during the examination

of the available evidence,

may

assist the investigator in

deciding whether to continue or conclude the investigation. However, polygraph examinations
are not to be routinely offered to victims

AFOSI

senior

clinical

psvchologists

commanders and/or

and

all

examination requests must be approved by

PDD Program Management Office."'

FSCs and polygraph examination

In addition to

and sexual

the

on

its

headquarters

staff

who

specialists,

AFOSI has two

Ph.D. -level

are recognized experts in domestic violence

assault issues. These clinical psychologists are

on

call

24 hours daily to provide

assistance in sexual assault cases.""

AFOSI
1982.'"

AFOSI

agents are required to comply with the Victim and Witness Protection Act of
will provide victims

Information for Victims

AFOSI

to receive assistance. Additionally,

victims

and witnesses with

a

copy of

and witnesses whose

and

safety

will

ensure that reasonable protection

According to AFOSI leadership, agents are trained

to
its

leadership cannot justify the placement of specialists in

mission, the varied size of
particular categor)'.

Form

2701,

Initial

its

is

provided to

security' are jeopardized.

responding to the numerous criminal complaints received by

AFOSI

DD

and Witwsses, and wHl inform victims and witnesses where they may go

be generalists effectively

detachments worldwide.
its

detachments given

its

detachments'" and the volume of criminal activity in any

However, AFOSI compensates

for the lack of specialization

with training

and supporting resources.

Special Agents receive basic criminal investigative training through the Federal

Law

Enforcement Training Center's eight- week "Criminal Investigation Training Program."

""'AFOSIMAN
'°°

consent

is

investigator in
"" Interview

'"

1,

<\

1, 2.

is no forensic or independent evidence of force and the issue of
polygraph examination of the subject may be administered to assist the
evaluating the subject's statement that the activity was consensual.

in question, a

'''AFOSIMAN
"'

71-103, Vol.

For example, in cases in which there

71-103. Vol.

by Panel

1,

'[IX

4.

Staff with Colonel Shirley at

18 U.S.C. §§ 1512-1515, 3663, 3664.
AFOSI Detachments generally range

in size

Andrews Air Force Base, Md. (Aug 5,

from four to

2003).

forty agents.
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Following the successful completion of

AFOSI Agency

Specific

U.S.

this course,

Program ("ASP")

AIR

FORCE ACADENn'

agents then attend a

that provides training

on the

six- to

eight-week

UCMJ and

the types of

investigations they are likely to conduct as military' criminal investigators.
is

focused on crimes against persons, such

ASP, agents are assigned to a detachment
this probationary- period

Course intended

to bring

as assault, robbery
to

Much

of this traiiving

and rape. Uf>on graduation from

complete a one -year probationai\' period. During

agents must successfully complete a mandatory Career Development

them

According to AFOSI,

to a fuUy qualified level.'"

its

agents receive more than 90 hours training in support of sexual

assault investigations. This training involves both general instruction applicable to
investigations

all

and focused instruction on the investigation of crimes against persons, including

sexual eissaults.'"

The training addresses various aspects of

victims, such as the

primary

inflicted

by society that

victim's

need

for

may

injuries inflicted

the effects of violent crimes

by a criminal on a victim, the secondary

result in injustice, indigruty

emotional support, safety and

and

security'. In

isolation for the victim,

on

injuries

and the

addition to these courses, agents

regularly receive in-service training throughout their careers to maintain the currencv of their
skills

and meet the needs of AFOSI's mission.

Initiating
skill

and maintaining

a positive relatioriship with a victim

is

often a factor of the

and personality of the case agent. Maintciirung rapport with a victim of traumatic crime and

being an independent and objective finder of
leadership believes that the training

FSCs and

resources (such as

its

fact, is

often a delicate balance. However,

AFOSI

agents receive, the availability of highly specialized

clirucal psychologists),

and the supervision and oversight given

these cases provide an effective framework for responding to these challenges.'"

AFOSI has designated
Detachment 808, as a
certified

field

grade

FSC (although not

the

Commander

officer position.

of the

Academy's AFOSI detachment.

The oirrent Detachment 808 Conunander

experience in conducting sexual assault investigations. The remaining

staff,

by Panel Staff with Colonel Shirley at Andrews Air Force Base, Md. (Aug. 5, 2003), E-mail
from Colonel Michael McConneL USAF, Of&ce of the Secretary of the Air Force, Director, Special
Investigations (SAF/IGX), to Panel Staff (Aug. 4, 2003); and AFOSI Talking Paper on Sexual Assault

and Victim

Sensitivity

"

"' Id.

The training includes specific topics such as use of sexual assault kits, physical and biological
evidence, crime scene processing techniques and strategies for resolving inter-personal crimes of
violence, the victiin/wimess assistance program, and interviewing victims. Interviewing is comprised ot
15 hours at lecture and 18 hours of practical exercises that include topics relating to interaction ivith
victims.
'" Interview

Page 98

by Panel

Staff with

a

comprised of

'" Interview

Investigation Training

is

currently assigned to perform in that position) with extensive

Colonel Shirley at Andrews Air Force Base,

Md. (Aug 5,

2003).
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non-commissioned

officers

and

assignment to the Academy because of

was

civilian special agents,

their experience

assistance

leadership and the Detachment 808

Commander

availability of real time resources,

on sexual

of instruction
fall

2003.

808,

to provide

believe the training received

assault investigations that

The course

will

AFOSI

vAW be

is

To improve

its skills in this

developing an advanced course

first

presented to Detachment 808

be modeled on nationally recognized and respected training

currently given to civilian law enforcement officers.

The Panel commends AFOSI's decision
investigation that

consider other
in

in that

provides a fully capable and

robust framework for responding to sexual assaults at the Academy.
area and ensure a compassionate response to victims,

is

work

Detachment

when necessary.

AFOSI

that

for

from nearby Peterson Air Force Base and Buckley Air Force Base

by agents, coupled with the

agents in

ability to

FSC

sensitive environment. Additionalh', agents, including the regional

are available

specifically selected for

and perceived

which

it

will provide to its

it

ways

to

sensitivities

may

agents.

The Panel encourages AFOSI

itself

are briefed

to

with the environment

to deal

include extending the normal rotational cycle of

newly assigned agents

and availing

develop advanced training in sexual assault

enhance the capacity of Detachment 808

operates. This

agents, assuring that

to

Academy

its

experienced

on the Academy environment and

of resources in the civilian law enforcement

The Panel recommends the AFOSI Academy detachment

community.

participate fully in the

Academy Response Team and use it for informing and educating
Academy leadership, victim advocates and CASIE representatives of their

recently established

responsibilities

and

limitations.

AFOSI's educational

that provide a basic understanding of

how and why

it

efforts

should include programs

takes certain investigative actions,

and the benefits of timely reporting and investigation of all sexual assault incidents.
3.

Rape Kit Exams
The Panel concurs with the Air Force's position that rape

kit

examinations should

continue to be done by certified and experienced Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners at Memorial
Hospital in Colorado Springs, pursuant to the practice that has been in place for

The continued treatment of rape victims
specialized staff

who
"

and

facilities that

Memorial Hospital assures the

are not cunently available at the

treat cadet \ictims are trained

Memorandum from

at

and experienced

some

time.'"

availability of highly

Academy,

that medical staff

in treating sexual assault injuries, and, that

Secretary Roche to Assistant Secretary

Dominguez (Aug.

14, 2003).
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torensic evidence

and other information collected as the

is

Academy

to continue to explore options for

cadet victims at the
kit

result of the

exam

Academy

hospital

making rape

kit

exams more

and consider possible options

easily accessible to

for victims to receive a

confidentially.

The Panel recommends the Academy take measures
to the hospital,

choosing

examination and

preserved for use in future legal proceedings. However, the Panel encourages the

treatment

rape

AIR FORCE ACADEXri

and any other necessary

to receive a rape kit

to ensure that transportation

logistical support, is

always available to a cadet

examination. In particular, transportation must be

provided by an appropriate individual, such as the psychotherapist or Academy

Response Team member who

will

be discreet and can address the victim's emotional

needs during the long car trip to the hospital.

Pagif

100

182
VII.

RECOMMENDATIONS
After performing the study required by H.R. 1559

being implemented

throughout
report to

b)'

this report.

which

problems

The Panel recommends

at the

various recommendations

Academy and

Academy over

this

summarized below.

Awareness and Accountability - Section
1.

made

Those recommendations, organized according to the major area of

the\' apply, are

accountability- of

and reviev\ing the poliq- changes

the Agenda for Change, the Panel has

the

that the

DoD

III

IG conduct a thorough review of the

Air Force Headquarters leadership for the sexual assault
last

decade. This review should include an assessment of the

actions taken by leaders at Air Force Headquarters as well as those at the

Academy, including

General Gilbert, General Wagie and Colonel Slavec. The review should also consider the

adequacy of personnel actions taken, the accuracy of individual performance evaluations, the
validity of decorations

further

recommends

Armed

Services

awarded and the appropriateness of follow-on assignments. The Panel

that the

DoD

Committees and

IG provide the results of the review to the House and Senate
Defense. (Page 42)

to the Secretary of

Command Supervision and Oversight at the Academy - Section IV
2.

The Panel recommends

that the Secretary of the Air Force adopt the

management

plan announced on August 14, 2003, including the creation of an Executive Steering Group, as
the permanent organizational structure by
effective oversight of the

which the senior Air Force leadership

Academy's detenence of

iind

will exercise

response to incidents of sexual assault

and sexual harassment. (Page 45)

3.

The Panel recommends

that

the Air Force extend the tour length of the

Superintendent to four years iind the tour length of the
in order to provide for greater continuity

4.

The Panel recommends

and

stability in

Commandant

of Cadets to three years

Academy leadership. (Page 46)

that the Air Force prepare a legislative proposal to revise 10

U.S.C. § 9335(a) to expand the available pool of potential candidates for the position of
Faculty

beyond the current

limitation to

permanent

Dean

of

professors. (Page 46)
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The Panel recommends
•

Operate more

that the

V.i. .-UR

FORCE ACADEMY

Academy Board of Visitors:

corporate board of directors with regularly organized

like a

committees charged with distinctive responsibilities
life,

athletics, etc.).

at least

two

The Board should meet not

of those meetings at the

should include

at least

one

full

scheduled so as to provide the

{e.g..

acadenuc

affairs,

student

less than four times per year, with

Academy. To the extent

meetings

practical,

day of meaningful participation and should be
fullest

participation by Congressional

members.

Board members must have m\fettered access to Academy grounds and cadets, to
include attending classes
•

and meeting with cadets informally and

and

Receive candid and complete disclosure by the Secretary of the Air Force and the

Academy Superintendent
to, all

of

all

ii^titutional

problems, including but not limited

gender related matters, cadet surveys and ir\formation related to culture

and climate and incidents of sexual harassment and sexual

6.

privately;

The Panel recommends

assaults. (Page 49)

that the Air Force prepare a legislative proposal to revise 10

U.S.C. § 9355. The suggested revisions should include both the foregoing and following

recommendations:

•

•

Changing the composition of the Board

to include fewer Congressional (and,

therefore,

more Presidential-appointed) members, more women and minority

individuals

and

at least

two Academy graduates;

Requiring that any individual

who

accepts

an appointment

as a Board

member

does, thereby, pledge full conunitment to attend each meeting of the Board,
to Ccirry

out

of the duties

all

and

responsibilities of a

Board member,

and

to the fullest

extent prachcal;
•

Terminating any Board member's appointment
participate in

who

fails

to attend or fully

two successive Board meetings, unless granted prior excusaJ

for

good cause by the Boeird Chairman;
•

Providing

cleeir

oversight authorit\- of the Board over the Academy, and direct

that, in addition to

the President,

the

it

Chairmen

the reports of

shall

of the Senate

Secretary of Defense

its

annual meetings required to be furnished to

submit those reports and such other reports

and the Seaetary

•

all

Academy and

action thereon;

to

and

Eliminating the current requirement for Secretarial approval for the Board to
the

Page 102

prepares, to

of the Air Force, in order to identify

matters of the Board's concerns with or about the Air Force

recommend appropriate

it

and House Armed Services Committees, the

Academy for other than annual \isits. (Pages

49-50)

visit
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Organizational Culture

8.

that the Air Force conduct the

The Panel recommends

7.

commissioned
for officer

& Character Development - Section V
and tour lengths

Officer assigriment policies

assignments

Tlie Panel

policies.

same review of Non-

Academy

at the

as

it is

conducting

(Page 56)

recommends

that the

Academy draw upon

climate survey resources at the

Air Force Personnel Center Survey Branch for assistance in creating and administering the
social climate surveys. Further, the

records of

all

surveys, responses

Panel recommends that the Academy keep centralized

and reports and keep typed records of

(not abbreviated or paraphrased) - to be provided as

reports

must be provided to Academy

9.

The Panel recommends

To ensure

all

to

comments

written

any

report. All such

leadership. (Page 58)

that the

Academy

place a renewed emphasis

and encouragement of responsible consumption of alcohol

10.

an appendix

for

the safety of every cadet, the Panel

implement a policy permitting unrestricted

{i.e.,

all

on education

cadets. (Page 61)

recommends

no explanation required

that the

at

Academy

any time)

private

access to telephones for the use by any cadet, including Fourth-Class cadets, in an emergencv'.

(Page 62)

11.

The Panel recommends

instruction be

mandatory

for

require completion of at least

all

that the Center for Character

cadets.

Development education

The Panel further recommends the cadet curriculum

one course per year that emphasizes character

values, for

which

cadets shall receive a grade and acaderriic credit. (Page 68)

12.
significant,

While the Panel appreciates

we recommend

training at a time of

13.

day

The Panel recommends

trainers of prevention

who

which cadets

in

will

that the

and awareness

are well -skilled in

that the

demands on

the time of

cadets are

be most receptive to the training session. (Page 73)

Academy

focus

on providing

better training to the

classes including enlisting the aid of facultv'

group presentation techniques that are

cadets, developing small

new

reassessing the training calendar to place prevention and awareness

group training sessions which

will

effective

members

and energize the

be more effective than large

audience presentations, developing training sessions that educate the students on the reporting
process and Air Force Office of Special Investigations investigatory practices and procedures,

and establishing a review process

for training session materials that includes the use of the
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Academy Response Team and

cadet cadre or

some other

multi-disciplinary group of experts.

(Page 74)

Intervention and Response to Sexual Assault - Section VI
The Panel recommends

14.

that the Air Force establish a policy that achieves a better

balance of interests and properly employs psychotherapist-patient counseling, and
associated privilege, for the benefit of cadet victims.

The Panel recommends

that the

its

Academy's

policy for sexual assault reporting clearly recognize the applicability of the psychotherapist-

Academy

patient privilege and that the

Victim Advocate provider
Pcinel

recommends

should be

staff the

Cadet Counseling Center with

at least

one

the legal definition of "psvxhotherapist." Further, the

that the individual assigned to serve as the inirial point of reporting,

whether by "hotline" or
recognized rape

who meets

crisis

in

person, be a qualified psychotherapist

who

has completed a

certification program. Optimally, the Victim Advocate psychotherapist

in charge of the sexual assault

program within the Cadet Counseling Center and

will

provide direction and supervision to those assistants supporting the assigned psychotherapists.

(Page 80)

15.

existing

which

The Panel recommends that the Academy

CASIE program

establish a

program that combines the

Victim Advocate psychotherapist managing the program, and

offers cadets a choice in reporting either to the psychotherapist or to a cadet peer.

reports to

CASIE

recommends

representatives

conhnue

to

possible for

is

available through the Victim

CASIE cadet representatives

psychotherapist-patient privilege

if

If

be considered non-cor\fidential, then the Panel

that cadets be clearly advised of this fact

reporting option
is

v.ith a

to

and

further advised that a confidenhal

Advocate psychotherapist. As an

come

alternative,

it

within the protective umbrella of the

they meet the definition ot being an "assistant to a

psychotherapist." (Pages 86-87)

16.

The Panel recommends that once the psychotherapist reporting option

is fully

implemented, the Air Force Academy conduct a thorough review of the CASIE program with a

view toward

either reducing the size of the

program or eliminating

it

entirely.

As an interim

measure, the Panel recommends that the Academy consider modeling the CASIE program

after

the Respect Program at West Point, and expand the program to include assisting cadets with
issues such as homesickness, respect for fellow cadets

17.

The Panel recommends

cadets about sexual assault. (Page 87)

Page 104

that the

and academic

Academy

create a

difficulties.

web

site

(Page 87)

devoted to educating
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18.

Academy

The Panel recommends

policies to

that the Air Force

review the West Point and Naval

encourage reporting of sexual assault and adopt

its

own

clear policy to

encourage reporting. (Page 91)

19.
is

The Panel recommends

that the

in cases in

always proactively involved

alleged to have committed misconduct.

Academy ensure

The Panel

Response Team continue to remain involved
suspected to be

20.

false.

The Panel recommends

and

benefits of timely reporting

leadership, victim advocates

AFOSl's educational

how and why

The Panel recommends

who

it

trip to

is

that

the

kit

Academy

efforts

use

it

for

should include programs that

takes certain investigative actions,

and

the

assault incidents. (Page 99)

Academy

take measures to ensure that
is

always available to

examination. In particular, transportation must be

provided by an appropriate individual, such as the psychotherapist or
will

Academy

and CA.SIE representatives of

and any other necessary logisHcal support,

chooses to receive a rape

member, who

that the

Academy Response Team and

and investigation of all sexual

transportation to the hospital,

a cadet

recommends

event that a particular allegation

that the Air Force Office of Special Investigations

limitations.

provide a basic understanding of

21.

also

in a case, in the

fully in the recently established

and educahng Academy

their responsibilities

Academy Response Team

(Pages 94)

detachment participate
iriforming

that the

which the victim and potential witnesses are also

Academy Response Team

be discreet and can address the victim's emotional needs during the long car

the hospital. (Page 100)
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Vni.

CONCLUSION
For nearly

institution

The

filt\'

years the United States Air Force

whose mission

to train

is

mission remains, yet

institution's

grapples with an institutional

Academy has been

a model academic

and educate future leaders of our nation's armed
its

crisis that

reputation has lost

goes beyond

its

some

campus

in

of

its

forces.

luster as the school

the Rocky Mountains and

extends to the halls of Congress and the Pentagon.

The Congress tasked

Though the magnitude

Force.

ii\stitution

and

Panel to examine and investigate this misconduct whose

this

has found, have gradually gtown to the foundation of the

roots, the Panel

its

Academy and

of this crisis cannot be diminished, the Panel

is

principled mission will survive for future generations.

The Panel has sought

to help restore the institution's

commitment

to

its

cadets ar\d the

American people through substantive and constructive recommendations. This
opportunity to strengthen an

environment

institT.ition

and help ensure

it

will

is

an

have a safe and secure learning

for all of its cadets.

The Agenda

for

Change

Roche and General Jumper,

is

evidence that the Air Force, under the leadership of Secretar,'

serious about correcting the sexual assault problems that have

is

plagued the Academy for a decade. The Academ\''s

implemented many changes

more

the Air

confident the

respond

effectively

to

to the

new

leadership team already has

improve the immediate physical security of female cadets and

needs of victims.

Despite these efforts, and those mtended to address the underlying conditions that
contributed to an environment in which sexual assaults occurred, the

much more.

Force must do

Academy and
culture

its

cadets, the Air Force

problems before they become engramed

Change

will

the Academy.

The reputation

depends on finding a
reputation and

it

its

truly

of the institution,

and

correct

to alter the ver\' culture of

and by extension the Air Force

lasting solution to this problem.

Only then
Air Force

will the

Academy

it

serves,

restore

its

and our nation.

work, the Panel found one thing to be certain:

to call oneself a cadet at the

institutional

be effective without a sustained,

and senior Air Force leadership

meet the high standards expected by the

Through
honor

officials

will identify

the Air

failed the

in the fabric of the institution.

not happen overnight; nor will

Academy

who

must permanentlv change the Academy's

and implement command and oversight improvements that

dedicated focus by

Academv and

In addition to holding accountable those leaders

it is

and should always be an

United States Air Force Academy.
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LAW

PUBLIC

108—1 1— APR.

16,

U.S.

AIR FORCE

2003

1

ACADEMY

17

STAT. 609

TITLE V-PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS
AT UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ACADEMY

ESTABLISHMENT OF PANEL.

SEC. 501.

(a) Establishment. -There is established a

panel to review sexual misconduct allegations

at

the

United States Air Force Academy.
(b) Composition. —The panel shall

be composed of seven members, appointed by Ibe Secretary of

Defense from among private United States citizens

who have

expertise in behavioral

and

psychological sciences and standards and practices relating to proper treatment of sexual assault
victims (to include their medical and legal rights and needs), as well as the United States military

academies.
(c) Chairman.— The Secretary of Defense shall, in consultation with the Chairmen of the
Committees on Armed Services of the Senate and House of Representatives, select the Chairman of
the panel from among its members under subsection (b).
(d) Period of Appointment; Vacancies. --Members shall be appointed for the life of the panel. Any
vacancy in the panel shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment.
(e) Meetings. "The panel shall meet at the call of the Chairman.

(0

Initial

Organization

panel shall be

made

«NOTE.

not later than

Deadline.

May

» Requirements.

--(

I

)

All original appointments to the

I

2003.

(2)

The Chairman

SEC. 502. DUTIES

shall

convene the

first

(a) In General. "The panel established

that

were conducive

the United States Air Force

[fPage

(b)

1

17

under section 501(a)

practices,

8, 200.3.

to

and

shall carry out a study

of the

policies,

cultural elements of the United States Air Force

allowing sexual misconduct (including sexual assaults and rape)

at

Academy.

--In carrying out the study required

by subsection

review the actions taken by United States Air Force

Department of the Air Force
States Air Force Academy;

at

May

STAT. 610))

Review
( 1

than

later

OF PANEL.

management and organizational

Academy

meeting of the panel not

(a),

the panel shall-

Academy

officials in response to allegations

personnel and other

of sexual assaults

at the

United

(2) review directives issued

by the United Slates Air Force pertaining to sexual misconduct

the United States Air Force

Academy;

of the process, procedures, and policies used
Air Force Academy lo respond to allegations of sexual misconduct;
(3) review the effectiveness

at the

United Stales
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1— APR.

(4) review the relationship
(

A)

the

2003

16,

command

1

1

7

STAT. 609

berween—

women at the United States Air Force Academy,
may have produced a fear of retribution for reporting sexual

climate for

including factors that

misconduct; and

(B) the circumstances that resulted
(5) review, evaluate,

in sexual

misconduct

at the

Academy;

and assess such other matters and materials as the panel considers

appropriate for the study; and
(6) review, and mcorporate as appropriate, the findings of ongoing studies being conducted
by the Air Force General Counsel and Inspector General.

(c) Repot1.--(

1 )

Not

«NOTE:

Deadline.^

later than

90 days

after its first

meeting under section

501(0(2), the panel shall submit a report on the study required by subsection 502(a) to the Secretary
of Defense and the Committees on Armed Services of the Senate and the House of Representatives.

(2)

The repon
(A)

shall

include—

the findings

and conclusions of the panel

as a result

of the study; and

(B) an\ recommendations for legislative or admmistrative action that the panel
considers appropriate in light of the study.

SEC.
(a)

503.

PERSONNEL MATTERS.

Pay of Members.~(

1

)

Members of the

pane! established under section 501(a) shall serve

without pay by reason of their work on the panel.
(2) Section 1342 of title 31, United States

member of the

panel under this

(b) Travel Expenses --The

diem

of subsistence,

in lieu

chapter 57 of title
in the

5.

Code,

shall not apply to the

acceptance of services of a

title.

members of the panel

at rates

shall

be allowed travel expenses, including per

authorized for employees of agencies under subchapter

I

of

United States Code, while away from their homes or regular places of business

performance of services for the panel.

[[Page 117

STAT.

611]]

TITLE VI -GENERAL PROV1SIONS--TH1S
Sec. 6001

.

No

part

beyond the current
This Act

ACT

of any appropriation contained in this Act shall remain available for obligation
year unless expressly so provided herein.

fiscal

may be

cited as the

Emergency Wartime Supplemental Appropriations Act. 2003".
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Glossary of Acronyms Used in this Document

ACES

Academy

AF/SG
AFOSI

Air Force Surgeon General
Air Force Office of Special Investigations

AOC

Air Officer Commanding
Academy Response Team

ART
ASP
Bcr
CIC
C2C
C3C
C4C
CASIE

CCD
CCQ
COMDTMIDNINST

Character Enrichment Seminar

AFOSI Agency

Specific

Program

Basic Cadet Training

Cadet First- Oass
Cadet Second-Class
Cadet Third-Qass
Cadet Fourth-Class
Cadets Advocating Sexual Integrity and Education
Center for Character Development
Cadet- in -Charge of Quarters
Commandant of Midshipmen, U.S. Naval Academy
Instruction

CPD
DoDIG

SAF/IG

Center for Personal Development
Department of Defense Inspector General
Forensic Sciences Consultant
General AccounHng Office
Inspector General
Judge Advocate General
Chief of the Military justice Di\ision
Life Skills Support Center
Midshipman Development Center
Military Training Leader
Chief of Naval Operations Notice
Office of Primary Responsibility
Process Action Team
Psycho-physiological Detection of Deception
Sexual Assault Awareness Month
Air Force Inspector General

SAF/MR

Assistant Secretary of the Air Force for

FSC

GAO
IG

lAG
JASM
LSSC

MDC
MTL
OPNAVNOTE
OPR
PAT

PDD
SAAM

Manpower and

Reserve Affairs

SAF/MRM

Deputy Assistant Secretary

of the Air Force, Force

Management & Personnel

SASC
SAVI
SPOI

Sexual Assault Services Committee
Sexual Assault Victim Intervention Program
Security Policy Office of Investigations

APPENDIX B-1
GlosSciry' ot Acronyni.s

194

STD

Sexually Transmitted Disease

TAG

Tactical Officer

TESSA

Trust-Education-Safety-Support-Action

UCMJ
usee

Uniform Code of Military Justice
United States Corps of Cadets
United States Military Academy

USMA

APPENfDIX B-2
G

ossatv ot

Acronvms

195
PANEL TO REVIEW SEXUAL MISCONDUCT ALLEGATIONS AT THE U.S. AIR FORCE ACADEKff

M embers

Biographies of Panel

Chairman Tillie

K. Fowler

After a distinguished eight-year tenure in the U.S.

joined the Washington, D.C. office of Holland

&

House
Knight

of Representatives, Tillie K. Fowler

LLP

as a Partner in 2001.

She was

elected to Congress in 1992 where she earned widespread bipartisan respect in defense

national security policy while representing Florida's fourth congressional district.

senior

member

of the

and

She was a

House Armed Services Committee and House Transportation
six years as a member of the U.S. Naval Academy Board of Visitors

Committee. Fowler served
and

in

1997 she played an instrumental

that drill sergeants

role in the congressional investigation into allegations

had assaulted trainees

one of three lawmakers

at the

Army's Aberdeen Proving Ground. She was

that comprised that investigative panel.

After serving only three terms, she

was

elected by her Republican colleagues as Vice

Chairman

of the Republican Coriference-the fifth-ranking position in the elected leadership of the
of Representatives-making her the highest ranking
retired in

In

woman

House

Congress when she

in the U.S.

January 2001.

November

1999, Speaker of the

House Dennis Hastert appointed her

to his

North Korea

Advisory Group. In 2000, while chairman of the House Transportation Subcommittee on
Oversight, Investigations, and

Emergency Management, she introduced HR 4210, The
The bill would have established an office within the

Preparedness Against Terrorism Act.

Executive Office of the President of the United States to coordinate the nation's terrorism

preparedness

Upon

effort.

The measure passed the House on July

25, 2000.

her departure from Congress, the Secretary of the Nav)' awarded Representative Fowler

the Navy's Distinguished Public Service

Award while

the Secretary of Defense

honored her

with the Defense Medal for Distinguished Public Service. Most recently. Defense Secretary

Donald Rumsfeld appointed her chairman of

his

Defense Policy Board Advisory Committee

which she has served as a member since 2001.
Fowler currently holds a position on the Chief of Naval Operations Executive Panel and the

Rorida Domestic Security Advisory Panel on which Governor Jeb Bush asked her to serve
following the September 11"' terrorist attacks. Additionally, she recently completed a one-year

appointment on the congressionally-mandated Commission on the Future of the Aerospace
Industry. Fowler received both her Bachelors

Degree and

Law Degree

from Emory University.

APPENDIX C-1
Biographies of Panel

Members

196
Lieutenant General Josiah Bunting
Lieutenant General Josiah Bunting

III

III

(Ret.)

graduated third in his class from Virginia Military

(Ret.)

where he was the Cadet Regimental Commander, member of the
Honor Court, Captain of the Swimming Team and recipient of a Rhodes Scholarship. After
Institute (Class of 1963),

receiving a B.A. and

During

M.A. from Oxford

North Carolina; Vietnam

(9'*^

assistant professor of history

with 2

Oak

University,

he reached the

his six years of service,

Ir\fantry Division);

and

he entered the United States Army

rartk of Major,

Ranger Tab. General Bunting spent one vear

head of the Department of

three -year fellowship in the

the

he served

Headmaster

Pnnceton,

General

New

at

Strategv'.

women's

Naval

at the U.S.

During that

Department of History

President of Briarcliff College, a
at Briarcliff,

York, where he was an

at

college in

Bronze Star

Medal, the Vietnam Honor Medal-2nd

Class, the Presidential Unit Citation, the Parachute Badge, the

acting

New

and West Point,

in 1966.

at Fort Bragg,

social sciences. His military citahons include the

Army Commendation

Leaf Clusters, the

with duty stations

)ear,

Combat Infantry Badge and the
War College as a professor and

he also finished the

last

year of a

Columbia Uruversity before being named

New

for ten years as the President of

York. Following his four-year tenure

Hampden Sydney

College and then as

Lawrenceville SchooL a prestigious independent boarding school near
1995, after eight years at Lav\TenceviUe, he

]erse\'. In

in the Virginia Militia

and

was appointed

a

Major

the thirteenth Superintendent at Virginia Miiitarv' Inshtute.

Lieutenant General (Ret.) Bunting

is

also

an accomplished author and has been published

many times.
Anita Carpenter
,\ruta

Carpenter has been the

CEO

of the Indiana Coalition Against Sexual Assault, Inc. During

her tenure at the Coalition, she successfully created the
violence

campaign

to reach at-risk

establishing standards for sexual assault victim advocates,
State Legislators to pass a

bill

that

first

homeless youth and

would provide

State of Indiana. In 2002, Ms. Carpenter

and

currently

certification for

worked with

a

is

Rhodes College

in

in

working with the

advocates throughout the

committee of grassroots programs

complete the State Sexual Assault Plan for Indiana. She has a bachelor's degree
Science from

sexueil

and homeless youth. She has been instrumental

Memphis, Tennessee, and currently

is

to

in Political

working towards

earning her Master's Degree in Arts in Sociology from the Crisis Prevention

Institute.

Ms.

Carpenter^s experience includes serving as the Execuhve Director for a residenttal treatment

program

for victims of

facility for

domestic violence, the

Human

Resources Director for a rehabilitation

disabled adults and children, a Pre-Trial Release Counselor for the Federal Bureau of

Prisons, a Consultant to the State of Indiana

enforcement.
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L. Miller,
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Ph.D.

Laura L. Miller, Ph.D.

is

RAND

a Social Scientist at the

She received her Bachelor's Degree

California.

U.S.

in

Corporation in Santa Monica,

European and Soviet Studies from the

University of Redlands in 198'? and her Ph.D. in Sociolog\' at Northwestern in 1995. She held a

Post-Doctoral Fellowship for two years

at the

John M. Olin

Institute for Strategic Studies at

Harvard, and from 1997-2000 was an Assistant Professor of Sociolog\'

numerous

written

of the

publications in the field of military' sociology.

Weak: Gender Harassment as

Quarterlv,

Form

a

March 1997) won the Distinguished

of Protest for
Article

Her

at

UCLA.

Army Men,"

Award from

the Sex

Dr. Miller has

"Not

article,

Just

(Social

Weapons

Ps>chology'

and Gender Section

of the American Sociological Association. She served as a consultant for the Secretarv- of

Army's Senior Review Panel on Sexual Harassment

Commission on

Militarv'

conducted research with

in 1997,

and

for the

Congressional

Training and Gender-Related Issues in 1998-1999. Dr. Miller has

militar\'

personnel located in stateside bases and deployed in Somalia,

Haiti,

Macedonia, Germany, Hungary, Bosnia and Korea. Dr. Miller currently serves on the

Armv

Science Board, the Board of Directors for the Center for the Study of Sexual Minorities in

the Military

and the Executive Council

of the Inter-University

Seminar on Armed Forces and

Society.

Major General Michael

J.

Nardotti,

Major General (Retired) Michael

Nardotti,

J.

Jr.,

graduated from the United States Military

where he was a Cadet Regimental Commander, the
the Honor Committee, and an Ail-American wrestler. He was commissioned in

Academy, West Point
Secretary of

(Ret.)

}t.

1969),

(B.S.,

and

the Infantr)', successfully completed Airborne and Ranger training
Cavalrv' Division in Vietnam,

where he was wounded

law degree from Fordham University

numerous assignments

(J.D.,

1976) in

in action.

New

He

York

later

served v^th the 1"

subsequently earned his

He then

City.

served in

as a Judge Advocate in Europe and the United States, concluding his 28

years of service as The Judge Advocate General, the senior militarv lawyer in the Army, from

1993 to 1997.

His military awards and decorations include the Distinguished Service Medal,

the Silver Star, the Bronze Star, the Purple Heart, and the
joined the law firm of Patton Boggs
in civil litigation,

Nardotti

is

a

government

member

before the U.S.

LLP

contracts,

of the District of

in

Combat InfantnTnan's Badge. He

1997 as a Partner and has concentrated his prachce

and defenseand national

Columbia and

Supreme Court and various

New York

security' matters.

Bars and

federal courts of appeal

and

is

General

adirutted to practice

district courts.

He

also

serves on the boards and advisory committees of several charitable and public service
orgaiuzations in the National Capitol Region.
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Colonel John W. Ripley
Colonel John W. Ripley

(Ret.)

(Ret.)

graduated from Naval

Academy with

a Bachelor's of Science

and was comn\ission the ed a Second Lieutenant in the United
States Marine Corps. Colonel Ripley served on active duty in the Marine Corps for 35 years.
Including two tours in Vietnam, some of his assignments included Sea Duty on the USS

degree

in electrical engineering

Independence; service with

2""^

Battalion,

2"*^

Marines;

3"^

Battalion,

3"*

Marines (Vietnam);

Headquarters, Marine Corps; Exchange Officer to the British Royal Marines; 3"* Commando
Brigade (Singapore); Senior Advisor to the 3"^ Viemamese Marine Battalion; Marine Officer
Instructor at

State Universitv; Administrative Assistant/Aide to the Chief of Staff

Oregon

(HQMC); Command

of

Marine Regiment; and
Insritute.

V

Battalion

Command

2""^

Marines; the

of the

US Naval

Command

Academ)';

Navy-Marine Corps

ROTC

His schooling includes the Marine Basic School, the Naval

of

2""*

at Virginia Militar}'

War

College, Airborne,

Scuba, Ranger, Jumpmaster, Amphibious Warfare, Mountain and Artie Warfare Course and the
Joint Warfare Course (Old Sarum, England). He holds a Master of Science degree from

.American Uruversity. Colonel Riple/s awards include the Navy Cross, the Silver Star, the
Legion of Merit (2"'' award), two awards of the Bronze Star with Combat "V ", the Purple Heart,

Navy Commendation Medal, the Presidential Urut
Combat Action Ribbon, the Viemam Distinguished

the Defense Meritorious Service Medal, the
Citation, the

Navy Unit

Service Order, and the

Citation, the

Viemam

Cross of Gallantry with Gold Star. Following his retirement in

1992, Colonel Ripley has served as the president of Southern Virginia College, the President of

Hargrave Military Academy and ourently serves as the Director of Marine Corps History and
Museum and the Director of the Marine Corps Historical Center.
Sally L. Satel,

M .D.

Sally L. Satel, M.D.,

and Brown

is

a graduate of Cornell University (B.S.), the University of Chicago (M.S.)

University (M.D.).

From 1988-1995,

Dr. Satel taught as

Ps\-chiatry at the Yale University School of Medicine. In 1996, she

Senate as a professional

staff

member on

the

an assistant professor of

was asked

Committee on Veteran's

to serve the U.S.

Affairs. Dr. Satel is a

practicing psychiatrist, a lecturer at Yale Uruversit\- School of Medicine and a resident scholar at

the American Enterprise Institute. Her articles have been published in The

Wall
M.D.,

Street Journal,

How Political

the Oasis

and the

New

Corruptness

Drug Treatment
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New

York Times. In 2000, Dr. Satel released her book
Ccrrupting Medicine Dr. Satel

Clinic in Washington, D.C.

is

Republic the
titled,

PC &

currently a staff psychiatrist at
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Panel Staff

Professional Staff

John

Rowley

P.

Partner,

Sheila

M.

III,

Staff Director

HoUand & Kiught LLP

Earle,

Designated Federal

Acting Principal Director,
Christina

MicheUe

DUSD

Official
(N'iilitary

Personnel Policy)

M. Burmeister
E.

Crawford, MAJ, JA,

USA
USN

Pamela A. Holden, CDR, JAGC,
A. Jaffe

Hillary'

Richard G. Moore

Robert

E.

Jonathan

Donald

J.

Reed
].

Skladany

Wheeler

Public Affairs

R.

Thomas Alexander

Michelle Shortencarrier

Administrative Staff
Ryan

E. Alvis

Brandi M. Henry, SSG,
Myrtle

E.

USA

Johnson

APPENDIX D
Panel Staff
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Names and
AJlard,

Roles of Individuals Discussed in Report

Wayne

(R-CO)
Former Air Force Surgeon General
Air Force Deput\' General Counsel (National
Securitv' and Military Affairs)
Former Director, Legislative Liaison, Office of
U.S. Senator

Anderson, Lt. Gen. Edgar
At Lee, William K.

R.

Bamidge, Maj. Gen. Leroy Jr.

the Secretary of the Air Force

TESSA
Panel member

Bier, Jennifer

Carpenter, Anita

Craven, Kelly

M.

Deputy Assistant Secretary' of the Air Force
Management and Persoruiel
Former Superintendent, USAFA
Former Acting Air Force Secretary

F.

Dallager, Lt. Gen. John R.

Deianey, Dr. Lawrence

Donxinguez, Michael

J.

Assistant Secretai}' of the Air Force for

L.

Manpower and Reserve
Former
Former
Former
Former
Former

Donley, Michael B.
Eskridge, Col. Robert D.
Fogleman, Gen. Ronald R.

Fowler, TiUie K.
Gilbert, Brig.

Gen.

S.

Taco

III

Gray, Col. Debra D.

Guzman,

Lt.

Hall, Lt. Col.

Vice

USAF

Col. Alma,

(Ret.)

L. Jerry

Hawley, Maj. Gen. Bryan
Hefley, Joel

Hoffman,

Brig.

Gen. Robert A.

Hopper, Maj. Gen. John D. Jr.
Hosmer, Lt. Gen. Bradley C. USAF
Huot, Lt. Gen. RajTnond P.
Jackson, Lt. Col. Robert J.
Johnson, Jeh

Jumper, Gen. John P.
Kehoe, Lt. Gen. Nicholas

Vice

Commandant, USAFA

Chief of

Staff,

USAF

Congresswoman, Panel Chairman

Commandant of Cadets, USAFA
Commandant of Cadets, USAFA

Victim Advocate Coordinator,

USAFA

q?et.)

ps\'chiatric consultant to the Air Force

Surgeon General
Department of Defense Deputy Inspector
General for Inspection and Polic\'
Former Judge Advocate General of the Air Force
U.S. Representative (R-CO); Vice-Chair, Acting
Chairman of Board of Visitors, USAFA
Former Commander of AFOSI
Former Commandant of Cadets, USAFA
Former Superintendent, USAFA
Air Force Inspector General
Head, Behavioral Science Department, USAFA
Former Air Force General Counsel
Air Force Chief of Staff

B.

Former Air Force Inspector General

TESSA

Kerr, Janet

McPeak, Gen.

Affairs

Acring Air Force Secretary

Chief of Psychiatry at Andrews Air Force Base

Molly

and
Hansen,

for

Merrill A.

Former Chief of Staff, USAF; Former Acting Air
Force Secretary

Laura L., Ph.D.
Oelstrom, Lt. Gen. Tad

Panel

Miller,

].

member

Former Superintendent,

USAFA
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Pamerlau, Maj. Gen. Susan

L.

USAF

(Ret.)

Former Commander, Air Force Personnel Force

Management
Whitten
Roadman, Maj. Gen. Charles H.

Peters, F.

Roche, James G.
Lt. Gen. John W.
Rumsfeld, Donald
Rvan, Gen. Michael E.

Former Acting Air Force Seaetary
Former Air Force Surgeon General
Air Force Seaetary

USAFA

Rosa,

Superintendent,

Schmitz, Joseph

Seaetary of Defense
Former Air Force Chief of Staff
Department of Defer^e Inspector General

E.

Former

Slavec, Col. Laurie S.

Spencer, Col. James

W.

34'^

Trairung

Director of Plans

Gen. Paul E.
Swope, Lt. Gen. Richard T.
Tavlor, Brig. Gen. Francis X.
Wagie, Brig. Gen. David A.
Stein, Lt.

Weida,

Brig.

Gen. Johruiy A.

Welsh,

Brig.

Gen. Mark A.

USAFA

Former Suf)€rintendent, USAFA
Former Air Force Inspector General
Former Commcinder, Headquarters AFOSI

Dean

of Faculty,

USAFA

Commandcint of Cadets; Former Acting
Superintendent,

Ill

USAFA

Former Conrvmandant of Cadets,
Former Air Force Secretarv

APPENDIX F-2
Names and

Wing Commander, USAFA

Programs,

Air Force General Counsel

Walker, Mary L.

Widnall, Sheila E.

&
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Source: Allegations of Sexual Assault (Calendar Year of Incident) (Including .Allegations.

Regardless of Substantiation) Wor/dng Group Reportat 71.

APPENDIX G
.Alleged Sexual .Assaults

Made by Cadets at
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Percent Cadets Who Agree
would not report harassment or
discrinnination because
believe
would be
ostracized by my squadron mates"
"I

I

I

2002

43.7
I

Females
Males

2000

39.6

1998

60

80

Percent Cadets Who Agree that
"Women belong at the USAFA"

p7.Q

98.5

2001

Females

D Males
100.0

2000
7B.6

1998

20.0

0.0

60.0

40.0

).0

100.0

Source; Social Climate Sun.'ev Data FroNided bv

USAFA De/jartment oi Behavioral

Sciences and

Leadership. Graphs Prepared by Laura L. Miller, Ph.D.
(Panel

Member)

Sample: 287 men, 53
2000;

women

1722m and 375w in

243m and 71 in
1580m and 369w in

in 1998;

2001;

2002.

APPENDIX I-l
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Percent Cadets Who Agree
not personally confront harassment and
discrimination because
have witnessed the
negath/e treatment toward people who confront
the alleged offender(s)"

"I

will

i

2002

2001

2000

26.3
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Hosmer Era
1

8 Allegations
in

CJ

e

1993

Timeline
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Oetstrom Era

16 Allegations
in

1998

10 Allegations
in

1999

10 Allegations
in

2000

n Airegatioiis
in

2001

18 Allegations
in

2002
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